2013 QUALITY/ LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK









STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Executive Summary1
2	Q/LOS Handbook Purpose and Scope3
	2.1. Levels of Analysis4
	2.2. Travel Modes
	2.3. Transportation System Structure11
	2.4. What's New in the 2013 Q/LOS Handbook21
3	Quality and Level of Service Principles
	3.1 Common Q/LOS Misconceptions26
	3.2. Highway Capacity Manual29
	3.3. Transit Capacity and QOS
	3.4. Simplifying Assumptions
	3.5. Planning Extensions
	3.6. Florida Specific Techniques45
	3.7. Statewide Acceptable Tools
	3.8. Alternative Analysis Tools49
4	Roadway Variables53
	4.1. Roadway Type56
	4.2. Area Type57
	4.3. Number of Through Lanes61
	4.4. Speed64
	4.5. Acceleration/Deceleration Lanes

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	4.6. Median Type65
	4.7.Terrain
	4.8. Exclusive Turn Lanes67
	4.9. Roadway Lengths68
	4.10. Segments
	4.11. Passing Lanes71
5	Traffic Variables
	5.1. Volume and Demand76
	5.2. Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT)77
	5.3. Planning Analysis Hour Factor (K)
	5.4. Directional Distribution Factor (D)82
	5.5. Peak Hour Factor (PHF)82
	5.6. Base Saturation Flow Rate83
	5.7. Heavy Vehicle Percent
	5.8. Local Adjustment Factor85
	5.9. Percent Turns From Exclusive Turn Lanes
6	Control Variables
	6.1. Number of Signalized Intersections
	6.2. Arrival Type95
	6.3. Signal Type96
	6.4. Cycle Length
	6.5. Effective Green Ratio (g/C)

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

7	Multimodal Variables103
	7.1. Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane105
	7.2. Outside Lane Width106
	7.3. Pavement Condition107
	7.4. Sidewalk
	7.5. Sidewalk Protective Barrier109
	7.6. Bus Frequency110
	7.7.Bus Stop Amenities110
	7.8. Bus Stop Type111
	7.9. Passenger Loads111
8	Future Year Analyses113
	8.1. Change in Traffic Variables114
	8.2. Change in Control Variables115
	8.3. Evaluation Tools117
9	Maximum Acceptable Capacity Volumes
	9.1. Arterials119
	9.2. Freeways
	9.3. Highways
	9.4. Approval of Higher Capacities121

TABLE OF CONTENTS

10 Elorida's LOS Standards for the State 193
10.1. Application of Standards123
11 Generalized Planning Analysis127
11.1. Introduction127
11.2. Special Cases130
12 LOSPLAN Analysis
12.1. Introduction137
12.2. ARTPLAN138
12.3. FREEPLAN143
12.4. HIGHPLAN146
12.5. Service Volume Calculation Process148
13 References
13.1. Contacts151
13.2. Glossary152
Arterial Data Collection Worksheet
Generalized Service Volume Tables

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Quality/Level of Service Handbook and its accompanying software are intended to be used by engineers, planners, and decision-makers in the development and review of roadway users' quality/level of service (Q/LOS) and capacity at generalized and conceptual planning levels. This Q/LOS Handbook provides tools to quantify multimodal transportation service inside the roadway environment (essentially inside the right-of-way).

This edition of the Q/LOS Handbook is updated and reorganized, still providing a foundation for high quality, consistent capacity and LOS analyses and review in the State of Florida. It includes new analytical techniques from the Transportation Research Board's 2010 Highway Capacity Manual and updated Generalized Service Volume Tables. With these professionally accepted techniques, analysts can easily evaluate roadways from a multimodal perspective, which results in better multimodal decisions for projects in generalized and conceptual planning phases.

Two levels of analysis are included in this Q/LOS Handbook: (1) generalized planning and (2) conceptual planning. Generalized planning makes extensive use of statewide default values and is intended for broad applications such as regional analyses, initial problem identification, and future year analyses. Conceptual planning is more detailed than generalized planning but does not involve comprehensive operational analyses.

Generalized planning is most appropriate when a quick review of capacity or LOS is needed or for future long-range estimates. Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables found at the end of this Q/LOS Handbook are the primary tools for conducting this type of planning analysis.

Conceptual planning is best suited for obtaining a more precise determination of the LOS of a facility. Examples of conceptual planning applications are determining the design concept and scope for a facility (e.g., four through lanes with a raised median and bicycle lane), conducting alternatives analyses (e.g., four through lanes undivided versus two through lanes with a two-way left turn lane), and determining needs when a generalized planning approach provides insufficient detail. Florida's LOS planning software (LOSPLAN), which includes ARTPLAN, FREEPLAN, and HIGHPLAN, is the easy to use tool for conducting these types of evaluations. The techniques contained in this Q/LOS Handbook and the accompanying software are to be implemented immediately. Analysis that began prior to the release of this Q/LOS Handbook may continue to use the previous version. After June 30, 2013, FDOT will not accept analyses using methods, techniques, volumes, or Generalized Service Volume Tables from previous versions of this Q/LOS Handbook unless a project has a previously agreed upon methodology.

See <u>www.dot.state.fl.us/planning/systems/sm/los/default.shtm</u> to download the software and documentation, as well as provide your comments and suggestions.

2 Q/LOS HANDBOOK PURPOSE AND SCOPE

This Q/LOS Handbook and its accompanying software are intended to be used by engineers, planners, and decision-makers in the development and review of roadway users' quality/level of service (Q/LOS) and capacity at generalized and conceptual planning levels. The Q/LOS Handbook provides a discussion of basic transportation concepts. It provides direction for defining roadway, traffic, and control variables as these inputs greatly affect the Q/LOS along transportation facilities. It also provides guidance for using specific transportation planning tools, including LOS planning software (LOSPLAN) developed by the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), to assess Q/LOS.

Quality of service (QOS) is a traveler-based perception of how well a transportation service or facility operates. Level of service (LOS) is a quantitative stratification of quality of service into six letter grades. LOS provides a generalized and conceptual planning measure that assesses multimodal service inside the roadway environment (essentially inside the right-of-way). Capacity conceptually relates to the maximum number of vehicles or persons that can pass a point on a roadway or sidewalk in a given amount of time under normal conditions. The Generalized Service Volume Tables, found at the end of the Q/LOS Handbook, present maximum service volumes, or the highest numbers of vehicles for a given LOS.

Direction found within the Q/LOS Handbook provides assistance in selecting the most appropriate tools for Q/LOS analysis. There is specific instruction within the handbook on how to use the LOSPLAN software and Generalized Service Volume Tables. The Generalized Service Volume Tables and software guidance prioritizes inputs; defines roadway, traffic, and control variables; and illustrates how to capture pertinent data. Quality of service (QOS) is a traveler based perception of how well a service or facility is operating.

Level of service (LOS) is a quantitative stratification of the quality of service into six letter grade levels.

Capacity is the maximum sustainable flow rate at which persons or vehicles reasonably can be expected to traverse a point or a uniform section of roadway during a given time period under prevailing conditions.

2.1. Levels of Analysis

There are many methods for computing capacity and LOS, which form a hierarchy ranging from Generalized Service Volume Tables (the simplest to use but potentially least accurate) to complex operational analysis tools (very precise, but time-intensive and costly). **Figure 2-1** provides an overview of analysis levels and evaluation tools for each level. In selecting the appropriate tools, tradeoffs among study purposes (e.g., generalized planning application, signal timing application), accuracy and precision of results (e.g., variability in data for current year analyses, variability in future year analyses), and data preparation effort (e.g., use of existing statewide traffic data, use of direct field measurements) should be considered. No one tool is appropriate for all applications.

Figure 2-1 Evaluation Tools



Two levels of analysis are included in this Q/LOS Handbook: (1) **generalized planning** and (2) **conceptual planning**. A third analysis level, (3) **operational analysis**, is covered within the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) and is not discussed in detail in this Q/LOS Handbook.

Generalized planning makes extensive use of statewide default values and is intended for broad applications such as initial problem identification (e.g., deficiency and needs analyses, geographic influence areas), statewide analyses (e.g., statewide calculation of delay), and future year analyses (e.g., ten-year planning horizon). Conceptual planning is more detailed than generalized planning, but does not involve comprehensive operational analysis.

2.1.1. Generalized Planning

Generalized planning is most appropriate when a quick review of capacity or LOS is needed. Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables found in this Q/LOS Handbook are the primary tools for conducting this type of planning analysis. The tables are the most extensively researched in the nation and provide the most representative statewide service volumes and capacities for the State of Florida.

2.1.2. Conceptual Planning

Conceptual planning is best suited for obtaining a more precise determination of the capacity and LOS of a facility. Conceptual planning analyses are performed to support decisions related to design concept and scope (e.g., four through lanes with a raised median and bicycle lane), conducting alternatives analyses (e.g., four through lanes undivided versus two through lanes with a two-way left turn lane), assessing development impacts, and determining needs when a generalized planning approach provides insufficient detail. LOSPLAN, the software suite that includes ARTPLAN, FREEPLAN, and HIGHPLAN, is the appropriate tool for this type of planning analysis. The software is specifically developed to address conceptual planning issues in Florida, is intended to be easy to use, and is based on the nation's leading operational tools, which are the 2010 HCM and the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual (TCQSM). Generalized planning is a broad type of planning application that includes statewide analyses, initial problem identification, and future year analyses.

Conceptual planning is analysis performed to support decisions related to design concept and scope.

Operational analysis is a detailed analysis of a roadway's present or future level of service.

2.1.3. Operational Analysis

Operational tools range from macroscopic to microscopic. The analytical methods found in the HCM methodology chapters and the Highway Capacity Software (HCS), which replicates the HCM methodologies, are representative of macroscopic operational tools. Macroscopic tools address vehicles as a group rather than individually, are deterministic (i.e., provide a single, consistent answer), and typically require less computational effort. They provide a cost-effective method of comparing multiple scenarios within a standard undersaturated operating environment.

Microscopic simulation tools (e.g., CORSIM) address vehicles individually, are stochastic (i.e., introduce random variations), and typically require more computational effort. Microscopic analysis is particularly useful when analyzing statistical ranges of operational characteristics, and provides added flexibility over macroscopic tools within oversaturated or relatively uncommon operating environments (diverging diamond interchanges, transit signal priority, etc.).

While operational analyses, such as intersection signal timing and interchange justification reports, are sometimes conducted at the planning level, the Q/LOS Handbook does not contain the necessary tools for these types of detailed evaluations. As a planning document, the precision of operational, design, or pavement documents such as the AASHTO Policy on Geometric Design for Highways and Streets or FDOT's Plans Preparation Manual is not included. For example, this Q/LOS Handbook's simplified planning level assumptions are applied to vehicle turning movements, lane widths, bicycle striping, sidewalk widths, bus stop amenities, and many other transportation characteristics. Therefore, it must not be used for actual design or operation of facilities or services where more appropriate resource documents and/or analysis methods are available.

2.1.4. Selecting an Appropriate Analysis Tool

The intermixing of generalized planning tools, conceptual planning tools, and operational tools should be avoided whether developing and implementing a concurrency management system, applying them to other planning applications, or conducting a traffic operations analysis. Using very precise data appropriate for a more detailed analysis as input to a less detailed analysis does not necessarily make the less detailed analysis more accurate. The precision of the inputs should be appropriate for the precision of the output. Similarly, the precision of the output is usually no better than the worst of the inputs. For example, the Generalized Service Volume Tables were structured to yield reasonable service volumes for typical roadways in the state. Typical roadway, traffic, control (signalization), and multimodal inputs from the State of Florida were used. Inserting specific traffic inputs for a conceptual planning analysis (e.g., K and D factors) without simultaneously addressing key roadway and control inputs (e.g., effective green time ratios) is inappropriate, and also potentially leads to misuse of the tools as analysts can choose particular variables to alter for a desired result.

More precision is not always necessary, and the costs required to collect data, build the model, and validate the results should be carefully considered when selecting an appropriate analysis tool.

2.2. Travel Modes

The HCM defines four major travel modes: automobile, bicycle, pedestrian, and transit. Each mode includes a unique set of characteristics that define a traveler's experience during a trip, and it is important to consider each perspective when analyzing a multimodal facility.

2.2.1. Automobile

Three major elements affect the operation of a motor vehicle: the vehicle, the driver, and the roadway environment.

Motor vehicles include passenger cars, trucks, vans, buses, recreational vehicles, and motorcycles. Each vehicle type has a unique set of operational characteristics, and the percentage makeup of each vehicle type within a traffic stream affects the capacity of a facility due to these differences. Trucks, buses, and recreational vehicles, for example, have lower acceleration and deceleration rates than standard passenger cars.

Environmental factors, such as surface type and condition, time of day, and weather, affect both the operational characteristics of vehicles as well as driver behavior. Additional factors such as fatigue, health, and driving under the influence of drugs and alcohol also affect driver behavior. However, unless otherwise specified, this Q/LOS Handbook assumes base conditions that include typical drivers on dry pavement during daylight hours.

Motor vehicles include passenger cars, trucks, vans, buses, recreational vehicles, and motorcycles.

2.2.2. Pedestrian

Many trips include at least one part where the traveler is a pedestrian. This is particularly important for transit trips, where the pedestrian section of the trip may have an impact on future mode choice.

Analyzing the pedestrian experience can be summarized by two primary types of analysis: individual delay and facility attributes. Delay at intersections can be easily quantified and analyzed. The factors that describe a facility and therefore contribute to the overall walking experience are less easily quantified, including safety, security, lighting, grades, surface conditions, and even street activity levels. Automobile and heavy vehicle traffic volumes, and the extent to which pedestrians are separated from vehicular traffic, also influence pedestrians' perception of quality of service while using a sidewalk. The Q/LOS Handbook accounts for these user perception and facility attributes when determining pedestrian LOS.

2.2.3. Bicycle

Bicycles are used to make a variety of trips, including trips for recreation, commuting, and errands. Since bicycle travel is typically five times faster than travel on foot, bicycles can help extend the market area of transit service.

Similar to the pedestrian experience, bicycling can be summarized by delay encountered at intersections as well as the attributes of the facility itself. As with the pedestrian analysis, the Q/LOS Handbook focuses on facility attributes when determining bicycle LOS. These attributes include the volume and speed of adjacent vehicles, heavy vehicle presence, the presence of on-street parking, and pavement quality. Because of the severe deterioration of perceived service quality at flow levels well below the theoretical capacity of a bike path, the concept of capacity has little utility in the design and analysis of bicycle paths.

Many trips include at least one part where the traveler is a pedestrian.

Bicycle travel is typically five times faster than travel on foot. Choice transit riders are transit riders who choose to take transit over other readily available transportation options.

Captive riders are transit riders who are limited by circumstances to use transit as a primary source of transportation.

2.2.4. Transit

Transit riders can be grouped into two primary categories: choice and captive riders. **Choice transit riders** typically have other means of transportation readily available, but choose transit to avoid congestion, save money on fuel and parking, use their travel time productively for other activities, and/or reduce their impact on the environment. **Captive riders**, however, are unable to drive because of age, physical, mental, or financial reasons, and depend on transit or other modes for their daily transportation needs.

Unlike other modes, transit is primarily focused on service levels rather than facility characteristics. Infrastructure for driving, biking, or walking is available at all times, once constructed; transit service is only available during certain times along designated routes. Additionally, transit passengers are not in direct control of their travel, and service frequency and reliability are therefore important factors that impact the quality and utility of transit service. Service frequencies at levels high enough to eliminate the need for passengers to consult schedules (headways of approximately 10 minutes or less) are particularly desirable, as these nearly continuous levels allow transit users the freedom to treat the system as they would other modes. Service frequencies that require passengers to plan their trips around a limited transit schedule offer much less utility, and deter choice riders.

Because transit passengers typically must walk to and from transit stops on either end of their trip, the quality of the walking experience at the beginning or end of a trip may be just as important to the transit passenger as the actual transit experience.

2.3. Transportation System Structure

FDOT's Q/LOS techniques generally incorporate the primary highway system structure of the HCM, consisting of points, links, segments, sections, facilities, corridors, areas, and systems, although the HCM occasionally includes other structural units (e.g., subsegment). A generalized characterization of the HCM structure is shown in **Figure 2-2**.

Figure 2-2 Generalized HCM Highway System Structure



The analysis techniques contained in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software are focused at the HCM facility level. In some cases, however, it may be more appropriate to analyze specific roadways at the point (intersection), subsegment, or section level. Although future editions may include corridor, areawide, and system-level analysis methods, they are currently beyond the scope of this Q/LOS Handbook. Points, links, segments, subsegments, sections, and facilities are discussed further below.

The primary purpose of this Q/LOS Handbook is to compute the LOS for State facilities. Nevertheless, the analysis techniques contained in this Q/LOS Handbook are applicable to nearly all roadways in Florida. The two exceptions are unsignalized local streets and unpaved roads.

2.3.1. Point

A **point** is a boundary between links. In broad terms, points are where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or where roadway characteristics change. In most applications of this Q/LOS Handbook, points are signalized intersections. Other points may include freeway gores, unsignalized intersections, area boundaries, bicycle lane terminals, sidewalk terminals, pedestrian mid-block crossings, and bus stops.

Point analyses are typically operational in nature and not appropriate at a planning level. At the conceptual planning level, the usual intent of point analyses is to determine the g/C ratio necessary to move traffic through the point so the roadway as a whole operates adequately. Therefore, in some cases, in order for the roadway as a whole to work effectively, specific bottlenecks may need to be addressed. Usually operational tools are needed to analyze these critical points. In the case of arterials, a further analytical complication arises because the facility LOS service measure, average speed, changes to control delay at a signalized intersection. Although there is typically a direct relationship between the two, it is possible to have acceptable LOS at signalized intersections along a poorly operating facility, or vice versa.

For conceptual planning studies of a specific roadway, basic capacity and LOS analyses should be conducted at the point level over the roadway's length. FDOT's ARTPLAN and HIGHPLAN software feature some point highway capacity and LOS features; however, they do not provide detailed operational results. The HCS software or another HCM-based analysis tool should therefore be considered if an operational tool is needed to supplement the LOSPLAN analysis.

A point is a boundary between links—typically a signalized intersection or other place where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility.

2.3.2. Link

A **link** represents a length of roadway between two points. Link-level analysis is independent from point analysis, and does not include influencing factors such as queuing from downstream intersections or upstream metering effects. For automobile and transit analysis, it is therefore beneficial to consider the link and its points together in a segment-level analysis. However, for pedestrian and bicycle analysis, where the performance of the adjacent intersections has limited impact on the characteristics and performance of the link itself, links are often analyzed independently.

2.3.3. Segment

A link and its boundary points are referred to as a **segment**. Segments are the primary building blocks of facility analyses. For arterials and other signalized roadways, segments generally extend from one signalized intersection to the next signalized intersection. However, for bicycle, pedestrian, and bus analyses, other segmentation may also be appropriate. For example, if buses leave a roadway before a signalized intersection, it may be desirable to make a segment break reflecting where the buses leave the arterial. For freeways, segments are generally either a basic segment in which operations are not affected by interchanges, or one of the building blocks of interchanges, which include on-ramp influence areas, off-ramp influence areas, or weaving segments.

A typical interchange, made up of an off-ramp influence area, a basic segment, and an on-ramp influence area segment, is illustrated in **Figure 2-3**.

A link is a length of roadway between two points.

A segment is a portion of a facility defined by two boundary points.

Figure 2-3 Typical Freeway Interchange



Subsegment

A subsegment is a further breakdown of segments.

A **subsegment** is a further breakdown of a segment. Although segments are the primary building blocks of facility analyses, at times it is desirable to subdivide them into smaller units. For example, pedestrian conditions frequently vary between signalized intersections (e.g., discontinuous sidewalks, sidewalk proximity to roadways) and it is desirable to analyze these conditions. However, the entire roadway analysis for other modes should not be based on these special conditions.

2.3.4. Section

A **section** is a group of consecutive segments that have similar roadway, traffic, and, as appropriate, control characteristics for a mode of travel. When determining roadway LOS and implementing FDOT's LOS standards, most FDOT districts partition roadways at points were volumes significantly change or the number of through lanes changes. For LOS analysis purposes, individual segments are usually grouped together as long as traffic and roadway characteristics do not vary appreciably. Because of typically shorter travel distances by the bus, pedestrian, and bicycle modes on individual roadways, a section level analysis is more appropriate for those modes than a facility-level analysis.

Typical Section Lengths

- Freeways: interchange to interchange
- Arterials: 0.5 to 2 miles
- Highways: highly variable in length and may include
 - uninterrupted flow two-lane segments
 - uninterrupted flow multilane segments
 - isolated intersection influence areas

Typical Section Termini

- Changes in the number of through lanes
- Significantly varying traffic volumes
- Freeway interchanges
- Intersecting functionally classified principal arterials
- A signalized intersection no more than 2 miles away from the following area boundaries (see section below on signalized intersection as termini for arterial analyses):
 - Urbanized area boundaries
 - Transitioning area boundaries
- Area boundaries if no nearby signalized intersection exists:
 - Urbanized area boundaries
 - Transitioning area boundaries.

A section is a group of consecutive segments that have similar roadway, traffic, and control characteristics for a mode of travel.

2 Q/LOS HANDBOOK PURPOSE AND SCOPE

A facility is a length of roadway composed of points and segments having different characteristics.

2.3.5. Facility

A **facility** is a group of consecutive segments or sections that form logical roadway lengths based on driver perspective or the overall network system structure. Three primary types of facilities are identified in the HCM, this Q/LOS Handbook, and their accompanying implementation software:

- Freeways (multilane, divided roadways with at least two lanes for exclusive use of traffic in each direction and full control of ingress and egress),
- Highways (generally uninterrupted flow roadways which may be further categorized as two-lane or multilane), and
- Arterials (signalized roadways that primarily serve through traffic).

Facility analysis is the focus of this Q/LOS Handbook, the Generalized Service Volume Tables, and the LOSPLAN software.

Typical Freeway Facility Lengths and Termini

APPROPRIATE LENGTHS

- 4 15 miles in urbanized and transitioning areas
- 10 50 miles in rural areas

TYPICAL TERMINI

- Intersecting Strategic Intermodal System (SIS) routes
- Urbanized area boundaries
- Transitioning area boundaries

Typical Highway Facility Lengths and Termini

APPROPRIATE LENGTHS

At least 3 miles

TYPICAL TERMINI

- Large urbanized areas intersecting freeways and arterials that connect to at least two freeways
- Other areas intersecting functionally classified principal arterials
- Urbanized area boundaries for nearby jurisdictions
- Transitioning area boundaries
- Urban boundaries
- City boundary to city boundary in cities under 5,000 population

Typical Arterial Facility Lengths and Termini

APPROPRIATE LENGTHS

- 0.75 2 miles in urbanized downtown areas
 - Typically 1 mile
- 1.5 5 miles in other areas
 - Typically 3 miles

TYPICAL TERMINI

- Large urbanized areas intersecting freeways and arterials that connect to at least two freeways
- Other areas intersecting freeways and intersecting functionally classified principal arterials
- A signalized intersection less than 2 miles away from an area boundary
- City boundary to city boundary in cities under 5,000 population

Corridors are sets of essentially parallel transportation facilities for moving people and goods between two points.

Areas consist of an interconnected set of transportation facilities serving movements within a specified geographic space.

Systems are composed of all the transportation facilities and modes within a region.

2.3.6. Corridors, Areas, and Systems

Generally, **corridors** are a combination of parallel facilities. **Areawide analyses** involve a combination of interconnected transportation facilities. **System analyses** involve a combination of facilities and modes within a region. These levels of analysis are typically used in travel demand models and other networkwide analyses, and are therefore not covered within this Q/LOS Handbook.

2.3.7. Integrated Approach

Because the system structure is different for each mode, an integrated multimodal approach becomes more difficult. The transit system structure of the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual (TCQSM) consists of transit stops, route segments, and systems. The two national document system structures (HCM, TCQSM) are conceptually equivalent when comparing points and transit stops as well as areawide and system analyses. Route segments are portions of a transit route where, in general, bus service is provided at constant headways. The bicycle and pedestrian LOS models within the HCM are based on point-level and link-level analysis in which roadway characteristics are the same between the upstream and downstream intersections. In some cases, additional detail between intersections is needed to capture the changes in the pedestrian and bicycle environments.

Even within the HCM highway system structure, occasional inconsistencies can arise when determining the LOS of a roadway because of different service measures being applied. For example, if percent time spent following another vehicle is used as the service measure to evaluate the LOS on an uninterrupted flow two-lane highway, the reported LOS may improve when adding a traffic signal (or even multiple signals), contrary to expectations. This improvement occurs because the service measure for a signalized intersection is based on control delay and the service measure for roadways with multiple signals is average travel speed. Thus, anomalies are possible when changing from one facility type to another. As shown in **Figure 2-4**, the vehicular volume and number of lanes significantly affect the automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian levels of service. Other roadway and traffic variables, plus control (signalization) variables, determine the automobile LOS. The motorized vehicle running speed (calculated as part of the automobile LOS) is also an important determinant of bicycle and pedestrian LOS. Together with the presence of bicycle lanes and sidewalks, motorized vehicle volumes and speeds are the main determinants of bicycle and pedestrian LOS. Bus LOS is primarily determined by bus frequency, but is also affected by pedestrian LOS. In summary, all the roadway modes are linked together.





2 Q/LOS HANDBOOK PURPOSE AND SCOPE

PAGE **19**

FDOT does not recommend combining the LOS for each of the modes into one overall LOS for a roadway. For several reasons, FDOT does not recommend combining the LOS for each of the modes into one overall LOS for a roadway.

- There is no professionally accepted or scientifically valid technique for combining the LOS for the various modes.
- The issue of applying a weight to each of the modes. Various scenarios exist of weighting the modes equally, by relative importance, policy goals, or other criteria. For example, it would be inappropriate to average the LOS for bicycles and pedestrians equally with that of automobiles and trucks on freeways. However, simply weighting each of the modes by the number of users would, in most cases, result in using the LOS for the automobile.
- The functional classification/purposes of roadways. For example, pedestrian considerations should have greater importance on local streets serving schools than on highways serving freight transfer facilities.
- The purpose and travel patterns of each of the modes are generally distinct, rendering any combination effectively meaningless.

2.4. What's New in the 2013 Q/LOS Handbook

In general, this edition of the Q/LOS Handbook primarily reflects an update of the 2009 edition, using HCM 2010 methodology. The Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying LOSPLAN software maintain their roles as the primary generalized and conceptual planning applications of the HCM and the premier tools for multimodal analyses. User input indicated a general satisfaction with the 2009 Q/LOS Handbook, its maximum service volume tables, and the LOSPLAN software.

Significant revisions have been made to this Q/LOS Handbook, Generalized Level of Service Volume Tables, and LOSPLAN software compared to the 2009 editions due to:

- FDOT adopting Standard K factors
- FDOT adopting a new policy on Level of Service Standards for the State Highway System (Topic No.: 000-525-006-a) and a new procedure Level of Service Standards and Highway Capacity Analysis for the State Highway System (Topic No.: 525-000-006-a)
- Publication of the 2010 HCM

There are two FDOT supported and statewide acceptable highway capacity and LOS analysis tools for generalized and conceptual planning: FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables and FDOT's LOSPLAN software. In order to provide clarification on previous versions of the Q/LOS Handbook and software, and to achieve greater consistency across the state, the Q/LOS Handbook and software now:

- Provide more guidance on section and facility lengths and typical termini
- Include multimodal intersection LOS analyses
- Have an improved user interface within the LOSPLAN software
- Provide warnings to software users when inputs or outputs are beyond normally acceptable ranges
- Incorporate recent analytical research efforts
- Address future year analyses
- Include updated traffic data

2 Q/LOS HANDBOOK PURPOSE AND SCOPE

Specific analytical improvements or changes to the LOSPLAN software and Q/LOS Handbook include:

- Traffic Characteristics
 - FDOT implementation of Standard K factors
 - Updated directional distribution (D) factors
 - Making the default value for the peak hour factor (PHF) equal to 1.0
- Changes in Analytic Models
 - Implementation of updated 2010 HCM equations (unless specifically noted)
 - Use of a two class arterial system rather than the 2000 HCM which used a four class arterial system and the 2010 HCM which did not use arterial class (see Section 3.5)
 - Treatment of left turn protected plus permitted phasing
 - New level of service thresholds for rural freeway facilities
 - Treatment of two-lane interrupted flow highways
 - An improved bicycle LOS link model
 - Treatment of bicycle sidepaths and shared use paths
 - Ability to assess bicycle and pedestrian LOS at signalized intersections
 - Inclusion of the effects of on-street parking
 - An updated bus level of service model
 - Improved two-lane highway analyses and compatibility with the updated chapter of the 2010 HCM
 - Better accounting for the effects of passing lanes on two-lane highways
 - Inclusion of Florida research on heavy vehicles effects on cyclist
 - Improved analyses of the effects of turning movements on arterials
 - Greater emphasis on the effects of area type as a variable
 - Inclusion of new segment types for freeway segmentation
 - Updated LOS density threshold criteria for freeways, reflecting the effects of interchanges

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

- Incorporation of the capacity and LOS effects of tolled lanes, weaving segments, toll booths, and ramp overlap areas
- Additional off-ramp and toll outputs
- Inclusion of recent national research on freeway weaving analysis

Changes to the Generalized Service Volume Tables include:

- Service volume changes at most relevant service levels due to changes in peak hour, K, and D factors, as well as methodological changes
- New category of service volumes for urban core freeways
- Elimination of LOS B service volumes on arterials
- Modifications to the treatment of non-state signalized roadways

Page intentionally left blank.

3 QUALITY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE PRINCIPLES

Providing mobility for people and goods remains transportation's most essential function. There are four dimensions of mobility:

- Quality of travel traveler satisfaction with a facility or service
- Quantity of travel magnitude of use of a facility or service
- Accessibility ease in which travelers can engage in desired activities
- **Capacity utilization** quantity of operations relative to capacity

Of the four dimensions of mobility, this Q/LOS Handbook focuses primarily on quality, followed by capacity utilization. The quantity and accessibility dimensions are not addressed in this Q/LOS Handbook.

Quality of service (QOS) is based on a user's perception of how well a transportation service or facility operates. In other words, how do travelers perceive the overall quality of service?

Level of service (LOS) is a quantitative stratification of quality of service. Beginning in 1965, the HCM divided highway quality of service into six letter grades, A through F, with A being the best and F being the worst. With the A through F LOS scheme, traffic engineers were able to more easily explain operating and design concepts to the general public and elected officials. Despite its widespread use as an independent measurement, it is important to note that LOS is simply a quantitative breakdown from transportation users' perspectives of transportation QOS. LOS reflects the quality of service as measured by a scale of user satisfaction and is applicable to each of the following modes that use roadways: automobiles, trucks, bicycles, pedestrians, and buses.

Because this handbook deals with the overall quality of user satisfaction and its quantitative breakdown, it is labeled as the Quality/Level of Service Handbook. The measurement techniques, however, are frequently simply referred to as LOS analysis. This Q/LOS Handbook deals with both the quality of service and the level of service roadways provide to roadway users (i.e., motorists, bicyclists, pedestrians, and transit passengers) and provides planning tools to assist transportation planners and engineers with addressing these issues. This Q/LOS Handbook does not deal with the overall quality of the entire trip experience, which depends on a variety of factors including aesthetics, safety, and other social measures.

Trucks, recreational vehicles, and motorcycles are all considered part of the automobile mode.

HCM Capacity is the maximum sustainable flow rate at which persons or vehicles reasonably can be expected to traverse a point or a uniform section of a lane or roadway during a given time period under prevailing roadway, environmental, traffic, and control conditions.

LOS relates to the stratification of quality provided to travelers.

In this Q/LOS Handbook, the automobile mode includes all motor vehicle traffic using a roadway, except for buses. Thus, trucks, recreational vehicles, and motorcycles are all considered part of the automobile mode. Certain vehicle types, (e.g., trucks) have different operating characteristics than private automobiles; these characteristics are taken into account by the analytical methodologies where needed. The LOS thresholds for the automobile mode are based on the perspective of the automobile drivers. Therefore, the automobile LOS measures may not necessarily reflect the perspectives of drivers of other types of motorized vehicles, particularly trucks.

3.1 Common Q/LOS Misconceptions

Although frequently considered to be the same, highway capacity analysis and LOS analysis are two distinct, although closely related, analyses. The HCM defines capacity as the "maximum sustainable flow rate at which persons or vehicles reasonably can be expected to traverse a point or a uniform section of a lane or roadway during a given time period under prevailing roadway, environmental, traffic, and control conditions." As used in Florida, motorized vehicle capacity may be thought of as the maximum hourly volume that can reasonably be expected to pass a point under prevailing conditions. LOS, on the other hand, relates to the stratification of quality provided to travelers. For most generalized and conceptual planning applications associated with motorized vehicles, the maximum service volumes for LOS E shown in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software is approximately equivalent to the capacity of the roadway.

Three common misconceptions about Q/LOS often arise.

- Misconception 1: QOS is directly related to all other dimensions of mobility. Truth: QOS is frequently related to the other dimensions of mobility but not in all cases.
- Misconception 2: LOS is applicable only to automobile analysis, while QOS is related to the non-automobile modes. Truth: Bicycle, pedestrian, and transit analyses are as quantitative and rigorously developed as those for automobiles.
- Misconception 3: LOS letter A-F grades are comparable to American school letter grades. Truth: Unlike school grades, LOS A is not necessarily a desirable goal and the meaning of A-F is not entirely consistent across modes.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

The <u>first</u> common misconception is related to the relationship between quality and other dimensions of mobility. They are frequently related, but not directly in all cases. Q/LOS for automobile drivers is usually closely linked to how many other motorized vehicles are on the road. However, the relationship is not always perfect.

For example, arterial speeds are more closely tied to signalization conditions than the number of other motorized vehicles on the roadway. A higher quality LOS grade may exist on a four-lane arterial with twice the volume of another arterial due to efficient signal progression. For transit users, pedestrians, and bicyclists, there is often an even weaker relationship between total demand and Q/LOS. In fact, in most situations in Florida, the total number of bicyclists and pedestrians on a facility has very little impact on Q/LOS; other factors are much more important. Similarly, in most of Florida, bus frequency is typically much more important to transit users than how many people are actually on a bus.

In some cases, particularly for the non-automobile modes, an analysis of total potential demand is a more important component of the decision making process than quality of service. This Q/LOS Handbook only addresses Q/LOS, not methods of determining overall demand or mode splits. Other tools, such as logit models, are more appropriate for these types of analyses.

The <u>second</u> common misconception is that LOS applies only to automobiles and QOS applies to the other modes. It is often assumed that while automobile analyses are highly quantitative, the bicycle, pedestrian, and transit analyses are more qualitative. However, the bicycle, pedestrian, and transit techniques are as quantitative and rigorously developed and tested as those for automobiles. The LOS for each mode for urban roadways is illustrated in **Figure 3-1**. For bicycle and pedestrian analysis, the total number of users typcically has very little impact on Q/LOS.

Bus frequency is typically much more important to transit users than how many people are actually on a bus.

Bicycle, pedestrian, and transit techniques are as quantitative and rigorously developed and tested as those for automobiles.

3 QUALITY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE PRINCIPLES

Figure 3-1 Examples of LOS By Mode for Urban Roadways



Although it is true that A is best and F is worst, LOS A is not necessarily a desirable goal. A <u>third</u> and perhaps most common misconception about LOS letter grades A-F is that they are comparable to school grades A-F. Although they share some basic similarities, there are some very important distinctions to make at a planning level. Although it is true that A is best and F is worst, this is strictly from a traveler perspective. LOS A is not necessarily a desirable goal to achieve from an overall transportation or societal perspective. In fact, LOS A in a peak travel hour could be an indicator of an inefficient use of limited funding. It is simply not cost effective to design the state's roadways to operate at LOS A during the peak hour. FDOT's LOS standards appearing in **Chapter 10** should therefore typically be considered a desirable condition during the peak hour, with significant variance from those standards in either direction an undesirable condition.

Although both LOS and letter grades use 'F' to represent a failing condition, there are more factors to consider when LOS reaches F. Essentially, LOS F either means travel demand exceeds capacity and the roadway is operating in oversaturated conditions, or another undesirable condition exists. However, oversaturated condition may only arise for a 15-minute or 1-hour period. Depending on the type and function of the facility, the condition may not necessarily warrant improvements for relatively short periods of congestion.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

Although each of the methodologies for automobiles/trucks, bicycles, pedestrians, and buses make use of the LOS A-F scales, the meaning of A-F is not entirely consistent across the modes. Transportation professionals widely consider LOS D for the automobile mode an acceptable condition, and this threshold is often used as a design condition in urbanized areas. Both the bus and automobile LOS scales, however, were developed by transportation professionals, with the objective of classifying various levels of congestion in undersaturated conditions. It was members of the general public, however, who determined the derivation of the bicycle and pedestrian LOS thresholds, thus incorporating a general perception of LOS D as a largely undesirable condition. Because of this, LOS D likely represents a worse condition from the user perspective for the bicycle and pedestrian modes than the automobile and bus modes. FDOT and its research team evaluated and considered various methods to make the LOS thresholds more consistent across modes, but found no scientific basis to adjust the scales. Users should therefore simply be cautious about comparing the same LOS letter grade across modes.

3.2. Highway Capacity Manual

For capacity and automobile, pedestrian, and bicycle quality/ level of service analysis, the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) is the foremost recognized and accepted analysis tool. Furthermore, FDOT's Q/LOS Handbook and software are nationally recognized as the leading planning application of HCM for the evaluation of automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian LOS.

3.2.1. Traffic Flow and Capacity Concepts

The HCM defines two primary facility types: uninterrupted and interrupted flow facilities. The terms refer to the type of facility and therefore the analysis type, not the quality of traffic flow at any given time. The meaning of A-F is not entirely consistent across the modes. Uninterrupted flow facilities are roadways that have no fixed causes of periodic delay or interruption to the traffic stream, such as signals or STOP signs.

Interrupted flow facilities are roadways that have fixed causes of periodic delay or interruption to the traffic stream—such as signals or STOP signs—with average spacing less than or equal to 2.0 miles.

Person flow is capacity on uninterrupted and interrupted flow facilities defined in terms of persons per hour.

Prevailing roadway, traffic, and control conditions define capacity. **Uninterrupted flow facilities** have no fixed causes of delay or interruption external to the traffic stream. Freeways represent the purest form of uninterrupted flow, as there are no fixed interruptions to traffic flow and access to the facilities are limited to ramp locations. Multilane and two-lane highways operate under uninterrupted flow in long segments between points of fixed interruption (e.g., traffic signals), but it is often necessary to examine the points of fixed interruption using interrupted flow methodologies.

Interrupted flow facilities have fixed causes of periodic delay or interruption to the traffic stream, such as traffic signals or STOP signs. Traffic flow patterns on interrupted flow facilities are the result not only of vehicle interactions and the facility's geometric characteristics, but also of the traffic control used at intersections and frequency of access points to the facility. Traffic signals, for example, allow designated movements to occur only during portions of the signal cycle, and therefore affect both flow and capacity as the facility is not available for continuous use. Traffic signals also create platoons of vehicles that travel along the facility as a group. By contrast, all-way STOP controlled intersections and roundabouts discharge vehicles more randomly, creating periodic but sometimes small gaps in traffic at downstream locations.

Capacity on uninterrupted and interrupted flow facilities can be defined in terms of persons per hour, passenger cars per hour, or vehicles per hour depending on the type of analysis or system element. **Person flow** is often an important concept in making strategic decisions regarding transportation modes in heavily traveled corridors and in defining the role of transit and highoccupancy-vehicle priority treatments.

Reasonable expectancy is the basis for defining capacity. Capacity is therefore not the absolute maximum flow rate observed on a facility, but rather a flow rate that can be achieved repeatedly for peak periods of sufficient demand.

Prevailing roadway, traffic, and control conditions define capacity; these conditions should be relatively uniform for any segment of a facility that is analyzed. Base conditions, by comparison, assume optimum conditions, including good weather, dry pavement conditions, users who are familiar with the system, and no impediments to traffic flow. In most cases, prevailing conditions differ from base conditions (e.g. there are trucks in the traffic stream, rolling terrain, etc.). As a result, computations of capacity, service flow rate, and LOS must include adjustments to capacity under base conditions.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013
3.2.2. Bicycle LOS

Bicycle LOS is based on bicyclists' perceptions of the roadway environment. Bicycle LOS is based on five variables with relative importance (T statistic) ordered in the following list:

- average effective width of the outside through lane
- motorized vehicle volumes
- motorized vehicle speeds
- heavy vehicle (truck) volumes
- pavement condition

Average effective width is largely determined by the width of the outside travel lane and striping for bicyclists, but also includes other factors such as the effects of street parking and drainage grates. Each of the variables is weighted by coefficients derived by stepwise regression modeling importance. A numerical LOS score, generally ranging from 0.5 to 6.5, is determined and stratified to a LOS letter grade. Thus, unlike the determination of automobile LOS in which there is typically only one service measure (e.g., average travel speed), bicycle LOS is determined based on multiple factors.

3.2.3. Pedestrian LOS

Like bicycle LOS, pedestrian LOS is based on the pedestrians' perceptions of the roadway or nearby roadside environment. Pedestrian LOS is based on four variables with relative importance (T statistic) ordered in the following list:

- existence of a sidewalk
- lateral separation of pedestrians from motorized vehicles
- motorized vehicle volumes
- motorized vehicle speeds

The weighting of each variable is determined by stepwise regression modeling. A numerical LOS score, generally ranging from 0.5 to 6.5, is determined along with the corresponding LOS letter grade. Thus, like the bicycle LOS approach (but unlike the automobile approach), pedestrian LOS is determined based on multiple factors.

Because the pedestrian LOS model applies to the roadway or nearby roadside environment, applying the model to pedestrian facilities significantly greater than 100 feet from a roadway may exceed the validated range of the model. Bicycle LOS is based on bicyclists' perceptions of the roadway environment.

Pedestrian LOS is based on the pedestrians' perceptions of the roadway or nearby roadside environment.

3 QUALITY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE PRINCIPLES

3.3. Transit Capacity and QOS

The Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual (TCQSM) is the nation's leading document for transit and quality/level of service analysis. Part 5 of the TCQSM deals specifically with QOS and includes LOS thresholds. Transit related text in the HCM comes from applicable text in the TCQSM dealing with transit operating on roadways. As used in this Q/LOS Handbook, transit or bus is limited to scheduled fixed route bus transit. The TCQSM techniques, supplemented by FDOT's Transit Level of Service (TLOS) software, should be used to evaluate bus Q/LOS at an operational level.

One significant exhibit in the TCQSM is a table for urban scheduled transit service based on service frequency. In essence, **Table 3-1** replicates this TCQSM table, but includes Florida-specific modifications to the adjusted service frequency.

Level of Service	Adjusted Service Frequency (Vehicles/hour)	Headway (minutes)	Comments
А	>6	<10	Passengers don't need schedules
В	>4	<15	Frequent service, passengers consult schedules
с	≥3	≤20	Maximum desirable time to wait if transit vehicle missed
D	≥2	≤30	Service unattractive to choice riders
E	≥1	≤60	Service available during hour
F	<1	>60	Service unattractive to all riders

Table 3-1Service Frequency LOS Thresholds

3.4. Simplifying Assumptions

Planning level analyses make extensive use of default values and simplifying assumptions to the operational models on which they are based. As such, there are multiple simplifying assumptions used in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software.

3.4.1. Averages

This Q/LOS Handbook makes extensive use of averages. For generalized planning (Generalized Service Volume Tables), most of the default input variables represent statewide averages. Similarly, for generalized planning, **simple averages** are recommended. For example, if an arterial facility has daily volumes of 20,000, 25,000, and 24,000, it would be reasonable to use the average (23,000) of the three. However, users should be cautious of outlying values and use some judgment when applying simple averages. In the above example, if the first value were only 10,000, the user may want to disregard that value or use the median value (i.e., 24,000). For facility analyses at the conceptual planning level for automobiles and buses, LOS determinations use an average, typically weighted by segment lengths (weighted average). For example, in determining average travel speed of automobiles on arterials or freeways, the length of the segments is included within the calculation of the average. The same is true for bus analyses. For example, if two buses serve 1 mile of a facility, and one bus serves 3 miles of the facility, the weighted average for bus frequency for the entire 4-mile facility would be 1.25 ([2x1 + 1x3]/4).

Two explicit exceptions exist to the simple average or weighted average by distance: (1) treatment of the effective green ratio (g/C) in the Generalized Service Volume Tables and (2) evaluation of bicycle and pedestrian LOS accounting for segments providing poor service.

A simple average is an average that gives equal weight to each component.

For generalized planning, simple averages are recommended.

A weighted average is an average that results from multiplying each component by a factor reflecting its length or importance.

For facility analyses at the conceptual planning level, weighted averages are recommended. The weighted effective green ratio is the average of the critical intersection's through g/C and the average of all the other signalized intersections' through g/Cs along the arterial facility.

Bicyclists and pedestrians do not simply evaluate a roadway by its average conditions. Rather they put extra weight on poor conditions. The amount of green time that traffic movements receive at signalized intersections is one of the most significant variables in automobile Q/LOS and capacity analyses. A major simplifying assumption essential to the development of the Generalized Service Volume Tables is the selection of a single effective green ratio (g/C) for all the intersections along the arterial. A fundamental question arises as to what green time value to assume, given that intersections frequently have widely varying green times. The average green time for through movements along the entire arterial, the green time at a critical intersection where the greatest delay is likely to occur, or some other value could potentially be used. FDOT has determined that for generalized planning analyses, the weighted effective green ratio yields the closest results to actual conditions. The weighted effective g/C of an arterial is the average of the critical intersection through g/C and the average of all other through g/Cs. In other words, the worst intersection is given equal weight to all other intersections combined. For conceptual planning analyses, there is rarely a need to use weighted effective green ratios. The weighted g/C approach is probably only needed when it is desired to develop a generalized service volume table.

To determine bicycle and pedestrian LOS for a facility, FDOT uses a weighted average approach in which each segment is weighted by its distance and the severity of the scores. Essentially, FDOT is taking the position that bicyclists and pedestrians do not simply evaluate a roadway by its average conditions. Rather they put extra weight on poor conditions.

3.4.2. Turning Movements

One of the most significant planning assumptions is that mainline turning movements are adequately accommodated. Within this Q/LOS Handbook, the through movement is defined as the traffic stream with the greatest number of vehicles passing directly through a point. While this movement is typically straight ahead, occasionally the through movement is a right or left turn, with the straight ahead movement considered a turning movement.

Most analyses of through movements in the HCM are relatively straightforward. Complications arise with the treatment of turning/ merging movements, especially for signalized intersections and arterials. By handling turning arterial movements (i.e., turns from the arterial, side street movements) in a general way, Q/LOS and capacity analyses are greatly simplified. This is also true for some two-lane uninterrupted flow highways in which mid-block turning movements may affect capacity. Off and on-ramp movements along freeways are also handled in a general way and are assumed to be adequately accommodated. Most importantly, it is assumed that movements at off-ramps do not back up into the through lanes of the freeway.

Where turning movements are not adequately accommodated, the planning techniques found in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software are not appropriate. Although the arterial analysis in this Q/LOS Handbook includes all vehicles on the arterial, it focuses on the through movement. For example, only the green time for the through movement is included and penalties are assigned if there are no left turn lanes at signalized intersections and no medians exist mid-block.

3.4.3. Queue Spillback

Another major assumption is that turning movements do not back up into adjacent through lanes. Essentially, adequate storage is assumed to be available for left turning vehicles on arterials and for vehicles exiting freeways. FDOT's conceptual planning programs have been enhanced to perform basic capacity checks to see if **queue spillback** is likely to occur; if so, the software provides a warning to the user. However, the results of the analysis would not include any of these potential queue spillback effects. Therefore, where mainline turning movements are not adequately accommodated, the planning techniques found in this **Q/LOS** Handbook and accompanying software are not appropriate. Queue spillback is when a link's queue of vehicles extends on to upstream links. Free flow speed is the average speed of vehicles under low flow traffic conditions and not under the influence of signals, STOP signs, or other fixed causes of interruption.

Free flow speed is generally assumed to be 5 mph over the posted speed limit for planning purposes.

Bus frequency is the number of buses per hour serving one direction of a roadway facility.

Bus frequency is the single most important factor in determining the Q/LOS to transit users.

3.4.4. Capacity

For HCM analyses of uninterrupted flow facilities, capacity is set in terms of passenger cars per hour per lane. Free flow speed is estimated based on other variables such as percent heavy vehicles, driver population, median type, and lateral clearance. In the HCM, those variables affect free flow speed, not capacity.

For HCM analyses of interrupted flow facilities, capacity represents the maximum number of vehicles that can pass a point during a specified time period under prevailing roadway, traffic, and control conditions. Variables affect capacity, not free flow speed. This capacity approach is common in traffic engineering literature. Largely for consistency across both uninterrupted flow facilities and interrupted flow facilities, this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software primarily rely on and report capacity values based on the interrupted flow concept of capacity, with free flow speed being considered a roadway variable input. For planning purposes, the assumed **free flow speed** is 5 mph over the posted speed limit (although in the software analysts may override this planning assumption). Regardless, ARTPLAN, FREEPLAN, and HIGHPLAN software all follow the HCM calculation processes.

3.4.5. Bus Frequency

For transit analysis planning purposes, the most significant assumption is that **bus frequency** is the single most important factor in determining the Q/LOS to transit users along a transit route segment or roadway facility. FDOT, in cooperation with the TCQSM authors and others, has incorporated that concept. Certainly, LOS varies for individual transit users along a facility, but in the determination of bus LOS along a transit route segment or roadway facility, the availability of buses is usually the more relevant performance measure.

3.5. Planning Extensions

Although the methodologies used in this Q/LOS Handbook are consistent with those found in the 2010 HCM and the TCQSM, in some circumstances, it is necessary to deviate from these methodologies. Both the HCM and the TCQSM outline detailed operational models that are not appropriate in all cases for planning applications. Thus, FDOT needed to develop some planning applications of the methodologies (LOSPLAN). In all cases, the extensions or variations were coordinated with leaders of the source documents to be as consistent as possible with the methodologies.

A more detailed description of the generalized planning approach that includes these extensions is provided in **Chapter 11**.

3.5.1. FREEPLAN

Features

Major features of FREEPLAN are:

- Use of the HCM as the primary resource document for the methodology such that the FREEPLAN methodology should not be inconsistent with the HCM, but, as appropriate, extend the HCM for generalized and conceptual planning purposes
- Concentration on the through vehicle, while being sensitive to the analysis of other vehicles on the freeway and on segments of the freeway
- The approach is structured towards combining segments (e.g., interchange areas, toll plaza influence areas), rather than combining point analyses (e.g., ramps)
- LOS thresholds based on density
- Capacity reductions in interchange areas
- Capacity considerations associated with auxiliary lanes, ramp metering, length of acceleration and deceleration lanes, and ramp terminals
- Use of a local adjustment factor or driver population factor based primarily on area type

- Use of the most recent national research on weaving areas from the 2010 HCM
- Resulting volumes matching reasonably well with actual Florida traffic counts

Interchange Influence Areas

Within interchange influence areas, the base saturation flow rate for the two outside lanes are reduced by:

- 200 passenger cars per hour per lane for off-ramp influence areas; and
- 100 passenger cars per hour per lane for on-ramp influence areas.

Auxiliary Lanes

Auxiliary lanes are additional lanes on freeways that connect onramps and off-ramps of adjacent interchanges. Consistent with the HCM 2010 methodology, auxiliary lane adjustments are handled completely within the weaving segment analysis, and no capacity reductions are made for auxiliary lanes within segments too long for weaving analysis to be performed.

Ramp Metering

Freeway ramp metering has the positive benefit of smoothing out traffic demand on to a freeway during the peak period. This positive benefit is reflected by increasing the volumes shown on the Generalized Service Volume Tables by 5 percent.

Measured Freeway Volumes

Actual Florida freeway volumes seldom exceed an average of 2,100 vehicles per lane per hour in urbanized areas and 1,800 vehicles per hour per lane in rural areas. By applying the interchange capacity reductions and statewide defaults for the peak hour factor, heavy vehicle percentage, and local adjustment factor, the calculated volumes match very well with actual volumes.

Auxiliary lane adjustments are handled completely within the weaving segment analysis.

Freeway ramp metering has the positive benefit of smoothing out traffic demand on to a freeway during the peak period.

3.5.2. HIGHPLAN

Passing Lanes

The HCM does not adequately address the effectiveness of passing lanes when taking into account the length of facility. After discussions with key members of the committee overseeing the HCM, FDOT has established their effectiveness based on the proportion of passing lane coverage.

3.5.3. ARTPLAN

Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate

Research in Florida indicates that an area's population size, number of lanes, and speed limit have effects on adjusted saturation flow rates. Furthermore, as traffic queues get longer, traffic pressure affects capacity. Although not currently in the HCM, these effects are included in FDOT's generalized and conceptual planning software program ARTPLAN.

Add-On/Drop-Off Lanes

The HCM does not directly address the situation where lanes that carry through traffic are added before a signalized intersection and dropped after the intersection. The **add-on/drop-off lane** (or expanded intersection) will contribute to intersection capacity, but likely not to the extent of a full through lane. The add-on/drop-off lane contains up to half the capacity of a full through lane.

For any capacity benefit to be considered two conditions should be met:

- both the add lane and drop lane must each be at least 800 feet in length, and
- the add-on/drop-off pair combined must be at least 1,760 feet in length

For additional discussion, see **Section 4.3.1**.

An add-on/drop-off lane is a roadway lane added before an intersection and dropped after the intersection.

3 QUALITY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE PRINCIPLES

PAGE **39**

One-way pairs are assumed to have 20 percent higher service volumes than corresponding twoway roadways with the same number of lanes.

FDOT has adopted different control delay criteria for urban and rural areas.

One-Way Streets

For the evaluation of one-way streets, the Generalized Service Volume Tables include a factor that has been approved by the LOS Task Team, but not contained within the HCM. Essentially, one-way pairs are assumed to have a 20 percent higher service volumes than corresponding two-way roadways with the same number of lanes.

Rural LOS Criteria

The LOS service thresholds found in the HCM are primarily determined by urbanized area conditions. For example, the maximum control delay at a signalized intersection for LOS D is 55 seconds. While that value may be reasonable based on user perception in an urbanized area, in a small town or at an isolated intersection on a rural highway, that delay would certainly be considered F. To overcome this difference in user perception, FDOT has adopted different control delay criteria in rural undeveloped and rural developed areas. The criteria are one-half, rounded up, of the urbanized area criteria. For arterials in rural developed areas, arterial Class I LOS thresholds apply. These revised LOS criteria are directly imbedded in FDOT's rural undeveloped and rural developed Generalized Service Volume Tables and software. The LOS criteria appear on the back of the tables.

3.5.4. Bicycle LOS Model

Facility LOS

The HCM's Bicycle LOS Model was developed and calibrated at a roadway segment level. However, from the beginning of FDOT's planning LOS program, facilities (e.g., 4 miles of an arterial or freeway) not segments or points (e.g., signalized intersections) have been emphasized. For example, the Generalized Service Volume Tables are applicable for automobile LOS at a facility level, not for a given segment or intersection/interchange along those facilities.

For consistency, a method was needed to aggregate the individual segment bicycle analyses into a facility analysis. The aggregation method is especially important when one considers the continuity of a paved shoulder/bicycle lane existence over some segments, but not over the entire facility. Portions of a facility may offer reasonably good quality of service, but other portions may be so poor that many bicyclists are discouraged from riding on the facility altogether.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

Each segment is weighted by its distance and LOS score to determine the facility LOS for bicyclists. Specifically, the bicycle LOS for a facility is given by the following equation:

$$BLOS_{f} = \sum d_{1} (b_{1})^{2} + \dots d_{n} (b_{n})^{2} / \sum d_{1} (b_{1}) + \dots d_{n} (b_{n})$$

Where:

 $BLOS_f$ = Bicycle level of service for the facility

 d_1 = Length of the first segment

 b_1 = Bicycle level of service score for the first segment

 d_n = Length of the last segment

 b_n = Bicycle level of service score for the last segment

Heavy Vehicles

Bicyclists are affected by the windblast effect of heavy vehicles. To bicyclists, it is primarily the number of heavy vehicles that is important, not the percentage of heavy vehicles. In developing the HCM's Bicycle LOS Model, the percent of heavy vehicles proved to be a useful factor largely because traffic and heavy vehicle volumes were in typical ranges. When traffic or heavy vehicle volumes are extremely low or high, distortions in the results from using the percent of heavy vehicles may occur. Working with the developers of the Bicycle LOS Model, FDOT developed some calculation techniques in ARTPLAN to better account for the number of heavy vehicles, as opposed to strictly the percent of heavy vehicles.

3.5.5. Pedestrian LOS Model

Much like the bicycle LOS model, the HCM's Pedestrian LOS Model was developed and calibrated at a roadway segment level. However, for consistency, a method was needed to aggregate the individual segment pedestrian analyses into a facility analysis. The aggregation method is especially important when the sidewalk coverage is not continuous over the entire facility. Portions of the facility may offer reasonably good quality of service, but other portions may be so poor that many pedestrians are discouraged from walking along the facility altogether. To bicyclists, the number of heavy vehicles is more important than the percentage of heavy vehicles. Each segment is weighted by its distance and the severity of its pedestrian LOS score to determine the facility LOS for pedestrians. Specifically, the pedestrian LOS for a facility is given by the following equation:

 $PLOS_f = \sum d_1 (p_1)^2 + \dots d_n (p_n)^2 / \sum d_1 (p_1) + \dots d_n (p_n)$

Where:

d_1 = Length of the first segment p_1 = Pedestrian level of service score for the first segment d_n = Length of the last segment	$PLOS_f$	=	Pedestrian level of service for the facility
p_1 = Pedestrian level of service score for the first segment d_n = Length of the last segment	d_1	=	Length of the first segment
d_n = Length of the last segment	p_1	=	Pedestrian level of service score for the first segment
$\mathbf{m} = \mathbf{p} \cdot 1 \cdot $	d_n	=	Length of the last segment
p_n = Pedestrian level of service score for the last segment	p_n	=	Pedestrian level of service score for the last segment

3.5.6. TCQSM

Although pedestrian access to transit is recognized as important in the TCQSM, it did not provide guidance on how to incorporate pedestrian factors. The methodology in this Q/LOS Handbook makes use of pedestrian considerations as the second most important determinant of bus LOS along a transit route segment or facility. The Generalized Service Volume Tables use sidewalk coverage along a facility as the factor for pedestrian access to transit. Within ARTPLAN, several important pedestrian considerations are included to determine an adjusted bus frequency and bus LOS. These considerations include pedestrian LOS, roadway crossing difficulty, passenger load factor, and bus stop amenities. Favorable conditions have multiplicative factors greater than 1.0 and unfavorable conditions have values less than 1.0 and are applied to bus frequency to determine the adjusted bus frequency.

Pedestrian considerations are the second most important determinant of bus LOS.

Pedestrian LOS

Pedestrian LOS is determined by the methodology contained in this Handbook and accompanying software (ARTPLAN). The Pedestrian LOS factors as they relate to bus LOS are shown in **Table 2-3**.

Table 3-2Pedestrian LOS Adjustment Factors on Bus LOS

Pedestrian Level of Service (LOS)	Adjustment Factor
Pedestrian LOS A	1.15
Pedestrian LOS B	1.10
Pedestrian LOS C	1.05
Pedestrian LOS D	1.00
Pedestrian LOS E	0.80
Pedestrian LOS F	0.55

Roadway Crossing Difficulty

When catching a bus, transit users frequently have to cross a road. Crossing difficulty is typically influenced by three broad factors: traffic signal density, crossing length, and motorized vehicle volume. It is more difficult to cross roadways with low signal densities than roadways with closely spaced signalized intersections. Mid-block crossing difficulty increases with road width and lack of pedestrian refuges (i.e., restrictive, or raised, medians). Mid-block crossing difficulty also increases as the number of motorized vehicles increase, which results in fewer gaps. These three broad factors and others, such as motorized vehicle speed, are interrelated. To account for crossing difficulty in a general way, FDOT's conceptual planning approach includes a set of **roadway crossing adjustment factors** which are applied to help determine an adjusted bus frequency.

Crossing difficulty is typically influenced by three broad factors: traffic signal density, crossing length, and motorized vehicle volume.

Roadway crossing adjustment factors are used to determine the adjusted bus frequency by applying a factor that captures crossing difficulty. Passenger load factors are used to determine the adjusted bus frequency value by applying a factor commensurate to the level of passenger crowding.

Bus stop amenity factors are used to determine the adjusted bus frequency value by applying a factor commensurate to the quality of bus stop amenities.

Bus stop type adjustment factors adjust travel times along bus routes by adding 15 to 35 seconds of delay per route for typical and major bus stops, respectively.

Passenger Load Factor

Bus crowding plays a role in the user's perception of quality of service, particularly on overcrowded buses when no seating is available. FDOT's approach includes a set of **passenger load factors**, which are applied to help determine the adjusted bus frequency value. These factors can be found in Chapter 7 of this Q/LOS Handbook.

Bus Stop Amenities

Passenger comfort and safety within the passenger waiting areas play a role in user perception of quality of service and the desirability of a transit system. FDOT's approach includes a set of **bus stop amenity factors**, which are used to help determine the adjusted bus frequency value. The factors can also be found in **Chapter 7** of this Q/LOS Handbook.

Bus Stop Type

Delay time at bus stops plays a role in travel times along routes, and thus impacts overall average travel speed. FDOT includes a **bus stop type adjustment factor**, which is used to add 15 to 35 seconds of delay per route for typical and major bus stops, respectively.

Bus Facility Analysis

The TCQSM structure for Q/LOS analysis consists of points (e.g., bus stops), route segments, and systems. It does not include a facility analysis. Nevertheless, to maintain consistency, a method of aggregating segment-level bus frequency to a facility-level was needed. At the conceptual level, ARTPLAN shows the LOS for each roadway segment and for the facility as a whole, based on bus frequency weighted by the distance of the segment lengths. At the generalized level, a simple average is acceptable. For example, if on a 3-mile facility, four buses serve the first 2 miles and two buses serve the last mile, then using a value of three buses [(4 + 2)/2] is acceptable for a generalized level analysis. For conceptual planning analyses, however, a weighted average of 3.3 buses [$(4 \times 2 + 2 \times 1)/3$] should be used.

3.6. Florida Specific Techniques

The technical foundation of FDOT's highway capacity and LOS program is the HCM. The previous sections have described simplifying assumptions and planning extensions FDOT has made to the HCM. As such, the guidance presented in this Q/LOS Handbook and the LOSPLAN software may be considered approximately 95 percent consistent with the HCM operational techniques. Nevertheless, in Florida, six analysis techniques are to be used in lieu of the HCM or other operational techniques.

3.6.1. Generalized Service Volume Tables

FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables were specifically generated for Florida and based on Florida-specific roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal data. The HCM's service volume tables are more general in nature and were not meant to supersede more specific state or local tables.

3.6.2. Freeway Facility Capacities

At a facility level the HCM/HCS will routinely provide capacity levels higher than seen on Florida's freeways. Freeway capacities should be based on what can reasonably be expected in Florida, not rare occurrences.

For freeway facilities and sections, the maximum generally acceptable volumes are as follows in vehicles per hour per lane (vphpl). See **Section 4.2** for discussion of area types.

- Large urbanized 2,100 vphpl
- Other urbanized 2,000 vphpl
- Transitioning 1,900 vphpl
- Urban 1,800 vphpl
- Rural 1,800 vphpl

In general, a well-calibrated microsimulation software package is the preferred analytical approach at the freeway facility level. It is important to select the most appropriate tool when a new or modified access to limited access facilities is considered, as access changes will affect facility operations. The HCM remains the primary analytical tool at the point and segment levels. Results from a microsimulation analysis must still comply with the freeway facility capacity values provided above. All LOS analyses of rural freeway facilities in Florida, including any microsimulation programs, must use the rural threshold criteria.

Percent of free flow speed is the percentage of vehicle average travel speed to free flow speed.

Class 1 arterials are roadways that have posted speeds of 40 mph or higher.

Class 2 arterials are roadways that have posted speeds of 35 mph or less.

3.6.3. Rural Freeway LOS Criteria

The HCM's freeway LOS thresholds were developed with urban freeways in mind, not rural freeways. Whereas, the thresholds appear reasonable for urban travelers, they are not for rural freeway travelers. An FDOT/UF research project [Rural Freeway Level of Service Based Upon Traveler Perceptions by Rural Freeway Travelers, Washburn, et. al., 2006] conducted in Florida developed rural thresholds based on traveler perceptions. FDOT recommends the use of this research over the HCM, which has no LOS research for rural freeways. All LOS analyses of rural freeway facilities in Florida, including any microsimulation programs, must use the rural threshold criteria. The rural criteria are imbedded in FREEPLAN.

3.6.4. Arterial Facility LOS Criteria for Automobiles

In 1985, the HCM introduced the concept of arterial classes for interrupted flow facilities. Arterial classes have been a major feature of Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables since their inception in 1987. Arterial class was essentially a categorization of arterials involving signalized intersection spacing, free flow speed, and location. LOS for arterials was based on average travel speed thresholds.

In developing the 2010 HCM, one of the last technical decisions made by the HCM committee was to do away with the concept of arterial class and introduce a new service measure, **percent of free flow speed**, to set LOS thresholds. Minimal testing of the new approach occurred.

FDOT expressed some concern about the new approach in which LOS for all interrupted flow facilities ranging from low speed downtown streets to high speed suburban arterials could be fairly treated using the percent of base free flow speed criterion and thresholds. Research conducted by FDOT and the University of Florida indicated that relatively low speed arterials with short signal spacing (e.g., those in central business districts) would have lower LOS than with the previous versions of the HCM. FDOT did not consider this an acceptable practice. FDOT has therefore implemented a two-class system with new average travel speed thresholds. **Class 1 arterials** have posted speeds of 40 mph and higher. **Class 2 arterials** have posted speeds 35 mph and less.

PAGE **46**

The accepted practice in Florida for all highway capacity and LOS analyses of arterial facilities is to use this two-class system and LOS thresholds.

FDOT intends to conduct further research on this class system and determine acceptable free flow speeds before the next update of this Q/LOS Handbook.

3.6.5. Arterial Free Flow Speed

The 2010 HCM includes a process to calculate free flow speed on arterial segments and facilities. In general, for higher speed arterials (i.e., posted 45 mph and greater) the calculated free flow speed is less than the posted speed. Such an approach is not applicable in Florida where the vast majority of free flow speeds are higher than posted speeds. The accepted practice in Florida is to use 5 mph over the posted speed limit as the free flow speed. However, a roadway specific free flow speed study may be conducted and used.

3.6.6. Passing Lanes on Two-Lane Highways

The HCM does not adequately address the effectiveness of passing lanes when taking into account the length of facility being analyzed. After discussions with key members of the committee overseeing the HCM, FDOT has established passing lane effectiveness based on the proportion of passing lane coverage. The approach is incorporated into HIGHPLAN.

3.6.7. Exception Process

Under specific circumstances, any of these six cases could be approved through an exception process. As an example, from FDOT's permanent count stations, two known cases exist where freeway facility volumes approximate high volumes similar to what would be derived from an HCM analysis. An exception process would exist where these unusually high volumes would be used for an analysis of interchange access along those facilities.

3.7. Statewide Acceptable Tools

There are two FDOT supported and statewide acceptable highway capacity and LOS analysis tools for generalized and conceptual planning: FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables and FDOT's LOSPLAN software which includes ARTPLAN, FREEPLAN, and HIGHPLAN. These two tools form the core for all FDOT's highway capacity and LOS analyses and reviews in planning stages. Through detailed research and review, these generalized and conceptual planning tools can frequently result in more accurate analyses than more detailed unadjusted national operational tools. Each may be supplemented by other analyses, but they form the basis for all highway capacity and LOS analyses and determinations in Florida. To ensure that an analysis is consistent with Florida conditions and research, the inputs and volumes must be within the ranges specified in **Chapters 4 through 7** of this Q/LOS Handbook.

If there is conflicting guidance on the application of highway capacity or LOS analyses in other FDOT planning handbooks (e.g., Transportation Impact Handbook), the guidance above takes precedence while these other handbooks are being updated.

The misuse of level of analysis tools and the intermixing of level of analysis tools, especially at a conceptual planning level, is common in Florida. For the State Highway System and all proposed developments directly impacting the State Highway System, LOS analyses must be based on the HCM methodologies or a methodology determined by FDOT as having comparable reliability. Outside of the State Highway System, if an operational tool is needed to supplement an LOSPLAN analysis, FDOT recommends using the HCM/HCS. There are numerous reasons for this position including:

- State and national recognition of the HCM as the nation's leading resource on highway capacity and LOS analysis
- HCS is a faithful replication of the HCM methodology chapters and is the leading software implementing the HCM in Florida and the nation
- FDOT staff cannot be responsible for acquiring and reviewing all of the currently available software programs in the market
- Although other methodologies may be more accurate than the HCM in specific applications, they have not received the international acceptance based on national research conducted through the National Academies of Science Transportation Research Board

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

For the State Highway System and all proposed developments directly impacting the State Highway System, LOS analyses must be based on the HCM methodologies or a methodology determined by FDOT as having comparable reliability. Operational analysis based on the HCM/HCS offers statewide consistency in approach for the benefit of both the reviewers and analysts submitting analyses

Regardless of adoption or use by non-FDOT entities, FDOT will use the LOS Standards for the review of actions directly affecting the State Highway System for all planning and permitting processes.

The methodologies in this Q/LOS Handbook are generalized and conceptual planning applications from the following primary resource documents and analytical techniques using actual Florida roadway, traffic, and signalization data:

- 2010 HCM methodologies for automobiles, trucks, bicycles, and pedestrians
- 2003 Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual (TCQSM) for buses

Extensions of these operational techniques are presented in the previous sections.

3.8. Alternative Analysis Tools

While the Generalized Service Volume Tables and FDOT's LOSPLAN software are the preferred analysis tools for generalized and conceptual planning, alternative tools may be necessary depending on the scale of the analysis and the level of detail required.

The Federal Highway Administration's Traffic Analysis Toolbox defines seven categories of analysis tools:

- Sketch-planning tools produce general order of magnitude estimates of travel demand and traffic operations in response to transportation improvements.
 - QuickZone, STEAM, SPASM, IDAS
- Travel demand models forecast future travel demand based on current conditions and future projections of household and employment characteristics.
 - CUBE, TransCAD, VISUM

- Analytical/deterministic tools (HCM-based) quickly predict capacity, density, speed, delay, and queuing on a variety of transportation facilities.
 - LOSPLAN, Synchro, aaSIDRA
- Traffic signal optimization tools are primarily designed to develop optimal signal-phasing and timing plans for isolated signal intersections, arterial streets, or signal networks.
 - Synchro, TRANSYT-7F
- Macroscopic simulation models are based on the deterministic relationships of the flow, speed, and density of the traffic stream. The simulation in a macroscopic model takes place on a sectionby-section basis rather than by tracking individual vehicles.
 - TRANSYT-7F, BTS, CORFLO
- Mesoscopic simulation models models combine the properties of both microscopic and macroscopic simulation models. As in microscopic models, the mesoscopic models' unit of traffic flow is the individual vehicle.
 - DYNASMART-P, DynusT
- Microscopic simulation models simulate the movement of individual vehicles based on car-following and lane-changing theories.
 - VISSIM, CORSIM, SimTraffic, Paramics
- Hybrid Models employ microscopic and mesoscopic models simultaneously. These tools are intended to be applied to very large networks containing critical subnetworks connected by several miles of essentially rural facilities.
 - Aimsun, TransModeler

One additional tool not described by FHWA is the Quick Estimate Method (QEM), which is a simple method for determining the critical intersection volume-to-capacity ratio, signal timing, and delay for a signalized intersection. The method is discussed in Chapter 31 of the HCM. Although the method is computationally intensive, it requires fewer inputs than is typically required for a full intersection analysis within the HCS software. At a minimum, the analyst must provide traffic volumes and the approach lane configuration for the subject intersection. Default or actual values for additional variables may also be used, including the phasing plan, presence of on-street parking, signal coordination plans, and area type. The method produces approach delay and intersection delay, which can be used to estimate LOS with limited data requirements.

Florida's LOSPLAN software, other HCM-based tools, and travel demand models are typically **deterministic**, or not subject to randomness. Each model run of a deterministic model will produce the same outcome. All analysts will obtain the same results shown in the Generalized Service Volume Tables using the LOSPLAN software along with the inputs provided. Most simulation models, on the other hand, are **stochastic**, and incorporate variability and uncertainty into the analysis using random number sequences.

These alternative analysis tools may be considered when one or more of the following conditions apply:

- The facility includes non-standard elements not included within the LOSPLAN software capabilities
- The evaluation of alternatives requires the application of additional performance measures not included within the LOSPLAN software
- Routing is an essential part of the problem being addressed
- Detailed vehicle interaction measures are necessary for the analysis, such as turn lane spillback impacts
- Demand levels predict oversaturated conditions over a substantial part of the peak hour

Deterministic models are not subject to randomness.

Stochastic models incorporate variability and uncertainty into analysis.

3 QUALITY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE PRINCIPLES

PAGE **51**

While not applicable under all circumstances, the LOSPLAN software is based on peer-reviewed methodologies that have been determined to adequately model traffic flow under most conditions without the need to rely on more time-intensive analysis methods. When alternative tools produce similar performance measures to those provided by LOSPLAN using more detailed analysis methods, the time needed to set up and calibrate the model, generate output, and validate results should always be considered alongside the benefits associated with the use of the alternative analysis tool.

4 ROADWAY VARIABLES

Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables and the conceptual planning software that produces them are based on the 2010 HCM, Transit Capacity and Quality Service Manual (TCQSM), and Florida roadway, traffic, control (signalization), and multimodal data. The resulting tables and programs are valid in Florida, and their use for generalized and conceptual planning applications is encouraged by FDOT. Recognizing varying characteristics with the state and differing roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal characteristics, the Generalized Service Volume Tables are not adequate for all analysis needs. **Chapters 4 through 7** therefore provide a description of input variables needed to use the LOS software in order to allow the user to recognize these variations and analyze specific roadways.

Roadway variables describe the geometric and functional characteristics of a facility. Not all roadway variables are applicable to all roadway types, and the following list provides an indication of the roadway type the variable is used to describe (Arterial = A, Highway = H, Freeway = F):

- Roadway Type (A, H, F)
- Roadway Class (A)
- Area Type (A, H, F)
- Number of Through Lanes (A, H, F)
- Posted Speed (A, H, F)
- Free Flow Speed (A, H, F)
- Acceleration/Deceleration Lanes (F)
- Median Type (A, H)
- Terrain (H, F)
- Percent No Passing Zone (H)
- **Exclusive Left Turn Lanes** (A, H)
- Exclusive Right Turn Lanes (A)
- Roadway Lengths (A, H, F)
- Freeway Segments (F)
- Exclusive Left Turn Storage Length (A)
- Passing Lanes (H)
- Passing Lane Spacing (H)

Default values should not be used as part of a conceptual planning analysis for bolded values.

4 ROADWAY VARIABLES

Table 4-1 provides an overview of the roadway variable input requirements within the Generalized Service Volume Tables and the LOSPLAN software.

Table 4-1 **Roadway Input Requirements**

	Generalized	ART	FREE	HIGHPLAN	
Input Variable	Service Volume Tables	PLAN	PLAN	2-Lane	Multilane
Roadway Type	R	F	F	F	F
Roadway Class	R	F	-	-	-
Area Type	R	F	F	F	F
Number of Through Lanes	R	S	S	F	F
Posted Speed	D	S	F	F	F
Free Flow Speed	D	S	S	F	F
Acceleration/Deceleration Lanes at least 1,500 feet	D	-	S	-	-
Median Type	R	S	-	-	F
Terrain	D	D	S	F	F
Percent No Passing Zones	D	-	-	F	-
Exclusive Left Turn lanes	R	S	-	S	-
Exclusive Right Turn Lanes	R	S	-	-	-
Roadway Lengths	D	S	S	F	F
Freeway Segments	D	-	F	-	-
Exclusive Left Turn Lane Storage Length	D	S	-		-
Passing Lanes	R	-	-	F	-
Passing Lane Spacing	D	-	-	F	-

Legend: R Required Table Input

S Segment/Point Specific

D Default Cannot be Altered

- F Facility Specific
- Not Applicable

Additionally, the effects that individual variables have on the computational process vary. **Table 4-2** indicates the sensitivity of the variables on highway capacity and LOS. Variables that have a high degree of sensitivity on service volumes (shown in **bold** on the first page of this chapter) should not be defaulted when a conceptual planning analysis is being conducted. The LOSPLAN programs highlight these variables and require analysts to provide specific values before the programs calculate capacity and LOS.

Table 4-2Sensitivity of Roadway Variables on Service Volumes

Roadway Variables	Sensitivity on Service Volumes			
Roadway Type	high			
Roadway Class	medium			
Area Type	high			
Number of Through Lanes	high			
Posted Speed	medium			
Free Flow Speed	medium			
Acceleration/Deceleration Lanes at least 1,500 feet	low			
Median Type	low			
Terrain	low			
Percent No Passing Zones	low			
Exclusive Left Turn Lanes	high			
Exclusive Right Turn Lanes	medium			
Roadway Lengths	low			
Freeway Segments	medium			
Exclusive Left Turn Lane Storage Length	medium			
Passing Lanes	low			
Passing Lane Spacing	low			

4.1. Roadway Type

Compatible with the terminology of the HCM, this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software are based on three major roadway types:

- Freeways
- Uninterrupted flow highways
- Interrupted flow roadways

4.1.1. Freeways

Freeways are multilane, divided highways with at least two lanes for exclusive use of traffic in each direction and full control of ingress and egress.

4.1.2. Highways

Uninterrupted flow highways are roadways with a combination of roadway segments, which have average signalized intersection spacing greater than 2 miles and are not freeways. Because of the significantly different operating characteristics, these types of roadways are frequently also distinguished as two-lane highways and multilane highways.

4.1.3. Arterials

Interrupted flow roadways are characterized by signals with average signalized intersection spacing less than or equal to 2 miles. In this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software, signalized arterials are the predominant type of interrupted flow roadway. They primarily are operated by the state and serve through traffic. Also included in this category are signalized non-state roadways, but not local streets. As used here, signalized intersections refer to all fixed causes of interruption to the traffic stream, and may occasionally include STOP signs or other control types.

Arterials are further classified based on posted speed. There are two arterial classes:

- Class I Arterials with a posted speed of 40 mph or greater
- Class II Arterials with a posted speed of 35 mph or less

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

Freeways are divided highways with at least two lanes in each direction and full access control.

Uninterrupted flow highways are nonfreeway roadways that generally have uninterrupted flow, with average signalized intersection spacing greater than 2.0 miles.

Interrupted flow roadways are roadways with fixed causes of periodic delay or interruption and average signalized intersection spacing less than or equal to 2.0 miles.

4.2. Area Type

Three broad area type groupings are used in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software, as shown in **Figure 4-1**:

- Urbanized areas
- Transitioning/urban areas (transitioning into urbanized/urban areas or areas over 5,000 population not in urbanized areas)
- Rural areas (rural undeveloped areas and cities or developed areas less than 5,000 population)

Figure 4-1 Area Types



The area types in the Generalized Service Volume Tables and software match well with FDOT's LOS standards; however, there are a few special cases. FDOT District LOS Coordinators (**Chapter 13**) should be consulted for applicable boundaries within their districts.

There may be small lengths of roadways (e.g., approximately 6 miles for freeways, 3 miles for non-freeways) between area types or adjacent to an area type which from a logical and analytical sense should be combined into one area type or another.

These situations typically occur with adjacent interchanges or in transitioning areas, but may also occur elsewhere. FDOT districts have the flexibility to adjust the area type boundaries or designate a roadway with a certain area type under these circumstances.

As Florida's population grows, area types may change for a specific location or roadway in future years. FDOT's district offices (contact information available online at http://www.dot.state.fl.us/ publicinformationoffice/moreDOT/districts/district.shtm) should be consulted if analysts believe different area types are appropriate for a future study period.

4.2.1. Urbanized Areas

Urbanized areas are defined by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) approved boundary, which encompasses the entire Census Urbanized Area, as well as a surrounding geographic area as agreed upon by FDOT, FHWA, and the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO). The minimum population for an urbanized area is 50,000.

All urbanized areas are combined in Tables 4 and 7 of the Generalized Service Volume Tables, regardless of size. However, in both Table 1 as well as the software, urbanized area types are distinguished by whether the population of an area is greater than or less than 1,000,000. Currently, the over 1,000,000 grouping applies to the MPO areas that include central cities: Ft. Lauderdale, Jacksonville, Miami, Orlando, St. Petersburg, Tampa, and West Palm Beach. In the software, these are referred to as Large Urbanized. The Large Urbanized category does not extend to adjacent MPO areas. The urbanized areas less than 1,000,000 population are referred to as Other Urbanized. Florida research has shown driver aggressiveness increases with area population. This increases the saturation flow rate, yielding higher service volumes.

The minimum population for an urbanized area is 50,000.

Large urbanized refers to an MPO urbanized area greater than 1,000,000 in population.

Other urbanized refers to an MPO urbanized area less than 1,000,000 in population.

4.2.2. Transitioning Areas

Transitioning areas are fringe areas that exhibit characteristics between rural and urbanized/urban. Transitioning areas are intended to include areas that, based on their growth characteristics, are anticipated to become urbanized or urban in the next 20 years.

Frequently the Metropolitan Planning Area is used for the transitioning area adjacent to an FHWA Urbanized Area (Adjusted Census Urbanized Area Boundary). The definition of Metropolitan Planning Area specifically mentions the "contiguous area expected to become urbanized with the 20-year forecast period." It is the contiguous area that should be considered the transitioning area. However, in practice, most MPOs have not specifically delineated those contiguous or transitioning areas and many of the Metropolitan Planning Areas extend to remote rural areas of counties. In situations where the MPO does not identify these transitioning areas, or areas adjacent to urban (but not urbanized) areas, FDOT Districts, in cooperation with local governments, may delineate transitioning areas for LOS purposes.

There is no established statewide process for designating transitioning areas. For example, some districts may prefer having signatures of approval for the boundaries while other districts may designate the areas less formally. For understanding by all potential parties involved, keeping the boundaries relatively consistent over time is desirable. The transitioning boundary should be reviewed and adjusted as a part of the census cycle update consistent with the setting of the FHWA Urbanized Area boundaries. It may also be appropriate to review the transitioning boundary in conjunction with a Long Range Transportation Plan update. Regardless, short time frame updates to respond to individual development projects or political desires should be avoided. For these reasons FDOT District LOS Coordinators should be consulted for transitioning boundaries within their districts. It is recommended that boundaries for transitioning areas be based on the location of major roadways or at interchanges. This avoids portions of a freeway changing from transitioning to urbanized or rural between interchanges. It is desirable for an arterial to have the same designation between major roadways and not change mid-block. In cases where aligning the boundary with major roads is impractical, see the text below on treatment of small lengths of roadways.

Transitioning areas are areas that exhibit characteristics between rural and urbanized/ urban areas.

Based on their growth characteristics, transitioning areas include areas that are anticipated to become urbanized or urban in the next 20 years. Urban areas are located outside of urbanized areas and have populations between 5,000 and 50,000.

Rural undeveloped refers to portions of rural areas with no or minimal population or development.

Rural developed refers to portions of rural areas that are along coastal roadways or in generally populated areas with a population less than 5,000.

4.2.3. Urban Areas

An **urban area** has a population between 5,000 and 50,000 and is not within an urbanized area. Boundaries for cities over 5,000 population and not within urbanized areas are primarily set by existing city limits and must be agreed upon by FDOT, the local government, and FHWA. However, the 5,000 population threshold is primarily a surrogate for areas that exhibit urban traffic characteristics. In situations where a city has less than 5,000 population (e.g., 10,000), and the city has an urban character, then it is reasonable to use the over 5,000 population classification in the Generalized Service Volume Tables and urban classification in the software.

Other situations exist where an area has over 5,000 population and yet, the area is more characteristic of a rural developed area. In this situation, it is reasonable to use the developed area less than 5,000 population sections of Generalized Service Volume Tables 3, 6, and 9, and the rural developed classification in the software. In both of these situations, FDOT district planning offices, after consultation with the central office, should make a determination as to the appropriate area type designation to use.

4.2.4. Rural Areas

Rural areas consist of two types:

- Rural undeveloped areas in which there is no or minimal population or development
- Rural developed areas consisting of cities and other population areas with less than 5,000 population or along coastal roadways.

Generally, the cities or developed areas portion of the Generalized Service Volume Tables should be applied to areas with a population between 500 and 5,000, and not immediately adjacent to urbanized, urban, or transitioning areas. This portion of the tables also should be generally applied to coastal roads not in urbanized, urban, or transitioning areas.

4.3. Number of Through Lanes

The number of through lanes is one of the most important variables to analyze a roadway's capacity and LOS. Emphasis is placed on through lanes, or lanes that directly accommodate through traffic. The number includes shared lanes (e.g., through/right), but does not include exclusive turn lanes or two-way left turn lanes on arterials, auxiliary lanes on freeways, or passing lanes on two-lane highways. Arterials are often described as having an odd number of lanes when two-way left turn lanes are present. However, for highway capacity and LOS analyses that is not appropriate. The two-way left turn lane does not accommodate through vehicles, and the facility is more appropriately characterized as having an even number of lanes with a non-restrictive median.

Usually the total number of through lanes in both directions is used to describe roadways. However, this Q/LOS Handbook bases analyses upon a single direction. As an example, a LOS analysis for a six-lane freeway is based upon three lanes, using the higher directional traffic volume. Similarly, a LOS analysis for a four-lane arterial would be based upon two directional lanes. When using FDOT's software, the sum of the directional number of through lanes should be entered to describe the roadway facility. When calculating LOS, the software will automatically take one-half of the total number of through lanes, unless overridden by the analyst.

Throughout this Q/LOS Handbook, it is assumed that the predominant traffic movement is straight ahead. Occasionally, however, more vehicles turn in a certain direction than go straight ahead. Under those circumstances the turning lanes accommodating the predominant movement should be considered the through lanes. As an example, consider this illustration: if 55 percent of the vehicles are turning left from two lanes, 20 percent are going straight ahead from one lane, and 25 percent are turning right from one lane, then the two lanes accommodating the left turning movement should be considered the through lanes. Further discussion of special use of through lanes and turning movements are covered under the discussion of percent turns from exclusive turn lanes.

4.3.1. Arterials

An important aspect of this Q/LOS Handbook is the methodology for determining an arterial's number of through lanes. Since the ultimate result of the LOS analysis is a facility estimation of LOS, and it is widely recognized that signalized intersections are the arterial's primary capacity constraint, it is appropriate to place more emphasis on the intersections' characteristics than mid-block characteristics. Generally, mid-block segments have capacities far exceeding those of major intersections and it is rare for significant delays to occur mid-block. By weighting the effects of intersections more heavily, a more accurate aggregate estimation is possible.

Site-specific characteristics (e.g., intensity and type of land use, driver behavior, speed, etc.) can dramatically affect the viability of add-on/drop-off pairs as through lanes; therefore, each application should be examined on a case-by-case basis. Analysts are strongly cautioned to review all pertinent characteristics prior to adjusting the number of through lanes used. The reviews should be conducted during peak travel conditions. Analysts are encouraged to consult with FDOT District LOS Coordinators prior to application of this concept. The following guidelines are offered as a capacity estimating tool only. This process should never be used for the design or redesign of an expanded intersection.

For any capacity benefit to be considered two conditions should be met:

- both the add lane and drop lane must each be at least 800 feet in length, and
- the add-on/drop-off pair combined must be at least 1,760 feet in length

If either of these conditions is not met, then no additional capacity is assumed.

If the add-on/drop-off pair is at least one-third of a mile in length (roughly divided equally between approach and departure and exclusive of tapers and cross-street width, as represented by A + B in the accompanying diagram), it may be reasonable to consider an additional one-half lane for capacity purposes. For example, in the accompanying diagram if A = 1,000' and B = 1,000', then it would be reasonable to consider that the intersection approach has 2.5 effective through lanes.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

With a length of at least one-half mile (roughly divided equally between add lane and drop lane), it may be reasonable to consider the add-on/drop-off pair as adding up to one full through lane.





When using the Generalized Service Volume Tables, the number of through lanes on a facility is typically determined by the through and shared through/right lanes at major intersections rather than mid-block. In the illustration below, the mid-block segments have four lanes, with two lanes in each direction. The major intersections each have six lanes, with two through and one shared through/right add-on/drop-off lane with tapers adequate for safe merging. In this illustration, as in many cases, minor signalized intersections have green times so heavily weighted to the arterial that they do not cause significant delays to through traffic. When this is the case, it is sometimes acceptable to disregard the number of lanes at these minor intersections; instead, the determination should be based on the lanes at major intersections. So in terms of LOS, this particular facility has six lanes, as shown in **Figure 4-3**.

Figure 4-3 Example Six-Lane Roadway



4 ROADWAY VARIABLES

At a conceptual planning level it is appropriate to evaluate in more detail the effects of add-on/drop-off lanes. When lanes carrying through traffic are added before the intersection and dropped after the intersection, the add-on/drop-off lane, or expanded intersection, will contribute to intersection capacity, but likely not to the extent of a full through lane. To accommodate this consideration, ARTPLAN allows the analyst to enter a fractional number of directional lanes (e.g., 2.5) at the signalized intersection. Under this situation, the number of lanes should more appropriately be considered the number of directional effective lanes.

4.3.2. Highways

For uninterrupted flow highway facilities, the number of lanes is the basic segment or mid-block laneage. For example, a two-lane highway, which is widened to four lanes at major intersections, should be considered a two-lane highway.

4.4. Speed

Posted Speed

Posted speed is the posted speed limit.

Free Flow Speed

Free flow speed is the average speed of vehicles not operating under the influence of speed reduction conditions. In general, free flow is the speed under low flow conditions and not influenced by control conditions, such as signalized intersections. The assumption used in this Q/LOS Handbook is that the free flow speed is 5 mph above the posted speed. As an example, if an arterial is posted 40 mph, the default free flow speed used in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software is 45 mph; however, if a more accurate free flow speed is available, it should be used.

Free flow speed is the average speed of vehicles under low flow traffic conditions and not under the influence of signals, STOP signs, or other fixed causes of interruption.

For generalized

planning purposes, free flow speed is generally assumed to be 5 mph over the posted speed limit.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

4.5. Acceleration/Deceleration Lanes

4.5.1. Freeways

As used in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software, acceleration and deceleration lanes are included in the capacity of a freeway. An acceleration lane extends from the on-ramp gore to the end of the taper. A deceleration lane extends from the beginning of the taper to the off-ramp gore. Vehicular turbulence occurs as vehicles enter and exit freeways. On- and off-ramp influence areas extend 1,500 feet from the interchange gores. In Florida, acceleration and deceleration lanes are typically 1,000 feet and 450 feet, respectively. In FREEPLAN, some additional capacity can usually be obtained by extending these types of lanes to 1,500 feet.

4.6. Median Type

4.6.1. Arterials/Highways

As used in this document, medians may be classified in one of three ways:

- restrictive median (r)
- non-restrictive median (nr)
- no median (n)

A **restrictive median** is a raised or grassed area normally at least 10 feet in width separating opposing mid-block traffic lanes and includes left turn lanes.

A **non-restrictive median** is a painted at-grade area normally at least 10 feet in width separating opposing mid-block traffic lanes, and for arterials, accommodates mid-block left-turning vehicles to exit from through lanes. Continuous two-way left turn lanes are considered as a non-restrictive median under this definition. Situations in which restrictive or non-restrictive medians are less than 10 feet wide are considered as having no median. A restrictive median is a raised or grassed area that restricts crossing movements.

A non-restrictive median is a painted, at-grade area separating opposing midblock traffic lanes.

A non-restrictive median provides no pedestrian refuge.

A pedestrian refuge is a raised or grassed area at least 5 feet but less than 10 feet in width that separates opposing mid-block traffic lanes and allows pedestrians to cross a roadway.

Terrain is a general classification used for analyses in lieu of specific grades.

Level terrain is assumed throughout Florida.

Although a median factor does not exist in the HCM, FDOT included it to account for a lowering of mid-block average travel speeds when no median is present. From the aspect of getting left-turning vehicles out of the traffic stream, the difference between a restrictive and a non-restrictive median is relatively inconsequential. Thus, in determining automobile LOS, restrictive and non-restrictive medians are treated the same.

From a pedestrian point of view, there is a significant difference between non-restrictive medians and restrictive medians. Restrictive medians give pedestrians a much safer mid-block crossing. Thus, this type of median is a consideration in determining the pedestrian crossing factor that enters the bus LOS analysis.

A **pedestrian refuge** is a raised or grassed area at least 5 feet but less than 10 feet in width (not a full raised median) separating opposing mid-block traffic lanes, and allowing pedestrians to cross the roadway more safely and comfortably. From a pedestrian point of view, a pedestrian refuge has nearly the same benefit as a restrictive median. In terms of pedestrian crossing difficulty, the difference between a restrictive median and pedestrian refuge is relatively small; therefore, in determining pedestrian crossing difficulty, the two may be treated the same. Pedestrian refuges are occasionally seen along beach roads or other roads where development is almost exclusively on one side of the road.

Because pedestrian refuges are not common in Florida, FDOT's LOS software does not include them as a distinct category. If an analyst needs to evaluate the effects of a pedestrian refuge, it should be treated as a restricted median for transit analysis, but as no median for automobile analysis.

4.7. Terrain

4.7.1. Highways/Freeways

Terrain is a general classification used for analyses in lieu of specific grades. Level terrain is a combination of horizontal and vertical alignments that permits heavy vehicles to maintain approximately the same speed as passenger cars, usually short grades of no more than 1 to 2 percent. Level terrain is assumed throughout Florida.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

PAGE 66
4.8. Exclusive Turn Lanes

4.8.1. Arterials

Left Turn Lanes

Exclusive left turn lanes are storage areas designated to exclusively accommodate left turning vehicles. The length of these lanes must be able to accommodate turning demand such that left turn traffic (1) is able to enter the turn lanes behind through queues, or (2) can be stored in the turn lane to ensure the through lane traffic is not blocked. When left turn lanes are not present, a shared lane exists.

When analyzing arterials without left turn lanes, the use of the Generalized Service Volume Tables and ARTPLAN is discouraged in all but the most basic analyses. If used, the Generalized Service Volume Tables include adjustment factors for the lack of left turn lanes that have been approved by the LOS Task Team. However, they are not contained within the HCM. To account for the absence of left turns lanes, adjustment factors must be manually applied to the service volumes contained in the table. Likewise, if an ARTPLAN analysis is performed, the resulting service volume is internally reduced by the same factor. However, the user is cautioned that research indicates that the true value of the reduction is highly dependent on the distribution of traffic volumes among all the various movements, and a constant reduction factor, as used in the tables and ARTPLAN, is not accurate.

Storage length refers to the total amount of storage available for left turning vehicles, in feet. The default value is 235 feet. For new turn lanes, FDOT design standards should be consulted (found at <u>http://www.dot.state.fl.us/rddesign/DS/10/IDx/300grp.pdf</u>).

Right Turn Lanes

Exclusive right turn lanes are storage areas designated to exclusively accommodate right turning vehicles.

The length of these lanes must be able to accommodate turning demand to allow for the free flow of the through movement.

Storage length is the total amount of storage available for left turning vehicles, in feet.

Exclusive right turn lanes are storage areas designated to exclusively accommodate right turning vehicles.

4.9. Roadway Lengths

In order to properly apply the Generalized Service Volume Tables or the LOSPLAN software, it is necessary to partition roadways into appropriate lengths for analysis. Setting lengths too short may not adequately capture traffic flow characteristics. Vehicles will not achieve the same average running speed on a segment as over a longer facility length. Short lengths would also be subject to bias caused by signal control delay.

Furthermore, analysis results would not conform to the concept of LOS that is based on driver perception of the operation of roadways and may not show where the most significant impact of proposed development traffic will occur. Conversely, setting lengths too long may dilute the impact of hot spots by averaging them into other portions that operate better.

FDOT District LOS Coordinators have primary responsibility for segmentation of the State Highway System for LOS purposes. FDOT Central Office may combine smaller segmentation lengths of a facility for statewide reporting and other purposes.

In general, the partitioning of roadways for facility analyses should be based on the following considerations, ranked in order:

- highway system structure
- area type boundaries
- lengths

At times, section termini may also aid in the delineation of facility termini and lengths. In all cases, the beginning and ending points for a facility analysis should coincide with the beginning and ending points of sections that make up the facility. For freeways, the termini are interchanges.

At the local level, government agencies frequently make highway capacity and LOS termini at their own jurisdictional boundaries, regardless of the appropriate facility length and termini considerations described above. Jurisdictional boundaries by themselves are usually not appropriate termini for capacity and LOS analyses. Local governments are encouraged to consult with FDOT District LOS Coordinators for applicable segmentation within their jurisdictional boundaries.

FDOT District LOS Coordinators have primary responsibility for segmentation of the State Highway System for LOS purposes.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

4.9.1. Arterials

For an arterial facility analysis, the general recommendation is that the facility be at least 2 miles in length in order to use the service measure of average travel speed. Major intersecting arterials frequently serve as logical breaks in segmenting the arterial facility. In downtown areas, the general recommended length is at least 1 mile.

When evaluating arterial section or facility LOS at a conceptual planning level, the roadway should begin and end at a signalized intersection. The following guidance is provided for some special cases:

- (1) Interchanges along an arterial Although at a generalized planning level it is typically appropriate to make a break at an interchange (highway system structure criterion) that does not include a signalized intersection, at a conceptual planning level it is appropriate to extend the analysis to the next signalized intersection if within 2 miles of the interchange.
- (2) Boundaries, especially urbanized area boundaries When a signalized intersection lies just outside the boundary, it is proper to extend an analysis to the next signalized intersection if within 2 miles of a boundary for a conceptual planning analysis. For example, if a signalized intersection lies 1 mile beyond the existing urbanized boundary in a transitioning area, it is appropriate to include that signalized intersection and the 1 mile of transitioning area as part of an urbanized area analysis.

4.9.2. Highways

The analysis length of uninterrupted flow two-lane and multilane highways varies considerably (e.g., 2 to 60 miles), and may or may not include interrupted flow conditions (e.g., signalized intersections, STOP signs). Any given uninterrupted segment should be greater than 2 miles. Segments with greater than 3.5 miles between interrupted flow conditions should be considered uninterrupted. For segments between 2- and 3.5-miles, analysts have the discretion to group the segment into an uninterrupted facility or into an interrupted facility.

The HCM does not contain a facility level analysis for generally uninterrupted flow facilities (highways). The HCM two-lane and multilane highway chapters are segment chapters. They deal Boundaries refer to the geographical limits associated with FDOT's Level of Service Standards for the State Highway System or its MPO Administrative Manual.

Any given uninterrupted segment should be greater than 2 miles.

Segments with greater than 3.5 miles between interrupted flow conditions should be considered uninterrupted. An off-ramp influence area refers to the geographic limits affecting the capacity of a freeway associated with traffic exiting a freeway.

A basic freeway segment is the length of a freeway in which operations are unaffected by interchanges.

An on-ramp influence area refers to the geographic limits affecting the capacity of a freeway associated with traffic entering a freeway.

A ramp overlap segment is the length for which the upstream on-ramp influence area and the downstream off-ramp influence area overlap.

A weaving segment is the length of freeway over which traffic streams cross paths through lane changing maneuvers. with uninterrupted flow segments, but there is no guidance on how to combine segments or how to deal with isolated signalized intersections or a combination of two-lane and multilane segments.

For two-lane highways, FDOT has developed a methodology [Improvement of Planning Level Analysis Procedures for Two-Lane Highways, University of Florida, 2005] for grouping segments into a single facility for LOS analysis, and this methodology has been incorporated into the LOSPLAN software. The analysis relies on the calculation of percent time-delayed over the length of the facility, which is made up of:

- Basic two-lane highway segments
- Intersection influence areas, which include deceleration and acceleration distances
- Affected downstream highway segments, which includes the area outside of the intersection influence area that is still affected by the platooning of vehicles from the upstream signal

While the user must enter the total length of the highway segments between intersections, the software calculates the length of each of these segment types based on signal speed, volume, and signal timing parameters.

4.9.3. Freeways

For urbanized freeway facility analyses, the general recommendation is that the freeway facility length be between 4 and 15 miles. For rural freeway analyses, the length is expected to be considerably longer. For example, I-75 across the Everglades extends for 87 miles.

The generalized and conceptual planning analysis facility method makes use of six freeway segment types: basic segments, off-ramp influence areas, on-ramp influence areas, weaving segments, ramp overlap segments, and toll plaza segments. A typical interchange area is around 1 mile in length and consists of an **off-ramp influence area** 1,500 feet long, a **basic freeway segment** 2,280 feet in length, and an **on-ramp influence area** 1,500 feet long. The actual length of the interchange area may vary from this value, depending upon ramp geometry and the distance between ramps. When two interchanges are closely spaced (within about 3,000 feet), a **ramp overlap segment** is needed to define the region where the upstream on-ramp influence area and the downstream off-ramp influence area overlap. For interchanges where the on-ramp precedes the off-ramp, a **weaving segment** is needed to define the area. Parts of freeways outside these influence areas are basic freeway segments.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

PAGE **70**

Their lengths vary significantly based on interchange locations, but should be at least 200 feet in length.

The facility method also includes the ability to analyze toll facilities, consisting of traditional payment station or ETC tolling, open road tolling (ORT) stations where drivers are not required to slow significantly, or a combination of the two. For combination tolling facilities, the traditional plaza is typically accessed by exiting the mainline, paying the toll, and then merging back on the mainline.

4.10. Segments

4.10.1. Freeways

As used in this document and in FREEPLAN, freeway segments are either basic, on-ramps, off-ramps, weaving segments, ramp overlaps, or toll plazas. For a freeway facility analysis using FREEPLAN, the number of segments is an input.

4.11. Passing Lanes

4.11.1. Highways

A passing lane is a short lane (approximately 1 mile) added to provide passing opportunities in one direction of travel on a twolane highway. Continuous two-way left turn lanes are not considered passing lanes.

Passing lanes have not been shown to affect the capacity of a two-lane highway. However, the operation of two-lane highways is improved with the addition of passing lanes. In the rural undeveloped portions of the Generalized Service Volume Tables, the benefit of passing lanes is handled as an adjustment to the service volumes for LOS B through D and varies by the proportion of coverage of the lanes (i.e., total length of passing lanes relative to the total length of the analysis segment). When analyzing twolane highways in rural undeveloped areas, HIGHPLAN adjusts the percent time spent following and average travel speed by the same proportion as the proportion of passing lane coverage. For example, percent time spent following will be decreased by 20 percent and the average travel speed will be increased by 20 percent relative to their values without any passing lanes present. When analyzing the potential of passing lanes, analysts should routinely alter the percent no passing zone value as well, because passing lanes generally result in higher percentages of no passing zones.

if there are 2 miles of passing lanes within a 10-mile segment, the

Percent No Passing Zone

Percent no passing zone refers to the percent of a two-lane highway where passing is prohibited in the analysis direction.

Passing Lane Spacing

As used in HIGHPLAN, **passing lane spacing** is the distance in miles between passing lanes on two-lane highways.

Percent no passing zone is the percentage of a two-lane highway along which passing is prohibited in the analysis direction.

Passing lane spacing is the distance in miles between passing lanes on two-lane highways.

5 TRAFFIC VARIABLES

The following Chapter provides an overview of each traffic variable used within the LOSPLAN software in order to allow the user to recognize these variations and analyze specific roadways. Where applicable, default and maximum values are provided.

Traffic variables describe overall traffic demand and the characteristics of the traffic stream. As with the roadway variables, not all traffic variables are applicable to all roadway types, and the following list provides an indication of the roadway type the variable is used to describe (Arterial = A, Highway = H, Freeway = F):

- Annual Average Daily Traffic (A, H, F)
- Planning Analysis Hour Factor (A, H, F)
- **Directional Distribution Factor** (A, H, F)
- Peak Hour Factor (A, H, F)
- Base Saturation Flow Rate (A, H, F)
- Percent Heavy Vehicles (A, H, F)
- Local Adjustment Factor (H, F)
- Percent Left Turns (A)
- Percent Right Turns (A)

Default values should not be used as part of a conceptual planning analysis for bolded values. **Table 5-1** provides an overview of the traffic variable inputrequirements within the Generalized Service Volume Tables and theLOSPLAN software.

Table 5-1 Traffic Variable Input Requirements

Innut Variable	Generalized Service Volume Tables	ART PLAN	FREE PLAN	HIGHPLAN	
input variable				2-Lane	Multilane
Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT)	R	S	S	F	F
Planning Analysis Hour Factor (K)	D	F	F	F	F
Directional Distribution Factor (D)	D	F	F	F	F
Peak Hour Factor (PHF)	D	F	F	F	F
Base Saturation Flow Rate/ Base Capacity	D	F	F	F	F
Percent Heavy Vehicles	D	F	F	F	F
Local Adjustment Factor	D	-	F	F	F
Percent Left Turns	D	S	-	S	-
Percent Right Turns	D	S	-	S	-

Legend: R Required Table Input

S Segment/Point Specific

D Default Cannot be Altered

- F Facility Specific
- Not Applicable

Additionally, the effects that individual variables have on the computational process vary. **Table 5-2** indicates the sensitivity of the traffic variables on highway capacity and LOS. With the exception of using Standard K, traffic variables that have a high degree of sensitivity on service volumes (shown in **bold** on the first page of this chapter) should not be defaulted when a conceptual planning analysis is being conducted. The LOSPLAN programs highlight these variables and require analysts to provide specific values before the programs calculate capacity and LOS.

Table 5-2

Sensitivity of Traffic Variables on Service Volumes

Traffic Variables	Sensitivity on Service Volumes		
Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT)	high		
Planning Analysis Hour Factor (K)	high		
Directional Distribution Factor (D)	high		
Peak Hour Factor (PHF)	medium		
Base Saturation Flow Rate/ Base Capacity	medium		
Percent Heavy Vehicles	low		
Local Adjustment Factor	medium		
Percent Left Turns	high		
Percent Right Turns	medium		



Traffic volume is the number of vehicles passing a point on a highway during a specified time period.

Traffic demand is the number of vehicles that desire to traverse a particular highway during a specified time period.

While traffic demand expresses a desire, volume typically represents actual measurement.

5.1. Volume and Demand

Traffic volume is the most basic of all traffic parameters and is generally defined as the number of vehicles passing a point on a highway during a specified time period. Traffic volumes typically are developed separately from capacity/LOS analyses and provide input to those analyses. Various sources include:

- FDOT's Florida Traffic Online
- FDOT's Project Traffic Forecasting Handbook
- Extrapolation of historical growth trends
- FDOT's travel demand forecasting models
- ITE's Trip Generation Handbook

Volume is the parameter most often used to quantify traffic demand. **Traffic demand** is the number of vehicles that desire to traverse a particular highway during a specified time period. While traffic demand expresses a desire, volume typically represents actual measurement.

Misuse of measured volumes often occurs in capacity/LOS analyses. Traffic studies result in the observation and measurement of conditions as they presently exist. Current observations do not reflect constraints in the existing highway system that may prevent vehicles from accessing a desired segment of the system at any given point in time. Observed volumes on congested facilities are more a reflection of capacity constraints than of true demand.

Traffic volume cannot theoretically exceed roadway capacity, but traffic demand can. An example of a common misinterpretation of these two distinct terms typically occurs while collecting traffic data at an oversaturated intersection. The traffic volume that can physically be processed through a traffic signal is a measure of the capacity (or supply). When traffic volumes approach roadway capacity, the transportation system may experience abnormally long vehicle queues and excess vehicular delay. The length of the vehicle queue upstream of a traffic signal is a more accurate measure of the traffic demand that cannot be processed in the one-hour analysis period. The impact of bottlenecks, alternative routes, latent demand, and future growth further complicates the relationship between measured traffic volume and traffic demand. If questions arise as to the appropriateness of using measured volumes or demand volumes for capacity and LOS analyses, it is clear demand volumes should be used.

5.2. Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT)

Annual average daily traffic (AADT) is the total volume on a highway segment/section for one year divided by the number of days in the year. Most generalized and conceptual planning applications begin with AADT volumes. Determining AADT values is a separate process and distinct from capacity/LOS analyses. FDOT routinely provides AADT values for state roads.

AADT values are easy to confuse with two other traffic count numbers that are used to estimate AADT. The average daily traffic (ADT) is the total traffic volume during a given time period, more than a day and less than a year, divided by the number of days in that time period. ADT is generated from a short-term traffic count and can be used to estimate AADT. Ensuring that ADT counts are reflective of the normal average traffic is an important consideration when using them to estimate the annual traffic (AADT) on the roadways. Traffic taken during a four-day holiday, long weekend, or Saturday night when 50,000 or more football fans gather is not a normal occurrence.

Peak Season Weekday Average Daily Traffic (**PSWADT**) numbers are normally generated by travel demand forecasting planning models, such as FSUTMS. Like ADT, they can be converted to AADT by an adjustment factor. Average annual daily traffic (AADT) is the volume passing a point or segment of a roadway in both directions for 1 year divided by the number of days in the year.

Average daily traffic (ADT) is the total traffic volume during a given time period divided by the number of days in that time period.

Peak Season Weekday Average Daily Traffic (PSWADT) is the average weekday traffic during the peak season. Telemetry traffic monitoring sites (TTMS), or permanent traffic recorders (PTR), refer to permanent counters that continuously monitor traffic.

Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS) are coverage counters at temporary sites.

Axle correction factors are adjustment factors used to calculate AADT by compensating for an axle counter's tendency to count more vehicles than are actually present.

A seasonal adjustment factor is a factor used to adjust for the variation in traffic over the course of a year. FDOT operates two types of traffic monitoring programs: (1) continuous monitoring at selected locations using permanently installed equipment, and (2) coverage counts at many temporary sites using portable equipment. Permanent counters that continuously monitor traffic are referred to as telemetry traffic monitoring sites (TTMS), and are sometimes called permanent traffic recorders (PTR). They are permanently placed at specific locations throughout the state to record the distribution and variation of traffic flow by hour of the day, day of the week, and month of the year, from year to year. Coverage counters at temporary sites are called portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS) counters. Short-term traffic surveys, usually 24-48 hours in duration, are collected using portable equipment at 5,000-6,000 locations, from one to four times a year. These PTMS surveys are used to provide the volume estimates for each segment of highway on the State Highway System.

Two count adjustment factors are used to calculate AADT. The first, **axle correction factors**, are used to compensate for an axle counter's tendency to count more vehicles than are actually present. An axle counter, for example, would show a count of two when a four-axle truck runs over the sensor, even though only one vehicle is present. The second, **seasonal adjustment factors**, have been developed to adjust for the variation in traffic over the course of a year. The peak season is the 13 consecutive weeks with the highest volumes. The weekly seasonal factors for those weeks will be the lowest and the factors will be the highest for the weeks with the lowest volumes. The seasonal factor is used as follows:

AADT = short-term traffic count X seasonal factor

Although for generalized and conceptual planning purposes AADT is usually used, actual capacity and LOS analyses are conducted on an hourly or subhourly directional basis. For example, all FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables are based on peak hour directional roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal characteristics. FDOT's daily tables are possibly the most widely used in the U.S. Nevertheless, it should be recognized that they are based on hourly directional analyses. FDOT's hourly directional tables may be viewed as the most fundamental of the tables because the daily tables are created by dividing the peak hour directional values by the directional distribution factor (D) and the planning analysis hour factor (K). Although determination of AADTs is outside the capacity/ LOS analyses, determination of K and D is a fundamental part of capacity/LOS analyses in generalized and conceptual planning stages because of the need to convert AADT to peak hour directional volumes.

5.3. Planning Analysis Hour Factor (K)

The Planning Analysis Hour Factor, or **K** Factor, is the ratio of the traffic volume in the study hour to the annual average daily traffic (AADT). Historically, FDOT has used a variety of study hours and K factors depending upon the application. Frequently used K factors included the 30th highest volume hour of the year (K_{30}), 100th highest volume hour of the year (K_{100}), highest hourly volume to daily volume ($K_{p/d}$), 5-6 p.m. weekday volume to AADT (K_{5-6pm}), average p.m. weekday peak volume to AADT (K_{pm}), average a.m. peak weekday volume to AADT (K_{am}), and noon weekday volume to AADT (K_{noon}). In general, K factors are used for peak hour traffic analyses, but analyses can also be based on low volume conditions, such as the analysis of truck travel in early morning hours. Roadway, traffic, and control conditions vary considerably during the day, potentially affecting capacity values and service volume thresholds.

Standard K is the primary planning analysis hour factor used in Florida, and the value is set based on the area type and facility type. The use of Standard K represents a design approach in which the K factor for a roadway is established from planning through design. Rather than being a variable, Standard K values are a fixed, costeffective parameter, much like the use of 12-foot through lanes on a major high-speed roadways. Unless otherwise noted, all references in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying LOSPLAN software to an hour or K factor refer to Standard K.

The Standard K factor is used to convert a peak hour volume to an AADT and vice-versa. The Standard K factors used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables were obtained through a methodical process to obtain accurate, representative Standard K factors. On the freeways in the seven largest urbanized areas in Florida, Standard K represents a peak study period. For all other facilities, Standard K represents a peak hour not within the peak season.

The K factor generally drops as an area becomes more urbanized and high traffic volumes are spread out over longer time periods. If adequate documentation is provided, FDOT would consider deviations from the Standard K table for special facility types or multimodal transportation districts (MMTD). The K factor is the ratio of the traffic volume in the study hour to the annual average daily traffic (AADT).

Standard K is FDOT's standard peak hour to annual average daily traffic ratio (K), based on a roadway's characteristics (facility type) and location (area type).

The K factor generally drops as an area becomes more urbanized and high traffic volumes are spread out over longer time periods.

PAGE **79**

With the release of the 2012 LOSPLAN programs, FDOT has shifted away from demand-based K values to a more cost-effective analysis structure based on Standard K values by area and facility type. Although FDOT has established an exemption process, exemptions will be limited to special cases such as emergency evacuation routes and managed lanes. The updated LOSPLAN software automatically enters the correct Standard K value based on the selected area and facility type, using the following values:

- Urbanized and transitioning areas (all facility types) 0.090
- Large urbanized 0.080-0.090
- Urban
 - Freeways 0.105
 - Highways 0.090
 - Arterials 0.090
- Rural developed and rural undeveloped
 - Freeways 0.105
 - Highways 0.095
 - Arterials 0.095

For major, non-toll freeways going through the urbanized core areas of the largest metropolitan areas, such as I-4 in Orlando, FDOT has adopted lower K values. Standard K values on freeways in large urbanized areas range from 8.0 to 9.0 percent, while Standard K values on these "core freeways" in large urbanized areas are typically lower within this range. The lower K values signify a peak period as opposed to a peak hour, a common observation in these areas is a rush "hour" that lasts from 4:00 to 6:00 p.m. The urban core freeway K values in large urbanized areas are available on Florida Traffic Online.

Multimodal Transportation Districts (MMTD)

The purpose of MMTDs is to encourage desirable transportation environments for all users, including transit passengers, pedestrians, cyclists, and motorists. The designation of such districts recognizes the inherent, integral relationship between transportation, land use, and urban design and the degree to which each of these elements impact the others. Local governments opting to designate an MMTD assign secondary priority to vehicle mobility and primary priority to assuring a safe, comfortable, and attractive pedestrian environment, with convenient connections to transit. FDOT supports local governments who are committed to such efforts. Implementation of MMTDs should help foster the use of multiple modes of transportation, leading to a reduction in automobile use while maintaining high mobility characteristics in the area.

The primary way FDOT will support these designated areas is through its LOS standards, which have been developed using a lower Standard K. FDOT will promote lower acceptable automobile travel speeds for longer durations in the planning, design, and operations of its facilities. Conceptually, in urban and urbanized areas, FDOT's LOS standards for state arterials are based on typical weekday peak hour speeds. For relatively low speed arterials (35 mph posted speed or less) in urbanized areas, FDOT's LOS standard is "D" for autos, which corresponds to a speed of 13 mph during the peak hour. In an MMTD, FDOT's LOS standard would apply the 13 mph criterion not to just the one peak hour but to the average over the 3-hour peak period. FDOT believes that in these areas, although auto speeds are quite low from drivers' perspectives, they are tolerable. Such low speeds for an extended time would improve pedestrian and bicyclist LOS and safety. Lowering the acceptable operating auto speed on arterials and improving pedestrian and bicycle conditions should also help lower vehicle miles traveled. By adopting a multi-hour peak period approach within MMTD, based on a K factor as low as 7.5, FDOT will break from the historical tradition of basing LOS criteria on the 30th or 100th highest travel hour of the year for the planning and design of facilities. FDOT believes that this approach achieves a reasonable balance among all users of a facility.

The Directional Distribution Factor, or D, is the proportion of an hour's total volume occurring in the higher volume direction.

Peak hour factor (PHF) is the ratio of the hourly volume to the peak 15-minute flow rate for that hour.

5.4. Directional Distribution Factor (D)

The Directional Distribution Factor, or D, is used to convert AADT to directional peak traffic. The peak hour D factor is the proportion of an hour's total volume occurring in the higher volume direction.

FDOT recommends the use of demand D_{200} values. The preferred approach to obtain D_{200} data is from Florida Traffic Online. It provides a Demand D_{200} for all state roads. The process incorporated in Florida Traffic Online is to take the average of measured D values around the 200th highest hour from nearby and comparable roadway sites and report those. The statewide minimum acceptable D_{200} is 0.51 (the minimum D_{200} factor is not the default value; this should only be used in an LOS analysis if adequate justification is provided for the specific roadway). If the calculated value is less than that value then 0.51 is shown. Using such an approach provides statewide consistency and reasonable accuracy in the values indicated and at a minimum cost.

Minimum acceptable D input value:

D (all area and facility types) – 0.51

5.5. Peak Hour Factor (PHF)

The Peak Hour Factor (**PHF**) is the hourly volume divided by the peak 15-minute rate of flow within the peak hour; specifically

PHF = hourly volume \div (4 x peak 15-minute volume).

Although consideration of subhour traffic peak may be important for detailed analysis, a planning-level approach has been adopted within this handbook. As such, all service volumes in this Q/LOS Handbook are for an entire hour; that is to say, no sub-hour analysis procedures are documented. A peak hour factor of 1.0 should be used for all analyses, which assumes no variations in demand over an hour.

5.6. Base Saturation Flow Rate

The HCM uses the term **base saturation flow rate** for interrupted flow roadways and capacity, or base capacity, for uninterrupted flow roadways to describe the maximum steady flow. These are not the same as capacity as normally used to define how many vehicles a roadway can reasonably accommodate. These rates are expressed in passenger cars per hour per lane (pcphpl). The base saturation flow rates/capacities for Florida's roadway facilities are shown below.

- Arterials and other interrupted flow facilities 1,950 pcphpl (assuming 100 percent green time)
- Basic freeway segment (70 mph posted speed) 2,400 pcphpl
- Freeway interchange influence areas (70 mph posted speed)
 - 2,200 pcphpl for the two outside lanes for the off-ramp influence area
 - 2,300 pcphpl for the two outside lanes for the on-ramp influence area
 - 2,400 pcphpl for additional inside lanes
- Uninterrupted flow multilane highway segments 2,200 pcphpl
- Uninterrupted flow two-lane highway segments 1,700 pcphpl

Previous editions of this Q/LOS Handbook made use of the term adjusted saturation flow rate as an input value instead of base saturation flow rate. Essentially, it accounted for the effects of the driver population factor, heavy vehicles, and other adjustment factors on the base saturation flow rate. However, primarily related to the greater emphasis on truck movements, those factors are now broken into two broad categories: (1) heavy vehicle percent and (2) local adjustment factor. To aid users understanding the impacts of many of the roadway and traffic variables, the terms adjusted saturation flow rate and adjusted capacity appear in the current conceptual planning software for freeways and multilane highways as outputs. Base saturation flow rate is the maximum steady flow rate, expressed in passenger cars per hour per lane (pcphpl), at which passenger cars can cross a point on interrupted flow roadways.

Heavy vehicle percent is the percentage of heavy vehicles in the traffic stream.

The local adjustment factor is an adjustment factor FDOT uses to adjust base saturation flow rates or base capacities to better match actual Florida traffic volumes.



The heavy vehicle percentage typically has a relatively minor role in determining capacity and LOS.

5.7. Heavy Vehicle Percent

FHWA has a vehicle classification scheme in which vehicles larger than a pick-up truck are considered heavy vehicles. This includes vehicles with more than four wheels or classification group four or higher. The percentage of these heavy vehicles in a given hour is frequently referred to as a truck factor (T). However, to be more consistent with HCM terminology and to overcome some definitional problems with the common understanding of the meaning of a truck, this Q/LOS Handbook uses the term heavy vehicle and makes use of the percent of heavy vehicles in a given hour.

The heavy vehicle percentage varies dramatically by time of day, day of week, roadway type, and adjacent land uses. Operational characteristics of heavy vehicles also vary dramatically by type of heavy vehicle (e.g., a relatively small delivery truck compared to a fully loaded 18-wheel semi-truck) and whether they are operating on an uncongested freeway or on signalized roadways. The blast effect of heavy vehicles on bicyclists also varies significantly based on the type and speed of heavy vehicles.

FDOT recommends using the HCM heavy vehicle factors and statewide average percentages that appear on the back of the Generalized Service Volume Tables for capacity/LOS analyses. Use of the T factor in FDOT's Florida Traffic Online is not recommended. That factor is properly used for roadway pavement design. Rules of thumb have been applied to that factor to convert to a design hour; however, the factors appearing on the back of the tables are more applicable for the peak traffic hour.

The heavy vehicle percentage typically has a relatively minor role in determining capacity and LOS. Consistent with previous guidance in this Q/LOS Handbook, a more refined value for this factor is usually not needed. If it is deemed desirable to use a roadway specific heavy vehicle percentage, it should be based on a peak hour field study and not Florida Traffic Online.

5.8. Local Adjustment Factor

The local adjustment factor may be thought of as a driver population factor that accounts for driver characteristics and their effects on traffic. The factor takes into consideration driver aggression, hurriedness, and familiarity with the facility. It is used in FREEPLAN and HIGHPLAN to reflect lower capacities by different area types. It is not used as a separate input in ARTPLAN, as the concept is directly incorporated by the selection of the area type.

5.9. Percent Turns From Exclusive Turn Lanes

5.9.1. Arterials

Percent turns from exclusive turn lanes is the percent of vehicles approaching an intersection served by an exclusive turn lane(s). More specifically, the percent left turns is the percentage of vehicles performing a left-turning movement at a signalized intersection, and the percent right turns is the percentage of vehicles performing a right-turning movement at a signalized intersection. Typically, the percent turns from an exclusive lane is the percent using an exclusive left turn lane with the predominant traffic movement being straight ahead.

Some of the most complicated calculations within the HCM chapter on signalized intersections deal with accommodating left turn movements. The Generalized Service Volume Tables and ARTPLAN assume that left turn lanes adequately serve left turning vehicles. In other words, the base condition assumes there is no queue spillback from the left turn lane into the adjacent through lanes. If this assumption cannot be made, results obtained from the planning analysis tools are possibly inaccurate. ARTPLAN also loses some accuracy when the percentage of turning vehicles is very high. For these reasons and more, the tables and programs should not be used for intersection design or detailed traffic operations analysis.

The automobile LOS methodology described in this Q/LOS Handbook applies the HCM procedures to through traffic at each signalized intersection. Turning movement adjustments are made internally, based on the user-specified value of percent turns from exclusive lanes. Turning volumes are added to the through volumes The Generalized Service Volume Tables and ARTPLAN assume that left turn lanes adequately serve left turning vehicles.

to determine the overall service volumes shown in the Generalized Service Volume Tables and computed by ARTPLAN. Conversely, the turning volumes must be subtracted from the overall demand volumes for purposes of computing arterial through-traffic delay by ARTPLAN. The accuracy of LOS The accuracy of LOS calculations is highly dependent on the calculations is highly percent turns from exclusive turn lanes. Although it is typically of moderate importance, at some key intersections it may be one of the dependent on the percent turns from most significant variables. While FDOT does not routinely suggest exclusive turn lanes. acquiring percent turns from exclusive turn lanes, data collection should be considered at key intersections. Furthermore, some FDOT districts may require specific counts. If the percent turns at key intersections are obtained in the field, a value of 10 percent value may be assumed for the other intersections, assuming an exclusive left turn lane and no exclusive right turn lane. If the percentage of

> turns from exclusive turn lanes is acquired, the turning movement count should be conducted during the peak hour, as illustrated in

Table 5-3Calculation of Percent Turns from Exclusive Turn Lanes

Table 5-3.

Measured	Peak Hour	Signalized To Intersection Ap	Total Peak Hour Predominant	Exclusive Lane	% Turns from Exclusive Turn Lanes	
Day			Approach Volume	Volume	Α	В
22-Jan	4-5 PM	А	884	130	11 70/	16.7%
		В	900	150	14.7%	
23-Jan	5-6 PM	А	1,152	150	10.00/	13.0%
		В	1,150	150	13.0%	
24-Jan	5-6 PM	А	1,102	150	10 60/	14.7%
		В	1,090	160	13.0%	
Totals	-	А	3,138	430	10 70/	14.6%
		В	3,140	460	13.7%	

Special Turning Movement Cases

Two special cases exist when dealing with turns from exclusive lanes. First is the case where the predominant movement is a turn movement instead of the straight-ahead movement. Second is the case of T intersections.

In **Figure 5-1**, the predominant movement is the left turning movement, and the 550 vehicles turning left should be considered the through movement. In ARTPLAN, the 200 vehicles going straight ahead should be treated as left turning vehicles with 20 percent left turns ((200/(550 + 200 + 250)) from an exclusive left turn lane. The 250 vehicles turning right should be treated normally, with 25 percent right turns ((250/(550 + 200 + 250)) from an exclusive right turn lane.

In **Figure 5-2**, all vehicles are turning from exclusive turn lanes at a T intersection. The 600 vehicles turning right is the predominant movement and should be considered through vehicles. The 400 vehicles turning left should be treated normally, which is to say there are 40 percent left turns (400/(400 + 600)) from an exclusive left turn lane.

In **Figure 5-3**, another T intersection is shown, featuring a shared left/through lane in addition to the predominant movement being served by the exclusive right lane. Normally a shared left/through lane does not have the same capacity as a through lane because of the effect of opposing vehicles blocking permitted left turns for the main movement. However, in this case, there is no opposing movement and the capacity of this shared lane is virtually the same as a typical through lane. In this situation, an analyst should enter one through lane and one shared through lane with 20 percent left turns ((200/(200 + 200 + 600)).

Figure 5-1 Predominant Turning Movement



Figure 5-2 Through Movement at a T Intersection with Exclusive Lanes



Figure 5-3 Through Movement at a T Intersection with Shared Lanes



5 TRAFFIC VARIABLES

PAGE 87

Page intentionally left blank.

6 CONTROL VARIABLES

The following Chapter provides an overview of each control variable used within the LOSPLAN software in order to allow the user to recognize these variations and analyze specific roadways. Where applicable, default and maximum values are provided.

Control variables refer to roadway or area traffic controls and regulations in effect for a roadway point or segment, including the type, phasing, and timing of traffic signals, STOP signs, lane use and turn controls, and other similar measures. In this Q/LOS Handbook, control variables refer to those regularly occurring at signalized intersections, unless otherwise noted. For uninterrupted flow facilities, such as freeways and rural multilane highways, LOS can readily be derived from the volume of vehicles and roadway capacity, and control variables are not applicable. For signalized roadways, however, volume to capacity ratios (v/c) are simply not sufficient to determine LOS, and control variables must also be considered. These include:

- Number of Signalized Intersections
- Arrival Type
- Signal Type
- Cycle Length
- Through Effective Green Ratio
- Exclusive Left Effective Green Ratio

Control variables refer to the type, phasing, and timing of traffic signals, STOP signs, lane use and turn controls, and other similar measures.

Default values should not be used as a part of a conceptual planning analysis for bolded values. **Table 6-1** provides an overview of the control variable inputrequirements within the Generalized Service Volume Tables and theLOSPLAN software.

Table 6-1Control Variable Input Requirements

	Innut Variabla	Generalized Service	ART	FREE	HIGHPLAN	
	input variable	Volume Tables	PLAN	PLAN	2-Lane	Multilane
SOL	Number of Signalized Intersections	D	F	-	-	-
	Arrival Type	D	S	-	-	-
	Signal Type	D	F	-	-	-
	Cycle Length (C)	D	S	-	-	-
CO	Through Effective Green Ratio (g/C)	D	S	-	-	-
	Exclusive Left Effective Green Ratio	D	S		-	

Legend: R Required table input

- S Segment/point specific
- D Default cannot be altered
- Not applicable
- F Facility specific

The effects that individual variables have on the computational process vary. **Table 6-2** indicates the sensitivity of the control variables on capacity and LOS. For control variables that have a high degree of sensitivity on service volumes (shown in **bold** on the first page of this chapter), default values should not be used as part of any conceptual planning analysis. ARTPLAN highlights these variables and requires analysts to provide specific values before the program calculates capacity and LOS.

Table 6-2Sensitivity of Control Variables on Service Volumes

Control Variables	Sensitivity on Service Volumes		
Number of Signalized Intersections	high		
Arrival Type	medium		
Signal Type	low		
Cycle Length (C)	medium		
Through Effective Green Ratio (g/C)	high		
Exclusive Left Effective Green Ratio	medium		

If FDOT's preferred processes for determining AADT, Standard K, D₂₀₀, and g/C values are followed, there will be no need for extensive field data collection for conceptual planning capacity/ LOS analyses. Traffic variables, including AADT, Standard K, and D₂₀₀ data should be obtained from FDOT's Florida Traffic Online. The truck or heavy vehicle factor from Florida Traffic Online should not be used for conceptual planning capacity/LOS analyses; instead, analysts should use the default values appearing on the back of the Generalized Service Volume Tables. Although turning movement counts at key intersections may be necessary, as discussed previously, FDOT does not recommend the use of travel time studies for LOS planning applications.

The Arterial Data Collection Worksheet (**found at the end of this handbook**) has proved helpful in FDOT sponsored LOS training courses. Analysts may find it useful to record collected traffic and control data on this sheet. Up-to-date aerial or satellite imagery may be sufficient for most of the data entry items. Signalization information is often available from the applicable traffic operations agency's signal timing plans. The applicable transit agency should be contacted for transit data. If FDOT's preferred processes for determining AADT, Standard K, D₂₀₀, and g/C values are followed, there will be no need for extensive field data collection for conceptual planning capacity/LOS analyses.

6.1. Number of Signalized Intersections

The cumulative effect of numerous traffic signals, lack of green time, and lack of effective signal progression often have a detrimental effect on LOS on arterials. An important feature of FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables is the inclusion of the number of signalized intersections on the determination of LOS.

The distance between signalized intersections is required to determine specific service volumes for a roadway. FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables use signalized intersections per mile as an input, and assume uniform spacing. While this spacing may be acceptable for an areawide analysis, precise distances between signalized intersections should be determined when an individual roadway is being analyzed at a conceptual planning level.

For analysis purposes, 100 feet between signalized intersections is considered the minimum distance. In situations where the actual distance is less than 100 feet (e.g., side streets with wide medians), it is reasonable to consider these together as one signalized intersection.

Roadway and traffic characteristics often change over time. The number of signalized intersections per mile is frequently the most significant change. As development takes place and an area becomes more urbanized, the number of signals per mile is likely to increase. LOS analysis of future conditions should therefore take into account changes in roadway and signalization characteristics.

For analysis purposes, 100 feet is considered the minimum distance between signalized intersections. To avoid double counting when determining the number of signalized intersections, only one intersection at the ends of the facility should be counted, as shown in **Figure 6-1**. In general, FDOT recommends including the last intersection within the analysis and ignoring the first, or entry, intersection. This allows the analysis to include the effects of delay, backup, and LOS from the last intersection for the facility under study.

Figure 6-1 Total Number of Signalized Intersections



For example, in southeast Florida, principal arterials are often spaced 1 mile apart, with other signalized intersections in between. In this situation, only one of the signalized intersections at the ends of the roadway, plus the signals in between, should be counted when determining the number of signalized intersections per mile. In general, the last intersection in the peak flow direction would be counted, ignoring the first intersection. Only one intersection at the ends of the facility should be counted.

6 CONTROL VARIABLES

As discussed previously, the arterial should begin and end at a signalized intersection. In unusual situations where this assumption is not applicable (e.g., lane drops, ramp junctions, etc.) the following guidance is provided:

- For the Generalized Service Volume Tables, do not count the unsignalized terminus as a signalized intersection
- For a conceptual planning analysis using ARTPLAN, treat the terminus as a signalized intersection with a g/C ratio of 1.00

As an example, consider a case where a four-lane arterial leads eastward out of an urbanized area, as shown in Figure 6-2. The western terminus is A Street. There are three signalized intersections east of A Street. However, the analysis extends 2.5 miles past the last signal as a four-lane road. At that point, the road tapers and becomes a two-lane facility. If using the Generalized Service Volume Tables, this roadway should be considered as having three signalized intersections. In ARTPLAN, however, the eastbound terminus should have a signalized intersection with a g/C of 1.00 (ARTPLAN needs to end at a signalized intersection).





In general, only fixed, periodic interruptions should be considered in determining the number of signalized intersections. Draw bridges, at-grade railroad crossings, school zones, pedestrian crossings, and median openings should not be counted. Depending on site specific conditions or analysis desired, there may be exceptions to this general guidance.

When using the Generalized Service Volume Tables, an intersection with a STOP sign for the through movement is considered a signalized intersection for a state signalized arterial. When analyzing a non-state signalized roadway the roadway must have at least one signalized intersection. When using ARTPLAN, an unsignalized intersection should be treated as a signalized intersection with a through g/C no greater than 0.40.

6.2. Arrival Type

Arrival Type is a general categorization of quality of signal progression. The HCM defines six Arrival Types, with 1 representing the worst progression quality and 6 representing the best. Uncoordinated operation, or random arrivals, is represented by 3 and is appropriate for actuated signals. Arrival Type 4 is FDOT's default for coordinated signal systems. More favorable progression (5 or 6) may be appropriate when progression design strongly favors the peak direction of travel and all the signals are coordinated for the length of the facility. One-way facilities tend to have better quality progression than two-way facilities. A higher level of progression may also be appropriate around freeway interchanges where signals are typically highly coordinated. Arrival type may vary significantly from one signal to the next, even in coordinated signal systems. Coordinated signals have varying g/C ratios, with breaks between groups of coordinated signals.

The assumption of very good progression in one direction does not imply efficient progression in the other direction. Even with less traffic volume, off peak direction speeds could be lower if favorable progression has been established for the peak direction only. Only fixed, periodic interruptions should be considered in determining the number of signalized intersections.

Arrival type is a general categorization of the quality of signal progression.

6.3. Signal Type

The signal type indicates the degree to which a traffic signal's cycle length, phase plan, and phase times are preset or actuated. Three main types are:

- Actuated
- Coordinated-Actuated
- Pretimed

It should be noted that modern traffic signals can handle multiple settings and can vary by time of day. Consequently, a traffic signal's operation (actuated, coordinated-actuated, or pretimed) can change by time of day to best meet traffic demands.

6.3.1. Actuated

Actuated, or fully actuated signals, use vehicle detection for all signal phases on both the main and side street approaches. Each phase is subject to a minimum and maximum green time, and some phases may be skipped if there is no demand for the phase. The length of the green time observed in the field generally depends upon the amount of vehicular demand for the phase. If there is little demand, then a relatively short green time will be allocated to the phase. If there is significant demand, a relatively long green time will be allocated, subject to the maximum green time for that phase. The minimum and maximum green times for each phase can be easily changed by entering new values into the traffic signal controller.

Since phases can be skipped, and the amount of green time for each phase generally depends upon demand, the cycle length will often vary substantially from cycle to cycle. The exception occurs during periods of heavy vehicular demand, when all phases consistently reach their maximum values, making it seem as if the cycle length is fixed. Actuated signal operations are most frequently used when the signalized intersection is isolated, or when there is a desire to minimize delay without concern for progression.

Actuated, or fully actuated signals, use vehicle detection for all signal phases present at the intersection.

6.3.2. Coordinated-Actuated

A subset of actuated control is referred to as **coordinated-actuated control**. In this type of signal operation, the cycle length is typically fixed while the amount of green time for the main street through phase varies. It consists of a minimum amount of green time plus any unused time from the minor phases. Holding the main street green in this manner at all of the signals along a facility allows platoons of vehicles to move relatively unimpeded along the main street with decent progression. Coordinated-actuated signal operations are typically used in Florida's developed areas, especially during peak travel times. This type of operation typically offers the best balance of capacity and progression for the main street through movement.

6.3.3. Pretimed

Pretimed signals use a preset sequence of phase times in a repetitive order and make no use of vehicle detection. Each phase is green for a fixed period of time, irrespective of vehicular demand, and none of the phases can be skipped. Thus, cycle length is fixed. This type of signal operation is most frequently used in downtown areas with high signal density, or when the desire is to maximize progression without extensive concern about maximizing capacity for the through movement.

6.4. Cycle Length

Cycle length (C) is the total time for a signal to complete a sequence of signal indications for all traffic movements. For actuated signals, the cycle length may vary depending on side street traffic, up to a maximum value. As used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, the cycle length represents this maximum cycle length. Coordinated-actuated refers to fixed-cycle signal control of an intersection in which the through movement on the designated main roadway gets the unused green time from side movements.

Pretimed signals use a preset sequence of phase times in a repetitive order and make no use of vehicle detection.

Cycle length (C) is the time it takes a traffic signal to go through one complete sequence of signal indications. The effective green ratio (g/C) is the ratio of the effective green time (g) for the through movement to the total cycle length (C).

Weighted g/C is the average of the critical intersection's through g/C and the average of all the other signalized intersections' through g/Cs along the arterial facility.

6.5. Effective Green Ratio (g/C)

One of the most significant variables used in calculating highway capacity and LOS on a signalized roadway is the through movement's effective green time to signal cycle length ratio (g/C). g/C is the amount of time allocated for the through movement (typically calculated as the green plus yellow plus all red indication times less the lost time) divided by the cycle length. Along with the number of through lanes, it is usually one of the two most important factors for determining the capacity of a roadway's through movement at any given intersection and for the roadway as a whole. Despite this, for generalized and conceptual planning analyses, g/C is often ignored. There may be many reasons for this:

- g/Cs typically vary from intersection to intersection along an arterial
- g/Cs typically vary by time of day
- Planning staff often ignore signal operations

Ignoring g/C undermines any arterial LOS analysis at a generalized planning or conceptual planning level. For this reason, guidance is needed to provide default g/Cs for generalized planning arterial analyses and to determine g/Cs at a conceptual planning level.

A major simplifying assumption that is essential to the development of the Generalized Service Volume Tables is the selection of a single g/C for all intersections on an arterial. FDOT has determined that for generalized planning analyses, the weighted effective green ratio yields the closest results to actual conditions. The **weighted g/C** of an arterial is the average of the sum of the critical intersection's through g/C with the average of the other intersections' through g/ Cs. Essentially the worst intersection is given equal weight to all the other intersections combined. The weighted g/C approach is also used in ARTPLAN to give an analyst or reviewer a warning whether or not accurate g/Cs are being used for the arterial. A warning is issued if the weighted g/C value exceeds 0.5. In conceptual planning applications, however, signal specific g/Cs should be used, not a weighted g/C. As an example, for the through movement phase, G is the green displayed time, Y the yellow displayed time (typically 3 or 4 seconds), R the all red indication (typically 1 or 2 seconds), and C the cycle length. The most representative situation in Florida is for cycles to consist of four phases and 12 indications: one phase each to accommodate the main road through movement, the side road left movement, the side road through movement, and the main road left movement, with G, Y, and R indications for each of the four phases. g refers to the effective green time which includes the effects of vehicular start up and clearance lost times (I1, I2).

FDOT's preferred approach for g/C determination for current year analyses is to use the actual signal timing plan from the traffic operations agency for the PM peak hour (typically 5-6 p.m.) for each signalized intersection. This approach offers a consistent and costeffective approach while providing reasonable accuracy. If the signal is actuated, (G + 4)/C should be used for the through movement. This assumes the typical Y + R time of 4 seconds as additional time allocated to the through movement as a result of unused time from the other movements. If the signal is pretimed, the g/C for the through movement should be used.

For consistency and ease of review, FDOT recommends the use of signal timing plans from the applicable traffic operations agency. The process of determining g/C for both the through movement and the left turn movement is illustrated in **Figure 6-3**.

Figure 6-3 Example Signal Timing Plan and g/C Calculation



Analysts should be aware that signal timing plans come in a variety of forms, use many notations, and are not designed to directly address the determination of g/C. In fact, it may be necessary to coordinate with the operating agency directly in order to interpret the output values. When requesting the signal timing plan, the analyst should specify that only the 5-6 p.m. weekday time period is desired. However, even with the signal timing plan in hand, it is often necessary to confirm the actual splits in the field.

Analysts should calculate and input g/C for the through movement at all intersections. g/C for left turning movements need only be collected at any major intersections. A 10 percent value can be assumed as the left g/C for other intersections.

PAGE **100**

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

In previous FDOT guidance, FDOT offered two other methods for determining g/C:

- actual signal timings from the traffic operations agency
- field studies

Both approaches have some merit; however, after FDOT analyzed and tested both approaches, the preferred approach of using signal timing plans in general offers the best combination of consistency, accuracy, and cost-effectiveness. The use of field studies for g/C is discouraged unless early agreement by affected parties is reached.

The maximum acceptable facility through movement effective green ratios (g/C) during the peak hour typically should not exceed:

- State principal arterials
 - Current year 0.50
 - Long term (\geq 10 years out) 0.47
- Other roadways 0.44

Under most circumstances, arterial facilities are 1.5 - 5.0 miles in length and include principal arterials as terminus points. The g/C value of 0.50 approximates FDOT's maximum allowable arterial capacity volumes of 1,000 vphpl and 950 vphpl in large urbanized areas and other urbanized areas, respectively.

Through movement g/Cs vary widely for individual intersections and different hours of the day. Therefore, ARTPLAN's acceptable g/C range for individual intersections is 0.1 to 1.0. Along principal arterials it is not unusual for the arterial to have g/C ratios in the 0.5 to 0.7 range at many intersections. However, as the analysis length increases from an individual intersection to a segment, to a section, and on to a facility, the probability that the arterial intersects other arterials increases. Furthermore, when two principal arterials intersect, the g/Cs for the through movements are in the range of about 0.40. To reflect these wide ranges in g/C values and upper limits of a facility g/C ratio, ARTPLAN allows individual intersections to have a g/C ratio of up to 1.0, but it provides warnings and messages if the facility weighted g/C exceeds a value of 0.50. Page intentionally left blank.
7 MULTIMODAL VARIABLES

The following Chapter provides an overview of each multimodal variable used within the LOSPLAN software in order to allow the user to recognize these variations and analyze multimodal LOS on specific roadways. Where applicable, generally acceptable ranges are provided.

Multimodal variables describe the various geometric and demand characteristics that are needed to determine pedestrian, bicycle, and bus LOS. As with the control variables, multimodal variables are only applicable for arterial analyses:

Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane

- Outside Lane Width
- Pavement Condition
- Sidewalk
- Sidewalk/Roadway Separation
- Sidewalk Protective Barrier
- Bus Frequency
- Bus Stop Amenities
- Bus Stop Type
- Passenger Loads

Default values should not be used as a part of a conceptual planning analysis for bolded values.
 Table 7-1 provides an overview of the multimodal variable input
 requirements within the Generalized Service Volume Tables and the LOSPLAN software.

Table 7-1 **Multimodal Variable Input Requirements**

Innut Variable	Generalized Service	ART	FREE PLAN	HIGHPLAN	
input variable	Volume Tables	PLAN		2-Lane	Multilane
Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane	R	S	-	-	-
Outside Lane Width	D	S	-	-	-
Pavement Condition	D	S	-	-	-
Sidewalk	R	S	-	-	-
Sidewalk/Roadway Separation	D	S	-	-	-
Sidewalk/Roadway Protective Barrier	D	S	-	-	-
Bus Frequency	R	S	-	-	-
Bus Stop Amenities	D	S	-	-	-
Bus Stop Type	D	S	-	-	-
Passenger Loads	D	S	-	-	-

Legend:

- R Required table input
- S Segment/point specific D Default cannot be altered
- Not applicable
- F Facility specific

The effects that individual variables have on the computational process vary. Table 7-2 indicates the sensitivity of the multimodal variables on capacity and LOS. For multimodal variables that have a high degree of sensitivity on service volumes (shown in **bold** on the first page of this chapter), default values should not be used as part of a conceptual planning analysis. ARTPLAN highlights these variables and requires analysts to provide specific values before calculating capacity and LOS.

PAGE 104

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

Table 7-2Sensitivity of Multimodal Variables on Service Volumes

Multimodal Variables	Sensitivity on Service Volumes	
Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane	high	
Outside Lane Width	low	
Pavement Condition	low	
Sidewalk	high	
Sidewalk/Roadway Separation	medium	
Sidewalk/Roadway Protective Barrier	medium	
Bus Frequency	high	
Bus Stop Amenities	low	
Bus Stop Type	low	
Passenger Loads	low	

7.1. Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane

Within this Q/LOS Handbook, a bicycle lane is a designated or undesignated (paved shoulder) portion of a roadway for bicycles adjacent to motorized vehicle lanes. Painted lines separate paved shoulders/bicycle lanes from motorized vehicle lanes.

For planning purposes, a **designated bicycle lane** is usually 4 to 5 feet in width, and includes a bicycle logo. An **undesignated bicycle lane** is usually 4 feet in width and does not contain a bicycle logo. To be considered a paved shoulder/bicycle lane, at least 3 feet of paved shoulder must exist outside the painted line. Facilities with striped shoulders between 1 and 3 feet should be considered as having wide outside lane widths. In ARTPLAN, the assumed width of a paved shoulder/bicycle lane is 5 feet.

To be considered a paved shoulder/ bicycle lane, at least 3 feet of paved shoulder must exist outside the painted line.

A designated bicycle lane is a lane, usually 4 to 5 feet in width, that includes a bicycle logo.

An undesignated bicycle lane usually 4 feet in width and does not contain a bicycle logo.

Outside lane width is the width, in feet, of a roadway's motorized vehicle through lane closest to the edge of pavement.

Wide curb lanes are 14-foot outside lanes.

7.2. Outside Lane Width

Within this Q/LOS Handbook, **outside lane width** is the width, in feet, of a roadway's outside motorized vehicle through lane, not including the gutter. This factor is usually important in the determination of a roadway's bicycle LOS. The majority of the State Highway System lane widths are 12 feet. Many local roads and some state highways have 14-foot outside lanes; these are sometimes referred to as **wide curb lanes**. Many other local roads and some state facilities have outside lane widths less than 12 feet.

The dimensions indicated below are for planning analyses only:

- Wide greater than or equal to 13.5 feet, with 14 feet being the assumed value in ARTPLAN;
- Typical greater than or equal to 11 feet and less than 13.5 feet, with 12 being the assumed value in ARTPLAN; and
- Narrow less than 11 feet, with 10 feet being the assumed value in ARTPLAN.

ARTPLAN assumes that if the outside lane width is 12 feet or greater, the inside lane(s) is 12 feet. If the outside lane is less than 12 feet, the inside lane(s) should be the same as the outside lane.

Figure 7-1 Outside Lane Width



PAGE 106

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

7.3. Pavement Condition

Pavement condition for bicycle LOS analysis is a general classification of the roadway surface where bicycling usually occurs, not necessarily that which drivers of motorized vehicles experience. Three general classifications are used: desirable, typical, and undesirable. These general classifications are used in lieu of detailed pavement surface grades found in the operational model on which this planning technique is based.

- Desirable pavement condition is new or recently resurfaced pavement. The pavement still maintains a dark black color, is free of cracks, and rides smoothly.
- Typical pavement condition is the most common type of pavement condition of Florida's roadways. Generally, the pavement has a light gray color, the surface appears worn, and may have some cracks; however, the ride for the bicyclist is fairly smooth.
- Undesirable pavement condition consists of pavement with noticeable cracks, broken pavement, or ruts. There may be existing or partially filled potholes, or drainage grates hazardous to bicycles. When the bicycle riding surface contains loose dirt, gravel, or debris, even if the roadway surface is typical or desirable, then it would be considered undesirable.

In general, FDOT recommends the use of a typical pavement condition for most analyses, especially those involving future years.

For analysts familiar with FHWA's PAVECON factors, desirable would equate to a 4.5 or 5.0 rating; typical would equate to 3.0 to 4.0 ratings, and undesirable would equate to 2.5 or less. The ARTPLAN software assumes a 4.5 rating for desirable, 3.5 for typical, and 2.5 for undesirable.

Pavement condition is the general classification of the roadway surface where bicycling generally occurs. A sidewalk is a paved walkway for pedestrians at the side of a roadway.

Paved roadway shoulders are not considered sidewalks.

7.4. Sidewalk

Within this Q/LOS Handbook, a **sidewalk** is a paved walkway for pedestrians at the side of a roadway, typically 5 feet in width. Paved roadway shoulders are not considered sidewalks. Since LOS analyses are directional, the existence of a sidewalk is based on the directional side of the arterial being analyzed.

Sidewalk/Roadway Separation

Sidewalk/roadway separation is the lateral distance in feet from the outside edge of pavement to the inside edge of the sidewalk.

Within this Q/LOS Handbook, sidewalk/roadway separation is classified in three ways, as shown in **Figure 7-2**:

- Adjacent less than or equal to 3.0 feet
- **Typical** greater than 3.0 and less than or equal to 8.0 feet
- Wide greater than 8.0 feet

In general, pedestrians tend to walk towards the outer half of sidewalks, away from traffic. ARTPLAN makes the assumption that pedestrians walk 4 feet from the inside edge of the sidewalk.

Figure 7-2 Sidewalk/Roadway Separation



Table 7-3 provides the assumed ARTPLAN separation distances for pedestrians walking on sidewalks (pedestrian/sidewalk/roadway separation).

Table 7-3 ARTPLAN Assumed Sidewalk/Roadway Separation Distances

Pedestrian/Sidewalk/Roadway Separation Distances	Sidewalk/Roadway Separation Classification		
6 feet	Adjacent		
10 feet	Typical		
15 feet	Wide		

In downtown environments, sidewalks frequently extend at least 8 feet from the curb. In situations where there are no tree plantings or other sidewalk/roadway protective barriers, sidewalks should be classified as adjacent. When there are tree plantings or some other barrier between where people walk and the outside edge of the travel lane, sidewalks are assumed to have typical separation.

In situations where on-street parking and sidewalks both exist, the sidewalk/roadway separation should be considered wide, regardless of how close the sidewalk is to the edge of pavement. Essentially, on-street parking adds approximately 8 additional feet between pedestrians and motorized vehicles.

7.5. Sidewalk Protective Barrier

In addition to sidewalk width, this Q/LOS Handbook also adds an overall **sidewalk protective barrier** factor to include the added benefits of trees, on-street parking, or other barriers. In ARTPLAN, the analyst simply states whether or not a barrier exists. ARTPLAN assumes that these barriers have the equivalent of a 1.5-fold impact on sidewalk/roadway separation. For example, if a row of trees exists along a roadway in which the sidewalk/roadway separation is typical (sidewalk distance from the outside edge of pavement is 6 feet), then the effect of the trees is the equivalent separation distance of 9 feet from the edge of the outside lane. In situations where on-street parking and sidewalks both exist, the sidewalk/roadway separation should be considered wide, regardless of how close the sidewalk is to the edge of pavement.

The sidewalk protective barrier factor is a factor that includes the added benefits of trees, onstreet parking, or other barriers.



7 MULTIMODAL VARIABLES

PAGE 109

Bus frequency is the number of buses which have a potential to stop on a given segment in one direction of flow in a one hour time period.

Bus stop amenities are enhancements for comfort or safety that can greatly influence perceived quality of service along a route.

7.6. Bus Frequency

Bus frequency, also known as headway, refers to the number of scheduled fixed route buses which have a potential to stop on a given roadway segment in one direction of flow in a one-hour time period. Express buses with no potential of stopping along a roadway are not included.

7.7. Bus Stop Amenities

The bus stop is often the first component of any transit system that a passenger will encounter, and available amenities for comfort or safety can greatly influence perceived quality of service along a route. Rather than quantify all potential bus stop components, this Q/LOS Handbook creates four categories of **bus stop amenities**: excellent, good, fair, and poor. Having shelter from the weather and a place to sit is the most desirable condition at any bus stop, regardless of type, and is considered an excellent condition. A shelter without a bench represents a good condition, as rain, wind, and sun could otherwise deter choice riders. A bench only is less desirable than a stop with a shelter only, and is considered a fair condition. Finally, a bus stop with no bench and no shelter is considered a poor condition. Because excellent bus stops may improve a user's perception of the system, the bus stop amenity factor is used to increase the adjusted bus frequency value. Bus stops with no amenities are uninviting and discourage use, and the variable is therefore used to decrease the adjusted bus frequency value, as shown in Table 7-4.

Table 7-4 Bus Stop Amenity Factors

Bus Stop Amenities	Adjustment Factor
Excellent	1.1
Good	1.0
Fair	1.0
Poor	0.9

7.8. Bus Stop Type

Bus travel speed depends not only on distances and congestion along the route, but also the number of stops and the dwell time at each stop. Typical bus stops delay a bus for around 15 seconds, while major stations with numerous boardings and alightings can add around 35 seconds of delay.

7.9. Passenger Loads

Just as traffic congestion contributes to the degradation of level of service, crowding on buses can also impact quality of service. Because overcrowded buses may reduce the overall desirability of a route, a **passenger load factor** is used to modify the adjusted bus frequency value, as shown in **Table 7-5**.

Table 7-5 Passenger Load Factor

Passenger Load Factor	Adjustment Factor
< 30%	1.05
< 70%	1.00
≤ 100%	0.95
> 100%	0.85

The passenger load factor is a factor used to determine the adjusted bus frequency value by applying a factor commensurate to the level of passenger crowding. Page intentionally left blank.

8 FUTURE YEAR ANALYSES

Traffic and development conditions change on roadways over time. This raises questions as to what input values, analysis tools, and LOS standards should be used for capacity/LOS analyses in future years. Analysis years and planning horizons vary appreciably in transportation planning. To aid in understanding and for simplification in this text, long term means 10 or more years from the current year, and short term means less than 10 years from the current year. However, for a specific application, FDOT District LOS Coordinators should be consulted for more detailed guidance.

For development reviews, FDOT's LOS standards and area types remain effective throughout the project's planning horizon. For example, in FDOT's review of a proposed multi-phase development, the same standards and area types would be used regardless of the amount of development anticipated over time. The only time the applicable standards may change is when the development order conditions provide for a reevaluation of transportation impacts for subsequent phases of development. The change in LOS standards may result from an official change in designation (e.g., Census update, rule change, variance).

For future year analyses, it is also important to consider changes in appropriate roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal characteristics, as discussed in the following sections. For example, under existing conditions in a transitioning area, signalization may be very infrequent; however, as development occurs more signalized intersections can be anticipated and should be accounted for in future year capacity/LOS analyses. Long term means 10 or more years, and short term means less than 10 years from the current year.

8.1. Change in Traffic Variables

8.1.1. AADT

Historical growth trends and the state's travel demand forecasting models are typically used for long term traffic projections. Analysts and reviewers of capacity and LOS analyses need to agree on what future AADT values to use.

For site impact analyses, volumes are frequently presented in terms of trips generated by the site rather than roadway-specific AADT, K, and D values. ITE's Trip Generation Handbook is typically used for trip generation for site impact analyses; however, FDOT should be consulted about supplemental material. In all cases, care should be given to ensure final values are compatible with statewide Standard K and D_{200} factors.

8.1.2. Planning Analysis Hour Factor (K)

As areas become more developed, measured K values often drop, primarily for two reasons. The first is that more urban situations typically are not subject to highly volatile volumes like holiday traffic in rural areas. Generally, more developed areas are subject to frequent recurring volumes such as weekday commuter traffic. The second is that as congestion develops, spreading of the peak travel hour traffic also occurs. Refer to **Section 5.3** for Standard K values used in LOSPLAN by facility type.

For future year generalized planning analyses, the Standard K values for the assumed area and facility types found on the back of FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables are appropriate. In the longer term, it may be necessary to determine if the area is projected to transition into a different area type over the analysis period.

8.1.3. Directional Distribution Factor (D)

For future year generalized planning analyses, the typical demand D value for all area and facility types is 0.55. If a site-specific analysis is being conducted in the short term, FDOT's preferred approach is to use the Demand D_{200} from Florida Traffic Online. In the longer term, some lowering of the D_{200} factor may be appropriate. However, in no circumstance should it fall below the statewide minimum of 0.51.

For future year analysis, the typical demand D value for all area and facility types is 0.55.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

8.2. Change in Control Variables

Making traffic and roadway projections into the future is wellaccepted practice for generalized and conceptual planning analyses. However, control projections are rarely performed. For reasonable generalized and conceptual planning analyses of signalized roadways, control variables must be addressed both in the short term and in the long term. Typically, the two most important control variables are the through movement effective green to cycle length ratio (g/C) and signal density.

8.2.1. g/C

Determining current and future g/Cs for a roadway is complicated and judgments must be made.

In the short and long terms:

- For Class II arterials, continued use of existing g/Cs is appropriate
- For Class I arterials not subject to significant development pressure, continued use of existing g/Cs is appropriate
- For Class I arterials incurring significant new development pressure, it is appropriate to lower through movement g/Cs
- For new individual signals, through movement g/Cs will vary greatly; however, for planning purposes none should be assumed to be higher than 0.55

Within ARTPLAN, an acceptable way to project g/C ratios in the long term is by assuming a through g/C of 0.40 at all major intersections (typically state arterials) and 0.55 at other intersections. This is based on an assumption that each of the major arterial facilities receives an equal amount of green time for their approaches, minus the green time for accommodating left turning vehicles. Corresponding left and right turn percentages for each are 15 percent at major intersections, and 5 percent at other intersections.

Within HCS, an acceptable way to estimate future g/C ratios is by conducting intersection capacity analyses. HCS will determine the required g/C ratios to progress through traffic movements on the major street, while simultaneously minimizing delay to the minor street approaches.

The two most important control variables are the through movement effective green to cycle length ratio (g/C) and signal density.

8.2.2. Signal Density

As areas grow in population, additional traffic signals are frequently installed. Usually these new signals do not significantly affect the capacity of roadways unless they are in a previously undeveloped area, or are so closely spaced that queue spillback occurs. They can play a major role in the determination of LOS if stops occur more frequently and average travel speeds drop.

In both short and long term analyses, it is appropriate to consider the probability of new traffic signals, especially based on proposed new developments. In the absence of specific development plans or intersecting traffic volume cross-product signalization criteria, general guidance should be used in developed areas.

In the short term:

- For Class II arterials, continued use of existing signalized intersection locations is appropriate
- For Class I arterials not subject to significant development pressure, continued use of existing signalized intersection locations is appropriate
- For Class I arterials incurring significant new development pressure, one additional signalized intersection per mile may be assumed

In the long term:

- For Class II arterials, one additional signalized intersection per mile may be assumed
- For Class I in small towns one additional signalized intersection per mile may be assumed

Because of the wide variety of circumstances along generally uninterrupted flow highways in rural areas, no specific guidance can be given on future signal locations. However, for capacity/LOS purposes, the possibility of new signalized intersections should be considered.

Because of the importance of signal density on LOS on state roadways, for site impact applications, the number of new signals should be reviewed and approved by the FDOT district prior to use in an analysis. Typically, other roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal variables do not have as large of an effect on capacity/LOS as the ones addressed above. If some of these other inputs (i.e., turning movement percentages) were determined in a current year analysis, they can usually be applied to future year analyses. If these other variables were not determined for a current year analysis, the statewide default values appearing on the back of the Generalized Service Volume Tables may be assumed.

8.3. Evaluation Tools

Travel demand forecasting models, the HCM and accompanying HCS software, and simulation tools are widely used for future year analyses. FDOT's LOSPLAN software programs were also developed to address LOS in future years, and are therefore appropriate for use. In Florida, concerns have arisen about the use or misuse of capacity/LOS software for planning applications in future years. In most situations, the basis for concern is not the tools themselves, but the assumptions and subsequent input values used in application of the tools.

In Florida, FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables are almost universally accepted for generalized planning purposes. Because of uncertainty in traffic and signal control conditions in future years they become more applicable as they do not imply a great deal of numerical precision.

FDOT's LOSPLAN software programs are specifically applicable and are typically the most appropriate tool to conduct conceptual planning capacity/LOS analyses in future years. It is imperative that appropriate assumptions and input values be used in the programs based on the guidance provided in the previous sections this Q/LOS Handbook. Page intentionally left blank.

9 MAXIMUM ACCEPTABLE CAPACITY VOLUMES

Use of highway capacity and LOS tools, whether applied appropriately or not, has resulted in projected traffic volumes beyond normal capacity ranges found on Florida facilities. There are multiple reasons for this, but to aid analysts and reviewers on what capacity values will normally be acceptable, FDOT has adopted a set of general guidelines. The values provided below are based on site-specific freeway studies and counts, as well as arterial maximum acceptable g/C ratios. To aid the user, FDOT's LOSPLAN programs automatically check capacity and provide warnings and messages if acceptable capacities are exceeded. (Note: Under most circumstances, the maximum service volume for LOS E equals capacity).

9.1. Arterials

For arterial facilities, the maximum generally acceptable per lane approach volumes are as follows:

- Large urbanized 1,000 vehicles per hour per lane (vphpl)
- Other urbanized 950 vphpl
- Transitioning 920 vphpl
- Urban 920 vphpl
- Rural 850 vphpl

Note: arterial segments and sections may have higher values.

The maximum volumes shown represent a weighted g/C of approximately 0.50, which is the average of the critical g/C and the average of all other g/Cs along an arterial facility. Typically there will be at least one principal arterial intersecting an arterial being analyzed. Such intersections are usually the critical intersections (hot spots) for an arterial analysis, and g/C ratios for the through movements are in the range of about 0.40. Although these intersections are frequently flared out to achieve greater capacity, the through movement g/C ratios cannot increase appreciably if all intersection movements are included. Therefore, the use of a 0.50 g/C ratio for determining the capacity of an arterial should represent the upper bounds of what can be reasonably expected. Under most circumstances, the maximum service volume for LOS E equals capacity. Arterial facility analyses typically involve intersecting principal arterials, but section analyses may not. Under these circumstances, arterial through movements during peak travel hours may feature g/C ratios in the 0.50 to 0.60 range. Such values may be appropriate for segment or section analyses; however, use of such high g/C ratios is not normally acceptable for a facility analysis and may represent inappropriate segmentation of roadways.

Another situation in which g/C ratios may be above 0.50 is in the outlying parts of urbanized areas or in transitioning areas for both arterials and generally uninterrupted flow highways. In these areas, signals have typically been recently installed, and side traffic has not yet reached the high levels that it will in future years. Therefore, although current maximum volumes per lane may be higher than those shown above, in the future, such values will likely not be sustained and should be avoided in the arterial analysis.

9.2. Freeways

For freeway facilities and sections, the maximum generally acceptable volumes are as follows:

- Large urbanized 2,100 vphpl (1,900 vphpl if oversaturated)
- Other urbanized 2,000 vphpl (1,900 vphpl if oversaturated)
- Transitioning 1,900 vphpl
- Urban 1,800 vphpl
- Rural 1,800 vphpl

Ramp metering and extension of acceleration/deceleration lanes are two operational freeway characteristics within FREEPLAN that may result in volumes higher than those shown above.

In general, implementation of ramp metering and extension of acceleration/deceleration lanes will have a 5 percent or less improvement on capacity. No special consideration is given to those two types of possible improvements in the maximum generally acceptable volume per lane values shown above.

Ramp metering and extension of acceleration/ deceleration lanes will have a 5 percent or less improvement on capacity.

PAGE **120**

9.3. Highways

For highway segments (generally uninterrupted flow highways), the maximum generally acceptable per lane approach volumes are as follows:

- Two-lane
 - Developed 1,650 vphpl
 - Undeveloped 1,500 vphpl
- Multilane
 - Developed 1,850 vphpl
 - Undeveloped 1,600 vphpl

Maximum volumes for highway segments may vary due to widely varying effective green to cycle length ratios (g/C), turning movements at intersections, and the segmentation of roadways.

9.4. Approval of Higher Capacities

Although LOSPLAN should serve as the primary analysis tool, FDOT will accept HCS operational analyses if they are appropriate to supplement LOSPLAN analyses. However, a separate check of HCS results to ensure they do not exceed the maximum volumes must be conducted. The HCS capacity results and other LOS threshold values should be adjusted to meet Florida's maximum acceptable capacity volumes. Of special note is the HCS freeway analysis methodology. Applying the HCM directly often results in higher volumes than typically seen on Florida and other U.S. freeways. If FDOT allows a different analytical tool to supplement LOSPLAN analyses, the results of those tools also should be checked to ensure they do not exceed the Florida maximum acceptable capacity volumes.

FDOT Districts and Central Office are expected to routinely reject analyses with higher facility volumes than shown above. Nevertheless, properly conducted highway capacity and LOS analyses may occasionally indicate capacities higher than the maximum acceptable capacity values. If the facility being analyzed is not part of the SIS, FDOT District LOS Coordinators have the authority to approve higher volumes if they believe such volumes are representative of specific roadway conditions. However, they are under no obligation to do so, and may routinely submit these analyses to the FDOT's Central Office LOS Unit for review. If the analysis is for a SIS facility, FDOT districts are expected to seek concurrence with the Central Office LOS Unit before approving such high capacity volumes. Only an FDOT district may submit a request to the Central Office LOS unit for approval of higher volumes.

Additionally, demand volumes, not measured volumes, should be used to determine volume to capacity (v/c) ratios. Furthermore, capacity analysis is based on hourly time periods, such that daily volume to capacity ratios are meaningless and should not be used.

Demand volumes, not measured volumes, should be used to determine volume to capacity (v/c) ratios.

10 FLORIDA'S LOS STANDARDS FOR THE STATE

It is the Department's intent to plan, design, and operate the State Highway System at an acceptable level of service for the traveling public. Level of service standards for the State Highway System during peak travel hours are D in urbanized areas and C outside urbanized areas. For additional information, refer to FDOT's Procedure on Level of Service Standards and Highway Capacity Analysis for the State Highway System (Topic No. 525-000-006).

10.1. Application of Standards

The use of standard LOS is intended to promote public safety and general welfare, ensure the mobility of people and goods, and preserve the facilities on the State Highway System. The standards are to be applied to FDOT's planning activities. Unless otherwise provided by law, the minimum LOS standards for the State Highway System will be used by FDOT in review of local government comprehensive plans, assessing impacts related to developments of regional impact (DRI), and assessing other developments affecting the State Highway System.

The standards require all LOS determinations be based on the latest edition of the HCM, this FDOT Q/LOS Handbook or a methodology determined by FDOT as having comparable reliability. There are only two FDOT supported highway capacity and LOS analysis tools for generalized and conceptual planning: FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables and FDOT's LOSPLAN software. These two tools form the core for all FDOT's highway capacity and LOS analyses and reviews in planning stages.

10.1.1. Area Type

The area and roadway types in the LOS standards match well with FDOT's Generalized Service Volume Tables appearing at the end of this Q/LOS Handbook; however, subtleties exist on delineation of areas, as discussed in **Chapter 4**.

While the standards are applicable at the facility and section levels, there may be small lengths of roadways (e.g., 2 miles) between area types that from a logical and analytical perspective should be combined into one area type or another. This situation typically happens in transitioning areas, but may also occur elsewhere. FDOT District LOS Coordinators should be consulted for applicable boundaries within their districts. Urban State Highway System LOS Standard = LOS D

Outside Urban Areas = LOS C

PAGE 123

10.1.2. Future Years

For development reviews, FDOT's LOS standards and area types remain effective throughout the project's planning horizon. For example, in FDOT's review of a proposed multi-phase development the same standards and area types would be used regardless of the amount of development anticipated over time. The only time the applicable standards may change is when the development order conditions provide for a reevaluation of transportation impacts for subsequent phases of development. The change in LOS standards may result from an official change in designation (e.g., Census update, rule change, variance).

10.1.3. Signalized Intersection Analysis

The logical extension of applying the LOS standards to point analyses is to apply the applicable standards to the through movement of the roadway. For example, for a site impact analysis, if the LOS standard for an arterial is D, then the through movement at the intersection should also be D. However, while sound in concept, it is usually possible to achieve a desired LOS for an intersection approach if the other approaches are ignored. Therefore, if an operational analysis of a signalized intersection is part of a planning study, the operational analysis should be conducted with HCS for the entire intersection with appropriate traffic volumes and other inputs for each approach. No intersection approach should fall below its established LOS standard. If there is no LOS standard, the approach should not have a volume to capacity ratio in excess of 1.0 for the full hour. The segment and the relevant intersection approaches must operate at acceptable levels of service. Other techniques exist for analyzing signalized intersections in planning studies, so District LOS Coordinators should be consulted for specific techniques and acceptable values in their districts.

If a detailed point analysis is performed, the applicant must demonstrate ample left turn storage. Any actual turning movement counts can only be used to determine the percentage of the approach turning left, not the actual number of turning vehicles as this number can be constrained and not representative of a demand volume.

10.1.4. Standard K

Standard K is the primary planning analysis hour factor used in Florida. Unless otherwise noted, all references in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying LOSPLAN software to a planning analysis hour or K factor refer to Standard K. The use of Standard K represents a design approach in which the K factor for a roadway is established from planning through design. The updated LOSPLAN software automatically enters the correct Standard K value based on the selected area and facility type, using the following values:

- Urbanized and transitioning areas (all facility types) 0.090
- Large urbanized 0.080-0.090
- Urban
 - Freeways 0.105
 - Highways 0.090
 - Arterials 0.090
- Rural developed and rural undeveloped
 - Freeways 0.105
 - Highways 0.095
 - Arterials 0.095

Refer to **Section 5.3** for additional information related to the use of Standard K.

All references in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying LOSPLAN software to a planning analysis hour or K factor refer to Standard K. Page intentionally left blank.

11 GENERALIZED PLANNING ANALYSIS

11.1. Introduction

Generalized planning is a broad type of planning application that includes statewide analyses, initial problem identification, and future year analyses. Generalized planning is applicable when the desire is for a quick, "in the ballpark" estimate of LOS, and makes extensive use of default values. Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables found at the end of this Q/LOS Handbook are the primary analysis tool in conducting this type of planning analysis.

Specific applications of the Generalized Service Volume Tables (Service Volume Tables 1 through 9) include:

- Generalized comprehensive plan amendment analyses
- Statewide highway system deficiencies and needs
- Statewide mobility performance measure (e.g., delay) reporting
- Areawide (e.g., MPO boundaries) baseline capacity and service volume values for travel demand forecasting models
- Areawide (e.g., impact areas) influence areas for major developments
- Future year analyses (e.g., 10-year planning horizon)
- Threshold evaluations for roadway concurrency management programs (e.g., 85 percent of a roadway's applicable LOS standard service volume)
- Baseline capacity and service volumes for concurrency management systems

Generalized Service Volume Tables must be appropriately applied (e.g., using the right area type and facility type designations) and interpreted (e.g., selecting the right values from the tables).

It is quite possible that no single roadway has the exact values for all the roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal variables used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables. The tables must be applied with care to roadway facilities and in the determination of the LOS grade.

Depending upon the application, such generalized analyses may be appropriately supplemented with documentation by an LOSPLAN analysis. For example, in Gainesville, for roadways where 85 percent or more of a roadway's LOS standard service volume is exceeded based on the Generalized Service Volume Tables, a supplemental LOSPLAN analysis is needed. However, to avoid cherry picking No operational tool (e.g., HCM) should be used as part of a generalized planning analysis. of desired input or output values, and to avoid falsely implied precision, no operational tool (e.g., HCM) should be used as part of a generalized planning analysis.

The automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian parts of the Generalized Service Volume Tables were developed based on the definitions and methodology of the HCM. Nationally, for bus analyses, the TCQSM is the comparable document to the HCM. The Generalized Service Volume Tables are believed to be the most thoroughly researched and state-of-the-art Generalized Service Volume Tables in use nationwide.

FDOT personnel conducted numerous traffic and signalization studies and developed values to reflect typical conditions in Florida. Daily and directional data were derived from FDOT's continuous traffic count stations throughout Florida. Signal timing data were obtained from analyses of traffic signal timings in Miami, Tampa, Tallahassee, Gainesville, DeLand, and Lake City. FDOT's intent has been to develop the most realistic numbers based on actual roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal data. Bicycle, pedestrian, and bus components of the tables were developed through a significant research project with the University of Florida and the developers of the TCQSM. Bicycle data collection and calibration was conducted in Tampa and pedestrian data collection and calibration was conducted in Pensacola. All roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal default values, as well as LOS thresholds, appear on the back of the Generalized Service Volume Tables.

Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables consist of five area types grouped into three tables:

- Urbanized areas
- Areas transitioning into urbanized/urban areas, or cities over 5,000 population not in urbanized areas
- Rural undeveloped areas, or cities and developed areas less than 5,000 population

Most generalized and conceptual planning applications begin with annual average daily traffic (AADT) volumes given as an input, or end with AADT as a calculated output. Therefore, the generalized daily service volume tables shown in Tables 1 through 3 depict the AADT based on a standard peak hour. Some local and regional entities have adopted two-direction peak hour standards. Table 4 through 6 provide generalized peak hour two-way service volumes. Generalized peak hour directional tables (Tables 7 through 9) are

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

provided because traffic engineering analyses are conducted on an hourly directional basis. These hourly directional tables may be viewed as the most fundamental of the tables because the two-way tables are simply the peak hour directional values divided by the directional distribution factor (D), and the daily tables are simply the peak hour directional values divided by both the D factor and the planning analysis hour factor (K).

All three sets of tables are internally consistent. More specifically, all of the volumes are based on the professionally acceptable Standard K factors and a PHF of 1.0. The 200th highest hour for the directional distribution variable is approximately equivalent to the typical peak hour of a day during a peak season in a developed area. Again, it is stressed that the daily, peak hour two-way, and peak hour directional tables are internally consistent, and are based on the same time period and directional flow of traffic.

LOSPLAN was used to generate the Generalized Service Volume Tables, and applying the input values on the backs of Tables 1 through 9 in the LOSPLAN programs will yield the results on the front of the tables.

The Generalized Service Volume Tables present maximum service volumes, or the highest numbers of vehicles, for a given LOS. Any number greater than the value shown for a roadway with a given number of lanes would drop the LOS to the next letter grade. For example, if the volume shown in a table for a four-lane arterial at LOS C is 26,000 then 26,001 would represent LOS D. Some special aspects to the tables exist and are discussed in a later section.

The Generalized Service Volume Tables should not be referred to as capacity tables. In general, the values shown are the maximum service volumes for a given LOS based on roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal conditions during the peak hour in the peak travel direction. Whereas maximum service volume deals with the highest number of vehicles for a given LOS, capacity deals with the maximum number of vehicles or persons that can pass a point during a specified time period under prevailing roadway, traffic, and control conditions. Many of the LOS E service volumes in the hourly directional tables also represent the capacity of the roadway, but in general, most of the values do not reflect a roadway's capacity.

A clear case of not representing capacity values is the daily tables. Roadway capacities for the day far exceed the volumes shown in the daily tables. All roadways are underutilized in the early morning hours and many heavily congested roads will have volumes higher The daily, peak hour two-way, and peak hour directional tables are internally consistent, and are based on the same time period and directional flow of traffic.

The Generalized Service Volume Tables should not be referred to as capacity tables. The primary criterion for LOS on arterials is average travel speed, not the capacity of the roadway. than the highest volumes shown in the daily tables because traffic is backed up for more than a 1-hour period.

Another case of not representing capacity is the arterial LOS E service volumes. The primary criterion for LOS on arterials is average travel speed, not the capacity of the roadway. Average travel speed along arterials is made of many control variables (e.g., progression, cycle length), not just the capacity (i.e., volume to capacity ratios) of signalized intersections. Only in the special case when the capacity of signalized intersections control how many vehicles can pass through the intersections does capacity essentially dictate the lowest acceptable average travel speeds along arterials.

Florida's Generalized Service Volume Tables appear at the end of this Q/LOS Handbook.

- Daily Service Volume Tables
 - Table 1 Urbanized Areas
 - Table 2 Transitioning and Urban Areas
 - Table 3 Rural Undeveloped and Rural Developed Areas
- Peak Hour Two-Way Service Volume Tables
 - Table 4 Urbanized Areas
 - Table 5 Transitioning and Urban Areas
 - Table 6 Rural Undeveloped and Rural Developed Areas
- Peak Hour Directional Service Volume Tables
 - Table 7 Urbanized Areas
 - Table 8 Transitioning and Urban Areas
 - Table 9 Rural Undeveloped and Rural Developed Areas

11.2. Special Cases

The volumes in the Generalized Service Volume Tables should be considered as average volumes over the facility under analysis. For example, if a 4-mile facility has AADT counts of 23,000, 22,000, 25,000, 23,000, and 27,000 for segments over its length, FDOT recommends the use of the average value 24,000 for comparison to the tables to determine the LOS. Use of the average volume works reasonably well unless there is one segment that has a widely disparate value, in which case a median value may be more appropriate.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

11.2.1. Mid-Block Considerations

In general, Q/LOS analyses for interrupted flow facilities primarily focus on signalized intersections. The majority of motorist aggravation is generally attributable to delay, which primarily occurs at signalized intersections on arterials. Therefore, when using the Generalized Service Volume Tables, the number of lanes for arterials and other interrupted flow facilities should be determined at major intersections rather than mid-block.

For uninterrupted flow facilities and non-automobile modes, travelers place a greater emphasis on mid-block considerations. For example, on two-lane highways in rural undeveloped areas, LOS is largely determined by the ability to pass other vehicles. For freeways, most travelers are concerned about the operation of the whole facility and not the operation of particular interchanges. For bicycle and pedestrian movements, the Bicycle LOS and Pedestrian LOS Models are calibrated for mid-block conditions. For bus LOS, the emphasis is on the ability to travel by bus over the length of facility, with less importance placed on individual intersections. Therefore, in general, the number of lanes for these situations reflect mid-block considerations.

11.2.2. Non-State Signalized Roadways

The primary purpose of this Q/LOS Handbook is to compute the LOS for state facilities. However, because the techniques have great potential use by local governments, the Generalized Service Volume Tables and LOSPLAN software also have been structured for the needs of these agencies. The Generalized Service Volume Tables are reasonably well suited to local governments who desire to use them to evaluate roads under local jurisdiction. A feature of the urbanized and transitioning/ urban Generalized Service Volume Tables is that non-state roadways are addressed. The only types of roadways not addressed in the tables are unsignalized local streets and unpaved roads.

The mere fact that roadways are operated and maintained by different governmental entities has no effect on the capacity or LOS of the roadways. ARTPLAN reflects the concept that ownership has no effect, only a facility's roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal characteristics. However, in general, non-state roadways have lower capacities and service volumes than state facilities because they have lower green times at signalized intersections. The Generalized Service Volume Tables therefore contain a -10 percent adjustment factor for non-state roadways. On two-lane highways in rural undeveloped areas, LOS is largely determined by the ability to pass other vehicles.

In general, nonstate roadways have lower capacities and service volumes than state facilities due to shorter green times at signalized intersections.

PAGE 131

HCM LOS criteria address arterials rather than collectors or local streets. FDOT considers it appropriate for local governments to decide how to analyze collectors.

Uninterrupted flow facilities are analyzed the same, regardless of whether they are state facilities or not.

11.2.3. Variations in Levels of Service

Higher quality levels of service for the automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian modes may not be achieved, even with extremely low traffic volumes given the default values used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables. In the case of automobiles, the higher quality levels of service cannot be achieved primarily because the control characteristics simply will not allow vehicles to attain relatively high average travel speeds. In the case of bicycles and pedestrians, it is primarily caused by the lack of facilities serving those modes. The * symbol and corresponding footnote reflect this unachievable concept. The unachievable concept and * symbol also apply to service volume tables generated in ARTPLAN.

Lower quality levels of service for the automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian modes may not be applicable, even with extremely high traffic volumes given the default values used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables. In the case of automobiles, the lower quality levels of service are not applicable primarily because the control characteristics simply do not allow enough vehicles to pass through an intersection in an hour. If vehicles could get through the intersection, they could obtain the applicable LOS speed threshold, but there is not enough capacity at the intersection to let them pass through.

In the case of bicycles and pedestrians, it is primarily caused by the existence of facilities adequately serving those modes. For example, if a sidewalk exists, it is very difficult to establish a set of conditions in which the LOS to the pedestrian is F.

Essentially, once the maximum service volume is reached, the next LOS grade is F. For example, in Service Volume Table 1 for multilane Class I arterials, if demand volumes are greater than the LOS D threshold, then the LOS is F, and if the volume is at the LOS D threshold, the LOS is D; essentially LOS E does not exist. The ** symbol and corresponding footnote reflect this not applicable concept. The not applicable concept and ** symbol also apply to service volume tables generated in ARTPLAN. Alternatively, for

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

the automobile mode it is acceptable to view the maximum service volume in a ** cell as having the same value as the previous volume appearing on the service volume table.

11.2.4. Divided/Undivided Roadways

For simplicity, the Generalized Service Volume Tables have factors that have been approved by the LOS Task Team (but not contained in the HCM) for the effects of mid-block medians and exclusive turn lanes at intersections. The cumulative effects of medians and exclusive turn lanes from common occurrences are shown in the Generalized Service Volume Tables.

A median has the effect of changing the adjusted saturation flow rate or service volume by 5 percent. In Florida, most two-lane roadways do not have a median (e.g., a two-way left turn lane), so the tables assume no median for those facilities. However, if there is a median, appropriate service volumes should be increased 5 percent. Most multilane arterials and highways in Florida have medians, so the tables are set up to assume medians for those facilities. However, if there is no median, appropriate service volumes should be decreased 5 percent.

Most major roadways in Florida have exclusive left turn lanes at nearly all streets except those with very low volumes. If a roadway does not have left turn lanes at major intersections, its service volume drops 20-25 percent, depending upon the number of lanes, as indicated in the table. Common design practice in Florida is to use shared through/ right turn lanes to accommodate right turning vehicles. However, exclusive right turn lanes have large capacity and service volume impacts for motorized vehicles at major intersections.

11.2.5. One-Way Facility Adjustments

For simplicity, the urbanized and transitioning and urban Generalized Service Volume Tables have an intuitive factor that has been approved by the LOS Task Team (but not contained in the HCM) for the effects of one-way streets on motorized vehicles. Essentially, one-way pairs are assumed to have a 20 percent higher service volumes than corresponding two-way roadways with the same number of lanes. However, the Generalized Service Volume Tables treat each facility of a one-way pair as a separate facility. To account for that the volumes in the daily and hourly two-way Generalized Service Volume Tables (1, 2, 4, and 5) should be multiplied by 0.6, while the volumes in the hourly directional tables (Tables 7 and 8) should be multiplied by 1.2. A median has the effect of changing the adjusted saturation flow rate or service volume by 5 percent.

If a roadway does not have left turn lanes at major intersections, its service volume drops 20-25 percent depending upon the number of lanes, as indicated in the table.

11.2.6. Auxiliary Lane Adjustment

Freeway auxiliary lanes (lanes connecting on-ramps and off-ramps) usually have significant capacity and LOS benefits. The values contained in the tables indicate their importance in a general way. To apply the adjustment, simply add the volume shown in the adjustment to the maximum service volume shown in the table.

11.2.7. Ramp Metering Adjustment

Freeway ramp metering has the positive benefit of smoothing out traffic demand entering a freeway during peak travel times. This positive benefit is reflected by increasing the service volumes shown on the tables by 5 percent.

11.2.8. Off-Peak Directional Volumes

Highway capacity and LOS analyses are typically based on an hourly peak directional analysis and it is generally incorrect to apply peak direction results to the off-peak direction. This is caused by the fact that some significant off-peak inputs (e.g., signal progression, g/C) may vary from the peak direction.

11.2.9. Bicycle LOS

The bicycle portions of the Generalized Service Volume Tables make primary use of the two most important factors in determining the LOS for bicyclists: the existence of paved shoulders/bicycle lanes and motorized vehicle volumes. It is important to note that the volumes shown in the tables are not the number of bicyclists; rather they are the number of motorized vehicles in the outside lane. Unlike automobile LOS, which is highly dependent on the number of other motorized vehicles on the roadway, bicycle LOS is not determined by how many other bicyclists are on road; rather, it is primarily determined by the bicycle accommodations on the roadway and volume of motorized vehicles. Default values are assumed for the other important factors such as speed of motorized vehicles, outside lane width, and pavement conditions, in establishing the bicycle LOS thresholds.

The other factor used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables is the volume of motorized vehicles in the outside lane. For analysis purposes, motorized vehicle volumes are assumed to be equally spread across the number of directional roadway lanes. Unlike the

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

Only a peak direction analysis is available in the current LOSPLAN software.

The volumes shown in the tables are not the number of bicyclists; rather they are the number of motorized vehicles in the outside lane. automobile entries on the table, in which the number of lanes is an entry into the tables, a step of multiplying the motorized volume by the number of lanes is needed in order to use the volume (hourly directional, hourly two-way, or daily) of motorized vehicles. For example, in Table 7, the LOS C threshold for 0 percent bicycle lane coverage is 150 vehicles for the outside lane. If the roadway has four lanes, then the 150 vehicles would be multiplied by two (number of directional lanes) in order to determine the maximum volume of motorized vehicles for bicycle LOS C in one direction of flow. The additional step was included to simplify the appearance of the tables and to save space.

11.2.10. Pedestrian LOS

The pedestrian portions of the Generalized Service Volume Tables make primary use of the two most important factors in determining the LOS for pedestrians: the existence of a sidewalk and motorized vehicle volumes. It is important to note that the volumes shown in the tables are not the number of pedestrians; rather, they are the number of motorized vehicles in the outside lane. Unlike automobile LOS, which is highly dependent on the number of other motorized vehicles on the roadway, pedestrian LOS is not determined by how many other pedestrians use the facility; rather, it is primarily determined by the presence of sidewalks and the volume of motorized vehicles. Default values are assumed for the other important factors, such as sidewalk/roadway separation, sidewalk/ roadway protective barrier, and speed of motorized vehicles, in establishing the pedestrian LOS thresholds.

The other factor used in these tables is the volume of motorized vehicles in the outside lane. For analysis purposes, motorized vehicle volumes are assumed to be equally spread across the number of directional roadway lanes. Unlike the automobile entries on the table, in which the number of lanes is an entry into the tables, a step of multiplying the motorized volume by the number of lanes is needed in order to use the volume (hourly directional, hourly non-directional, or daily) of motorized vehicles. For example, in Table 7, the LOS C threshold for 100 percent sidewalk coverage is 540 vehicles for the outside lane. If the roadway has four lanes, then the 540 vehicles would be multiplied by two (number of directional lanes) in order to determine the maximum volume of motorized vehicles for pedestrian LOS C in one direction of flow. The additional step was included to simplify the appearance of the tables and to save space.

The volumes shown in the tables are not the number of pedestrians; rather, they are the number of motorized vehicles in the outside lane.

PAGE 135

Sidewalks, whether on one side or both sides of a road, serve pedestrians in both directions. All of the techniques contained in this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software are based on a directional analysis. For example, in the case of evaluating the automobile LOS on arterials, the LOS is for the peak directional flow, and the off peak direction could have a higher, lower, or the same LOS. This directional technique results in some unique perspectives when evaluating pedestrian LOS. Unlike facilities (and buses) for the other modes, sidewalks, whether on one side or both sides of a road, serve pedestrians in both directions. Furthermore, analysts should be especially careful when using the Generalized Service Volume Tables for determining pedestrian LOS when there is a sidewalk only on one side of the roadway. Because all the Generalized Service Volume Tables are based on peak hour directional analyses, pedestrian LOS based on the tables should be considered applicable only to the direction of the peak flow of traffic. When using the tables, there is typically a difference of two LOS grades if the sidewalk is, or is not, on the same side of roadway as the peak flow of traffic. Generally, having sidewalks on both sides of arterials in developed areas is considered desirable; yet, the Generalized Service Volume Tables do not adequately reflect that concept.

11.2.11. Bus LOS

The bus portions of the Generalized Service Volume Tables are primarily dependent on bus frequency, which is the number of scheduled fixed route buses that have a potential to stop in a given segment in the peak direction of flow in a 1 hour time period. That measure is supplemented by pedestrian accessibility. In the Generalized Service Volume Tables, pedestrian accessibility is represented by two broad ranges of sidewalk coverage.

There are two unique aspects of bus mode entries of the Generalized Service Volume Tables.

<u>First</u>, it is important to note that the volumes shown in the tables are the number of buses per hour. Unlike automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian LOS thresholds, the bus mode LOS thresholds are not related to the number of motorized vehicles on the roadway.

<u>Second</u>, regardless of the table used, all numbers are shown in terms of buses per hour for the peak hour in the peak direction. Thus, even in the daily urbanized table (Table 1), the threshold values shown are still in terms of peak hour directional buses.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

12 LOSPLAN ANALYSIS

12.1. Introduction

Conceptual planning is a type of application detailed enough to reach a decision on design concept and scope (e.g., four through lanes with a raised median), conducting alternatives analyses (e.g., four through lanes undivided versus two through lanes with a two-way left turn lane), and performing other technical analyses. Conceptual planning is applicable when there is a desire for a good determination of the LOS of a facility without doing detailed, comprehensive operational analyses, and for determining needs when a generalized planning evaluation is simply not accurate enough. Florida's LOSPLAN software, which includes ARTPLAN, FREEPLAN, and HIGHPLAN, is the major tool in conducting this type of analysis. Although considered outstanding generalized and conceptual planning tools, the software programs are not detailed enough for final design or operational analysis work and should not be used for those purposes. See Section 3.7 for a discussion of additional alternatives analysis tools.

FDOT's LOSPLAN software contains the core tools for site and project specific analyses in planning stages. Input and output documentation must be verifiable and approved by Districts and reviewing agencies. In general, the software is based on the HCM techniques and the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual (TCQSM).



12.2. ARTPLAN

ARTPLAN is FDOT's multimodal generalized and conceptual planning software for arterial facilities. It is widely recognized as the primary planning software program implementing the HCM urban streets methodology (HCM Chapter 16). For the automobile mode, it may also be used for a simplified LOS analysis of the through movement on a segment or at a signalized intersection. The service measure for LOS differs between ARTPLAN and the HCM; ARTPLAN utilizes average travel speed solely as the service measure, whereas the HCM determines LOS based on the ratio of average travel speed to base free-flow speed. For the bicycle mode, ARTPLAN is the conceptual planning application of the Bicycle LOS methodology within Chapter 17 of the HCM. ARTPLAN determines a bicycle LOS score for side paths, roadway links, intersections, segments, and facilities. For the pedestrian mode, ARTPLAN is the conceptual planning application of the Pedestrian LOS methodology within Chapter 17 of the HCM. ARTPLAN determines a pedestrian LOS score for roadway links, intersections, segments, and facilities. For the bus mode, ARTPLAN is the conceptual planning application of the TCQSM methodology applied to bus route segments and roadway facilities.

ARTPLAN is multimodal in structure with the facility's roadway, traffic, control, and multimodal characteristics calculated simultaneously to determine the LOS for the automobile, bicycle, pedestrian, and bus modes. As quality of service of one mode improves, a positive, neutral, or negative effect on the other modes may occur. For example, as running speed of automobiles increases, the LOS may improve for automobiles and buses, but the LOS for bicyclists and pedestrians may decrease. **Figure 12-1** provides an overview of how the modes and their levels of service are linked.


Mode	Automobile	Bicycle	Pedestrian	Bus
	Volume and Lanes	Bicycle Lane	Sidewalk	Bus Frequency
		Volume and Lane	es	
	Other Traffi	Other Traffic and Roadway Characteristics		
Major Inputs	A	rterial Running S	peed	
	Arterial Sidewalk		alk	
	Control Characteristics			
	Control Delay			
Service Measure	Average Travel Speed	Bicycle LOS Score	Pedestrian LOS Score	Adjusted Bus Frequency
LOS Determinator	HCM LOS Criteria	HCM LOS Criteria	HCM LOS Criteria	TCQSM LOS Crteria

As shown in the figure, the vehicular volume and number of lanes significantly affect the automobile, bicycle, and pedestrian levels of service. Other roadway, traffic, and control variables determine the automobile LOS. The motorized vehicle running speed, which is calculated as part of the automobile LOS, is also an important determinant of bicycle and pedestrian LOS. Together with the presence of bicycle lanes and sidewalks, motorized vehicle volumes and speeds are the main determinants of bicycle and pedestrian LOS. Bus LOS is primarily determined by bus frequency, but is also a major function of pedestrian LOS.

PAGE **139**

ARTPLAN does not combine the LOS for each of the modes into one overall LOS for the facility. ARTPLAN does not combine the LOS for each of the modes into one overall LOS for the facility because there is no professionally acceptable or scientifically valid technique for combining the LOS.

Because many sidewalks are discontinuous or vary over a roadway segment, ARTPLAN features a more detailed pedestrian subsegment analysis. Up to three pedestrian subsegments are allowed for a given roadway segment. The percent of the segment's length of each subsegment is entered. The program assumes there are no subsegments, so 100 percent appears until the analyst changes the value.

ARTPLAN input and output screens appear in Figures 12-2 and 12-3.

Figure 12-2 ARTPLAN Input Screens



Figure 12-3 ARTPLAN Ouput Screens



Maximum Service Volumes for Each Mode



12.3. FREEPLAN

FREEPLAN is FDOT's generalized and conceptual planning software for freeways; that is, multilane divided roadways with at least two lanes for exclusive use of traffic in each direction and full control of ingress and egress.

Major features of FREEPLAN are:

- Use of the HCM (Chapters 10, 11, 12, and 13) as the primary resource document for the methodology, such that the FREEPLAN methodology should "not be inconsistent" with the HCM, but, as appropriate, extend the HCM for generalized and conceptual planning purposes
- Concentration on the through vehicle while being sensitive to the analysis of other vehicles on the freeway and on segments of the freeway
- FREEPLAN combines point analyses (e.g., ramps), to equate a freeway facility LOS
- LOS density thresholds slightly lower than HCM basic segment criteria because of the effects of interchanges
- Capacity reductions in interchange areas
- Analysis of weaving segments using the HCM 2010 methodology
- Additional off-ramp outputs (e.g., off-ramp queue back up reports)
- An interchange ramp terminal capacity check, including offramp analysis
- Consideration of ramp overlap areas
- Toll plaza analysis, including open road tolling analysis
- Resulting service volumes matching reasonably well with actual Florida traffic counts

Some special aspects about operating FREEPLAN are listed below:

- On-ramps, off-ramps, weaving, and toll plaza segments have default characteristics that can be further edited by the analyst. The FREEPLAN operator should utilize the edit segment feature to customize ramp lengths, number of lanes, downstream signal data, weaving configuration, and toll plaza configuration.
- Basic segment influence areas are the same as the basic segment length
- AADT is entered into FREEPLAN for the first segment

FREEPLAN input and output screens appear in **Figures 12-4** and **12-5**.

Figure 12-4 FREEPLAN Input Screens



PAGE **144**

Figure 12-5 FREEPLAN Output Screens



12 LOSPLAN ANALYSIS

12.4. HIGHPLAN

HIGHPLAN is FDOT's generalized and conceptual planning software for two-lane and multilane uninterrupted flow highways with points of access not fully controlled.

- Selection of the total number of lanes in both directions determines whether the facility will be analyzed as a two-lane or a multilane highway. The selection of either choice makes some variables irrelevant, such as percent no passing zones for multilane highways.
- Embedded in the two-lane highway portion of HIGHPLAN are two different classes of two-lane highways, one for rural undeveloped areas and one for developed areas
- In rural undeveloped areas, HIGHPLAN uses the HCM Class I LOS criteria, which is based upon percent time spent following (PTSF) and average travel speed (ATS) service measures
- In developed areas (urbanized, transitioning/urban, rural developed area types), HIGHPLAN implements the HCM Class III LOS thresholds based on percent of free flow speed
- After pressing the LOS calculation button, the results are shown with six performance measures: percent time spent following, average travel speed, percent free flow speed, free flow delay, LOS threshold delay, and v/c

When conducting a bicycle, pedestrian, or bus LOS analysis along an uninterrupted flow highway, ARTPLAN should be used instead of HIGHPLAN. In its present form, HIGHPLAN only addresses the LOS of motorized vehicles. Primarily by using very low signal densities, ARTPLAN can approximate multimodal results as if HIGHPLAN had multimodal features. The bicycle service volumes in the rural undeveloped portions of Tables 3, 6, and 9 were generated in that manner.

HIGHPLAN input and output screens appear in **Figures 12-6** and **12-7**.

When conducting a bicycle, pedestrian, or bus LOS analysis along an uninterrupted flow highway, ARTPLAN should be used instead of HIGHPLAN.

Figure 12-6 HIGHPLAN Input Screens



Figure 12-7 HIGHPLAN Output Screens



12.5. Service Volume Calculation Process

All service volumes and resulting tables are first calculated for the peak hour in the peak direction. The peak hour two-way values are obtained by dividing the peak hour peak direction service volumes by the directional distribution factor (D). The daily volumes are obtained by dividing the peak hour two-way service volumes by the planning analysis hour factor (K).

Peak hour directional and peak hour two-way service volumes are rounded to the nearest 10 vehicles. Daily service volumes are rounded to the nearest 100 vehicles.

12.5.1. ARTPLAN

For the automobile mode, ARTPLAN starts with a volume of 10 vehicles per hour (vph) and then calculates the demand to capacity ratio (v/c) at each intersection. Then it finds the speed on each segment, which also accounts for the signal delay and the overall average speed for the facility. It then checks average speed against the average speed criterion for LOS A. If the speed is below the LOS A threshold speed, the volume is incremented by either 50 vph (if the difference in actual speed and LOS threshold speed is large) or 10 vph (if the difference in actual speed and LOS threshold speed is small). This process is repeated until the average facility speed is approximately equal to the LOS A threshold. The volume level at which this occurs is the service volume for LOS A. The volume (i.e., LOS A service volume) is then incremented by 10 vph and incrementally increased until the average facility speed is approximately equal to the LOS B threshold speed. This process repeats for LOS C, D, and E. If at any point during this process the v/c ratio exceeds 1.0 for the full hour, the calculation stops. If that condition is met, this volume becomes the service volume for whichever LOS letter grade was being evaluated at the time, as well as for the lower quality LOS grades.

For the bicycle and pedestrian modes, ARTPLAN starts with a volume of 10 motorized vph and then calculates bicycle/pedestrian LOS scores based on the Bicycle and Pedestrian LOS Models. Then it checks that score against the LOS A criterion. If the score is below the LOS A threshold value, the volume is incremented by 10 vph. This process is repeated until the facility score is approximately equal to the LOS A threshold. The volume level at which this occurs is then the service volume for LOS A. The volume (i.e., LOS A service volume) is then incremented by 10 vph and incrementally increased until the average facility score is approximately equal to the LOS B threshold volume. This process repeats for LOS C, D, and E. If at any point during this process the motorized vehicle v/c ratio exceeds 1.0 for the full hour the calculation stops. If that condition is met, this volume becomes the service volume for whichever LOS letter grade was being evaluated at the time as well as for the lower quality LOS grades.

For the bus mode, ARTPLAN uses the LOS service frequency criteria that appear in the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual, modified by pedestrian LOS, relative auto speed, bus stop amenities, and passenger load factors.

12.5.2. FREEPLAN

For freeways, the automobile volume is incrementally increased until the demand flow rate to static speed ratio produces an average facility density that is approximately equal to the LOS A threshold. The volume level at which this occurs is the service volume for LOS A. The volume (i.e., LOS A service volume) is then incremented by 10 vph and incrementally increased until the average facility density is approximately equal to the LOS B threshold speed. This process repeats for LOS C, D, and E. If at any point during this process the v/c ratio exceeds 1.0 for the full hour, the calculation stops. If that condition is met, this volume becomes the service volume for whichever LOS letter grade was being evaluated at the time, as well as for the lower quality LOS grades.

12.5.3. HIGHPLAN

For multilane uninterrupted flow highways, HIGHPLAN starts with a volume of 10 vph and then calculates density. If the density is below the LOS A threshold density, the volume is incremented by 10 vph. This process is repeated until the average density is approximately equal to the LOS A threshold. The volume level at which this occurs is then the service volume for LOS A. The volume (i.e., LOS A service volume) is then incremented by 10 vph and incrementally increased until the average facility density is approximately equal to the LOS B threshold density. This process repeats for LOS C, D, and E.

For two-lane uninterrupted flow highways, HIGHPLAN uses the maximum service flow rate based on area type and free flow speed for the facility. The computations apply an iterative process in which the demand volumes are increased by increments of 10 vph and the results are compared against the thresholds that apply to the specific area type. In undeveloped areas, the service volume thresholds are determined by the percent time spent following or average travel speed for the peak 15-minute period, based on the updated chapter of the HCM. In developed areas, the thresholds are based on percent of free flow speed, subject to minimum constraints for LOS A and B. Threshold values are presented in the **Table 12-1**.

Table 12-1

LOS Thresholds for Two-Lane Uninterrupted Flow Highways in Developed Areas

LOS	Percent of Free Flow Speed	Minimum Speed (mph)
А	92	45
В	83	35
С	75	35
D	67	35
E	v/c≥1.0	35

13 REFERENCES

13.1. Contacts

FDOT welcomes questions and comments on the content and concepts of this Q/LOS Handbook and accompanying software. FDOT can provide assistance in interpretations, answering questions, providing advice, and training.

For further information also see FDOT's planning LOS website at: <u>http://www.dot.state.fl.us/planning/systems/sm/los/default.shtm</u>

FDOT makes extensive use of consultants for development and review of capacity and LOS analyses. In order to assure consistent application and review of capacity and LOS analyses across the state, the following guidance is provided:

Consultants working for FDOT, who perform LOSPLAN analyses or reviews for the Department, must attend a FDOT training class on the use of LOSPLAN. In extenuating circumstances, these consultants can be trained in-house on a one-to-one basis, but their work must be carefully checked to ensure that they have mastered the program. Those trained in this manner should attend a training class at the earliest possible opportunity.

If consultants are working with LOSPLAN for non-FDOT clients, it is highly recommended their firms have at least one person in each office attend an FDOT training class. They in turn can make sure that those in their office are trained in its use. These additional users can either attend a training class or be taught in house.

Training schedules can be found on the FDOT Systems Planning LOS website.

In addition anyone who downloads LOSPLAN is entered into the FDOT Contact Database. Training announcements will be periodically e-mailed to those who download the software.

Although no certification process is proposed, FDOT District LOS Coordinators have the authority to determine whether consultants have met this training requirement. Initial contacts should be made with FDOT district planning personnel.

13.2. Glossary

Acceleration lane	A freeway lane extending from the on-ramp gore to where it's taper ends.
Acceptable range	The limits of input values for use in FDOT's conceptual planning software.
Accessibility	The dimension of <i>mobility</i> that addresses the ease in which travelers can engage in desired activities.
Accuracy	The degree of a measure's conformity to a true value.
Actuated	Same as actuated control.
Actuated control	All <i>approaches</i> to the <i>signalized intersection</i> have <i>vehicle</i> detectors with each <i>phase</i> subject to a minimum and maximum <i>green time</i> and some phases may be skipped if no vehicle is detected.
Add-on/drop-off lanes	Roadway lanes added before an intersection and dropped after the intersection.
Adjacent	In this Q/LOS Handbook a categorization of <i>sidewalk/roadway separation</i> less than or equal to 3.0 feet.
Adjusted bus frequency	In this Q/LOS Handbook the <i>bus frequency</i> times <i>adjustment factors</i> that account for pedestrian <i>LOS</i> , <i>pedestrian crossing difficulty</i> , obstacles to <i>bus stops</i> , and <i>span of service</i> .
Adjusted capacity	In this Q/LOS Handbook the base capacity times the effect of many <i>roadway variables</i> and <i>traffic variables</i> .
Adjusted frequency	Same as adjusted bus frequency.
Adjusted saturation flow rate	In this Q/LOS Handbook the <i>base saturation flow rate</i> times the effect of many <i>roadway variables</i> and <i>traffic variables</i> .

Adjustment factor	In the <i>software</i> a multiplicative factor applied to the <i>base saturation flow rate</i> to represent a prevailing condition.
	In the <i>Generalized Service Volume Tables</i> additive or multiplicative factors to adjust <i>service volumes</i> .
All way STOP control	An intersection with STOP sign at all approaches.
Analysis type	In <i>HIGHPLAN</i> a choice between a <i>facility</i> analysis or a <i>segment</i> analysis.
Annual average daily traffic (AADT)	The volume passing a point or segment of a roadway in both directions for 1 year divided by the number of days in the year.
Approach	The set of lanes comprising one leg of an intersection or interchange.
Approach delay	The sum of stopped-time <i>delay</i> and the time lost in decelerating to a stop and accelerating to a steady speed.
Area type	In this Q/LOS Handbook a general categorization of an extent of surface based primarily on the degree of urbanization.
Areawide analysis	An evaluation within a geographic boundary.
Arrival type	A general categorization of the quality of signal progression.
Arterial	A signalized roadway that primarily serves through traffic with average <i>signalized</i> <i>intersection spacing</i> of 2.0 miles or less; a type of roadway based on FDOT functional classification.
ARTPLAN	FDOT's arterial planning software for calculating <i>level of service</i> and <i>service volume tables</i> for <i>interrupted flow</i> roadways.
ATS	Same as average travel speed.
Auto	Same as <i>automobile</i> .
Auto outside lane width	Same as outside lane width.

Automobile	A motorized vehicle with 4 or less wheels touching the pavement during normal operation.
	In this Q/LOS Handbook, all motorized vehicle traffic using a roadway, except for <i>buses</i> .
Auxiliary lane	An additional lane on a <i>freeway</i> connecting an on-ramp of one interchange to the off-ramp of the downstream interchange.
Average daily traffic	The total traffic volume during a given time period (more than a day and less than a year) divided by the number of days in that time period.
Average travel speed (ATS)	The facility length divided by the average travel time of all vehicles traversing the facility, including all stopped delay times.
Axle correction factors	Adjustment factors used to calculate AADT by compensating for an axle counter's tendency to count more vehicles than are actually present.
Base capacity	Same as <i>base saturation flow rate</i> for <i>uninterrupted flow</i> roadways.
Base conditions	The best possible characteristic in terms of capacity for a given type of facility.
Base saturation flow rate	The maximum steady flow rate, expressed in passenger cars per hour per lane, at which passenger cars can cross a <i>point</i> on <i>interrupted flow</i> roadways.
Basic segment	In this Q/LOS Handbook the length of a <i>freeway</i> in which operations are unaffected by interchanges.
Basic freeway segment	Same as <i>basic segment</i> .
Basic two-lane highway segments	Highway segment located upstream of the intersection influence area and downstream of the affected downstream highway segment, and thus not affected by signalized intersections.
Bicycle	A mode of travel with two wheels in tandem, propelled by human power.

Bicycle lane	In this Q/LOS Handbook a <i>designated</i> or <i>undesignated</i> portion of roadway for bicycles adjacent to motorized vehicle lanes.
Bicycle LOS Model	The <i>operational methodology</i> from which this Q/LOS Handbook's bicycle quality/level of service analyses are based.
Bicycle level of service score	A numerical value calculated by the <i>Bicycle</i> <i>LOS Model</i> that corresponds to a <i>bicycle level</i> <i>of service</i> .
Bicycle pavement condition	Same as <i>pavement condition</i> .
BLOS	Same as bicycle level of service score.
Boundaries	In this Q/LOS Handbook the geographical limits associated with <i>FDOT's Level of Service</i> <i>Standards</i> for the <i>State Highway System</i> or its MPO Administrative Manual.
Bus	In this Q/LOS Handbook a self-propelled, rubber-tired roadway vehicle designed to carry a substantial number of passengers and traveling on a <i>scheduled fixed route</i> .
Bus frequency	The number of buses per hour serving one direction of a roadway facility.
Bus span of service	The number of hours in a day of bus service along a <i>route segment</i> .
Bus stop	An area where <i>bus</i> passengers wait for, board, alight, and transfer.
Bus stop amenities	Enhancements for comfort or safety that can greatly influence perceived quality of service along a route. Four categories of bus stop amenities exist: excellent, good, fair, and poor.
Bus stop amenity factors	Factors used to determine the adjusted bus frequency value by applying a factor commensurate to the quality of bus stop amenities.
Bus stop type adjustment factors	Factors that adjust travel times along bus routes by adding 15 to 35 seconds of delay per route for typical and major bus stops, respectively.

Capacity	The maximum sustainable flow rate at which persons or vehicles reasonably can be expected to traverse a <i>point</i> or a uniform section of roadway during a given time period under prevailing conditions.
	As typically used in this Q/LOS Handbook, the maximum number of vehicles that can pass a point in a one hour time period under prevailing <i>roadway, traffic</i> and <i>control</i> <i>conditions</i> .
Capacity analysis	Same as highway capacity analysis.
Capacity constrained	A condition in which traffic <i>demand</i> exceeds the capacity of a roadway.
Capacity utilization	The dimension of mobility that addresses the quantity of operations relative to capacity.
Captive rider	Transit rider who is limited by circumstances to use transit as a primary source of transportation.
Choice rider	Transit rider who chooses to take transit over other readily available transportation options.
Class	Same as <i>roadway class</i> .
Class 1 arterial	A roadway that has posted speeds of 40 mph or higher.
Class 2 arterial	A roadway that has posted speeds of 35 mph or less.
Collector	A roadway providing land access and traffic circulation with residential, commercial and industrial areas.
Conceptual planning	A type of analysis performed to support decisions related to design concept and scope.
Concurrency	A systematic process utilized by local governments to ensure that new development does not occur unless adequate infrastructure is in place to support growth.

Congestion	Condition in which traffic demand approaches or exceeds the available capacity of the transportation facility(ies).
Constrained	Same as capacity constrained.
Constrained roadway	A roadway on the State Highway System that FDOT will not expand by 2 or more through lanes because of physical, environmental, or policy constraints.
Continuous left turn lane	Same as two-way left-turn lane.
Control	A variable or characteristic typically associated with a traffic signal, STOP sign, yield sign, flashing device, or other similar measure.
Control characteristics	Same as <i>control.</i>
Control delay	The component of delay that results when a signal causes traffic to reduce speed or to stop.
Control type	Same as signal type.
Control variables	Parameters associated with roadway controls.
Controlled access highway	A non-limited access highway whose access connections, median openings, and traffic signals are highly regulated.
Coordinated- actuated	Same as coordinated-actuated control.
Coordinated- actuated control	Fixed-cycle signal control of an intersection in which the through movement on the designated main roadway gets the unused green time from side movements because of limited or no vehicle activation from side movements.

PAGE 157

Core freeways	Major, non-toll freeways going through the urbanized core areas of the largest metropolitan areas, such as I-4 in Orlando. FDOT has adopted lower K values for these freeways to represent a peak period as opposed to a peak hour analysis. The lower K values impact daily service volumes only in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, thus values for Core Freeways are only found in Table 1.
Corridor	A set of essentially parallel transportation facilities for moving people and goods between two points.
Critical intersection	Same as critical signalized intersection.
Critical signalized intersection	The signalized intersection with the lowest volume to capacity ratio (v/c), typically the one with the lowest effective green ratio (g/C) for the through movement.
Cycle length (C)	The time it takes a traffic signal to go through one complete sequence of signal indications.
D factor	Same as directional distribution factor.
Daily tables	In this Q/LOS Handbook, Service Volume Tables presented in terms of annual average daily traffic.
Deceleration lane	A freeway lane extending from the taper to the off-ramp gore.
Delay	The additional travel time experienced by a traveler.
Demand	The number of persons or vehicles desiring service on a roadway.
Demand traffic	Same as <i>demand.</i>
Density	The number of vehicles, averaged over time, occupying a given length of lane or roadway; usually expressed as vehicles per mile or vehicles per mile per lane.
Design hour factor	In this Q/LOS Handbook the proportion of annual average daily traffic occurring during the 30th highest hour of the design year.

Designated bicycle lane	A lane, usually 4 to 5 feet in width, that includes both a bicycle logo and a directional arrow.
Desirable	In this Q/LOS Handbook a categorization of pavement condition that is new or recently resurfaced pavement.
Deterministic	Description of a type of model that is not subject to randomness.
Developed areas	All areas not rural undeveloped.
	Same as rural developed areas.
Development of regional impact (DRI)	A development which, because of its character, magnitude, or location, would substantially affect the health, safety, or welfare of citizens of more than one county in Florida, as defined in Section 380.06(1), Florida Statutes, implemented by Rule 9J-2, Florida Administrative Code, and coordinated by the regional planning agency.
Directional distribution factor (D)	The proportion of an hour's total volume occurring in the higher volume direction.
Diverge area	Same as off-ramp influence area.
Divided	As used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, a roadway with a median.
Driver population	A traffic variable included as part of the local adjustment factor that describes driver familiarity with a roadway and accounts for such differences in driving habits as those between commuters and other drivers.
Driver population factor	The factor associated with driver population.
Dual left-turn lanes	Two lanes designated exclusively for left turns at a signalized intersection.
Effective green ratio (g/C)	Typically in this Q/LOS Handbook the ratio of the effective green time (g) for the through movement at a signal intersection to its cycle length (C).

Effective green time (g)	The time allocated for the through movement to proceed; calculated as the through movement green plus yellow plus all red indication times less the lost time.
Effective lanes	Same as number of effective lanes.
Exclusive left effective green ratio	The ratio of the effective green time (g) from an exclusive left turn lane for the peak traffic flow direction at a signal intersection to its cycle length (C).
Exclusive left turn lanes	Same as <i>left turn lanes.</i>
Exclusive left turn storage length	The total amount of storage length in feet for exclusive left turn lanes.
Exclusive right turn lanes	Storage area designated to only accommodate right turning vehicles.
Exclusive through lane	Any Intrastate highway lane that is designated exclusively for intrastate travel, is physically separated from any general-use lane, and the access to which is highway regulated. These lanes may be used for high occupancy vehicles (HOVs), and express buses during peak travel hours if the level of service standards can be maintained.
Exclusive turn lane	A storage area designated to only accommodate left or right turning vehicles; in this Q/LOS Handbook the turn lane must be long enough to accommodate enough turning vehicles to allow the free flow of the through movement.
Expanded intersections	Same as add-on/drop-off lanes.
Facility	A length of roadway composed of points and segments.
	A generic term including points, segments or roadways.
Factor	A value by which a given quantity is multiplied, divided, added or subtracted in order to indicate a difference in measurement.
FDOT	Florida Department of Transportation.

PAGE 160 FDOT QU

FHWA	Federal Highway Administration.
Five-lane section	A roadway with 4 through lanes, 2 in each direction separated by a two-way left-turn lane; in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, a five-lane section is treated as a roadway with 4 lanes and a median.
Flow rate	In this Q/LOS Handbook the equivalent hourly rate at which vehicles pass a point on a roadway for a 15-minute time period.
Free flow delay	The additional travel time represented by the difference between the time associated with a roadway's free flow speed and average travel speed.
Free flow speed (FFS)	In this Q/LOS Handbook the average speed of vehicles under low flow traffic conditions and not under the influence of signals, STOP signs, or other fixed causes of interruption, generally assumed to be 5 mph over the posted speed limit.
FREEPLAN	FDOT's freeway planning software for calculating level of service and service volume tables.
Freeway	A multilane, divided highway with at least 2 lanes for exclusive use of traffic in each direction and full control of ingress and egress.
Freeway interchange influence area	Same as <i>interchange.</i>
Freeway segment	In this Q/LOS Handbook a basic segment, interchange or toll plaza.
FSUTMS	Florida Standard Urban Transportation Modeling System; Florida's software that forecasts travel demand.
Fully actuated control	Same as actuated control.

Functional classification	The assignment of roads into systems according to the character of service they provide in relation to the total road network.
g/C	Same as effective green ratio.
Generalized Service Volume Tables	Maximum service volumes based on areawide roadway, traffic and control variables and presented in tabular form.
Generalized planning	A broad type of planning application that includes statewide analyses, initial problem identification, and future year analyses; in this Q/LOS Handbook typically performed by use of the Generalized Tables.
Generalized Tables	Same as Generalized Service Volume Tables.
General-use lane	Any Intrastate highway lane not exclusively designated for long distance, high-speed travel. In urbanized areas these lanes include high occupancy vehicle (HOV) lanes that are not physically separated from other travel lanes.
Gore	The point located immediately between the left edge of a ramp pavement and the right edge of the roadway pavement at a merge or diverge area.
Green time (G)	The duration in seconds of the green indication for a given movement at a signalized intersection.
Growth management concepts	The ideas necessary for use in careful planning for urban growth so as to responsibly balance the growth of the infrastructure required to support a community's residential and commercial growth with the protection of its natural systems (land, air, water).
Guideline	Based on FDOT's Standard Operating System (Topic No: 025-020-002-d), a recommended process intended to provide efficiency and uniformity to the implementation of policies, procedures, and standards; a guideline is intended to provide general program direction with maximum flexibility.

G

Handbook	Based on FDOT's Standard Operating System (Topic No: 025-020-002-d), technical instructions or techniques used to assist or train users in performing specific functions.
НСМ	Same as Highway Capacity Manual.
Headway	The time, in seconds, between two successive vehicles as they pass a point on a roadway.
Heavily congested	Same as congestion.
Heavy vehicle	A FHWA vehicle classification of 4 or higher, essentially vehicles with more than 4 wheels touching the pavement during normal operation.
Heavy vehicle factor (HV)	The adjustment factor for heavy vehicles.
Heavy vehicle percent	The percentage of heavy vehicles in the traffic stream.
High-occupancy vehicle (HOV) lane	A freeway lane reserved for the use of vehicles with a preset minimum number occupants; such vehicles often include buses, taxis, and carpools.
HIGHPLAN	FDOT's software for calculating levels of service and service volume tables for two-lane highways and multilane highways.
Highway	1) An uninterrupted flow roadway that is not a freeway.
	2) A generic term meaning the same as <i>roadway.</i>
	3) A roadway with all the transportation elements within the right-of-way.
Highway capacity analysis	An examination of the maximum of vehicles or persons that can reasonably be expected to pass a point on a roadway during a specified time period under prevailing roadway, traffic, and control conditions.
Highway Capacity Manual (HCM)	The Transportation Research Board document on highway capacity and quality of service.
Highway Capacity Software (HCS)	A software package faithfully replicating the Highway Capacity Manual.

Highway mode	In this Q/LOS Handbook, either automobile, bicycle, bus, or pedestrian.
HIGHPLAN	FDOT's uninterrupted flow highway planning software for calculating level of service and service volume tables.
Highway system structure	Same as transportation system structure.
Indication	In this Q/LOS Handbook, the green, yellow or red appearance of a signal to a motorist.
Interchange	In this Q/LOS Handbook the influence area associated with the off-ramp influence area, overpass/underpass, and on-ramp influence area of a connection to a freeway.
Interchange influence area	Same as <i>interchange.</i>
Interchange spacing	The distance between the centerlines of freeway interchanges.
Interrupted flow	A category of roadways characterized by signals, STOP signs, or other fixed causes of periodic delay or interruption to the traffic stream with average spacing less than or equal to 2.0 miles.
Intersection	The same as <i>signalized intersection</i> , unless specifically noted.
Intersection influence area	In this Q/LOS Handbook a segment of an uninterrupted flow highway influenced by an isolated intersection.
Interval	A period of time in which all traffic signal indications remain constant.
Intrastate highways	Highways on the Florida Intrastate Highway System (FIHS).
Isolated intersection	An intersection occurring along an uninterrupted flow highway.
K factor (K)	Same as planning analysis hour factor.

I

Κ

Lanes	Same as <i>number of through lanes</i> , unless specifically noted.
Large urbanized area	An MPO urbanized area greater than 1,000,000 population; in Florida these 7 areas consist of the following central cities: Ft. Lauderdale, Jacksonville, Miami, Orlando, St. Petersburg, Tampa, and West Palm Beach.
Lateral clearance	Clearance distance from edges of outside lanes to fixed obstructions.
Left turn lanes	In this Q/LOS Handbook storage areas designated to only accommodate left turning vehicles; a left turn lane must be long enough to accommodate enough left turning vehicles to allow the free flow of the through movement.
Level of service (LOS)	A quantitative stratification of the quality of service to a typical traveler of a service or facility into six letter grade levels, with "A" describing the highest quality and "F" describing the lowest quality; a discrete stratification of a quality of service continuum.
Level of service (LOS) analysis	A quantitative examination of traveler quality of service provided by a transportation facility or service.
Level of service (LOS) standards	Same as Statewide Minimum Level of Service Standards for the State Highway System.
Level terrain	A combination of horizontal and vertical alignments that permits heavy vehicles to maintain approximately the same running speed as passenger cars; this generally includes short grades of no more than 1 to 2 percent.
Limited access highway	Same as <i>freeway.</i>
Link	A length of roadway between two points; unlike a segment, a link does not include boundary points.
Load factor	The ratio of passengers actually carried to the total passenger capacity of a bus.

L

Local adjustment factor	In this Q/LOS Handbook an adjustment factor FDOT uses to adjust base saturation flow rates or base capacities to better match actual Florida traffic volumes; mostly consists of a driver population factor and an area type factor.
LOS	Same as level of service.
LOS standards	Same as Level of Service Standards for the State Highway System.
LOS threshold delay	Same as threshold delay.
Maintain	Continuing operating conditions at a level that prevents significant degradation.
Maximum acceptable value	The highest value for a traffic variable FDOT will accept when developing, reviewing or approving a LOS analysis.
Maximum service volume	The highest number of vehicles for a given level of service.
Measure of effectiveness	A quantitative parameter indicating the performance of a transportation facility or service.
Median	Areas at least 10 feet wide that are restrictive or non-restrictive that separate opposing- direction mid-block traffic lanes and that, on arterials, contain turn lanes that allow left turning vehicles to exit from the through traffic lanes.
	A mathematical measure of central tendency in which the value selected in an ordered set of values below and above which there is an equal number of values.
Median factor	A factor by which a service volume is multiplied to account for the effects of the existence of a median.
Median type	A classification of roadway medians as restrictive, non-restrictive, or no median.
Merge area	Same as on-ramp influence area.
Mid-block	In this Q/LOS Handbook the part of a roadway between two signalized intersections.

Minimum acceptable speed	In this Q/LOS Handbook the lowest average travel speed criterion for a given level of service as applied to two-lane highways in developed areas.
Minimum acceptable value	The lowest value for a traffic variable FDOT will accept when developing, reviewing or approving a LOS analysis.
Mobility	The movement of people and goods.
Mode	A method of travel; in this Q/LOS Handbook a highway mode.
Motorized mode	A method of travel by automobile or bus.
Motorized vehicle	Same as <i>vehicle</i> .
Movement	A flow of vehicles or people in a given direction.
MPO	Metropolitan Planning Organization.
Multilane	Having more than one through lane in the analysis direction.
Multilane highway	A non-freeway roadway with 2 or more lanes in each direction and, although occasional interruptions to flow at signalized intersections may exist, is generally uninterrupted flow.
Multimodal	In this Q/LOS Handbook more than one highway mode.
Multimodal Transportation District	An area in which secondary priority is given to vehicle mobility and primary priority is given to assuring a safe, comfortable, and attractive pedestrian environment, with convenient interconnection to transit (F.S. 163.3180(15)).
Narrow	In this Q/LOS Handbook a categorization of outside lane width less 11.0 feet.
No passing zone	In this Q/LOS Handbook a segment of a two-lane highway along which passing is prohibited in the analysis direction.
Non-restrictive median	A painted, at-grade area separating opposing mid–block traffic lanes.
Non-state signalized roadway	A signalized roadway not on the State Highway System.

Ν

Not Achievable	In this Q/LOS Handbook a situation in which a given level of service cannot be obtained because of the roadway, traffic and control variables and level of service thresholds used.
Not Applicable	In this Q/LOS Handbook a situation in which a given level of service is not relevant because of the roadway, traffic and control variables and level of service thresholds used.
Number of directional through lanes	The number of through lanes in a single direction.
Number of effective lanes	In terms of capacity the equivalent number of through lanes. Typically the number is expressed as a fraction (e.g., 2.7) to reflect the partial beneficial effects of freeway auxiliary lanes or arterial add-on/drop-off lanes.
Number of through lanes	The number of lanes relevant to an analysis of a roadway's level of service.
	Usually two-directional (the software will convert to one direction for analysis purposes).
	For arterials:
	 Usually at the signalized intersection, not mid-block
	 Usually through and shared-right-turn lanes
	 May be a fractional number reflecting add-on/drop-off lanes or other special lane utilization considerations
	 Using the Generalized Service Volume Tables the number at major signalized intersections
	For freeways and uninterrupted flow highways
	 Does not include auxiliary lanes between 2 points
	 Usually the predominant number of through lanes between 2 points

Off peak	The course of the lower flow of traffic.
	A time period not representing a peak hour.
Off-ramp influence area	The geographic limits affecting the capacity of a freeway associated with traffic exiting a freeway.
On-ramp influence area	The geographic limits affecting the capacity of a freeway associated with traffic entering a freeway.
One-way	A type of roadway in which vehicles are allowed to move in only one direction.
Operational analysis	A detailed analysis of a roadway's present or future level of service, as opposed to a generalized planning analysis or conceptual planning analysis.
Operational model	In this Q/LOS Handbook the use of the full methodologies contained in the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual and the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual or other source to conduct an operational analysis.
Other urbanized area	An MPO urbanized area less than 1,000,000 population.
Outside lane	A roadway's motorized vehicle through lane closest to the edge of pavement.
Outside lane width	In this Q/LOS Handbook the width in feet of a roadway's motorized vehicle through lane closest to the edge of pavement.
Oversaturated	A traffic condition in which demand exceeds capacity.
Passenger cars per hour per lane (pcphpl)	The unit of expression used to represent base saturation flow rate.
Passenger load factors	Factors used to determine the adjusted bus frequency value by applying a factor commensurate to the level of passenger crowding.

0

Ρ

13 REFERENCES

PAGE 169

Passing lane	A lane added to provide passing opportunities in one direction of travel on a two-lane highway. Two-way left-turn lanes are not considered passing lanes.
Passing lane spacing	The distance in miles between passing lanes on two-lane highways.
Paved shoulder/ bicycle lane	In this Q/LOS Handbook pavement at least 3 feet in width separated by a solid pavement marking from the outside motorized vehicle through lane to the edge of pavement.
Pavement condition	In this Q/LOS Handbook the general classification of the roadway surface where bicycling generally occurs.
Peak direction	The course of the higher flow of traffic.
Peak hour	In this Q/LOS Handbook a 1 hour time period with high volume.
Peak hour factor (PHF)	The ratio of the hourly volume to the peak 15-minute flow rate for that hour; specifically hourly volume / (4 x peak 15-minute volume).
Peak period	A multi-hour analysis period with high volume; peak periods rather than peak hours are typically used for analysis of core freeways or roadways within an MMTD.
Peak season	The 13 consecutive weeks with the highest daily volumes for an area.
Peak Season Weekday Average Daily Traffic (PSWADT)	The average daily traffic for Monday through Friday during the peak season.
Peak to daily ratio	The ratio of the highest 1 hour volume of a day to the daily volume.
Pedestrian	An individual traveling on foot.
Pedestrian accessibility	In this Q/LOS Handbook the ease in which a pedestrian can reach a bus stop.
Pedestrian crossing difficulty	In this Q/LOS Handbook a generalization of how hard it is for a pedestrian to go from one side of a roadway to the other side.

Pedestrian LOS Model	The operational methodology from which this Q/LOS Handbook's pedestrian quality/level of service analyses are based.
Pedestrian level of service score	A numerical value calculated by the Pedestrian LOS Model that corresponds to a pedestrian level of service.
Pedestrian refuge	In this Q/LOS Handbook a raised or grassed area at least 5 feet but less than 10 feet in width that separates opposing mid-block traffic lanes, and allows pedestrians to cross a roadway.
Pedestrian/ Sidewalk/Roadway separation	The lateral distance in feet from the outer edge of pavement to where a pedestrian walks on a sidewalk.
Percent free flow speed (%FFS)	The percentage of vehicle average travel speed to free flow speed.
Percent left turns	The percentage of vehicles performing a left- turning movement at a signalized intersection.
Percent no passing zone	In this Q/LOS Handbook the percentage of a two-lane highway along which passing is prohibited in the analysis direction.
Percent right turns	The percentage of vehicles performing a right- turning movement at a signalized intersection.
Percent time spent following	The average percent of total travel time that vehicles must travel in platoons behind slower vehicles due to inability to pass on a two-lane highway.
Percent turns from exclusive turn lanes	The percentage of vehicles approaching an intersection served by exclusive turn lanes and not part of the through movement.
Performance measure	A qualitative or quantitative factor used to evaluate a particular aspect of travel quality.
Permanent traffic recorders (PTR)	Permanent counters that continuously monitor traffic.
Person flow	Capacity on uninterrupted and interrupted flow facilities defined in terms of persons per hour.

PhaseThe part of a traffic signal's cycle allocated to any combination of traffic movements receiving the right-of-way simultaneously during one or more intervals.PHFSame as peak hour factor.Planning analysis hour factor (K)The ratio of the traffic volume in the study hou to the annual average daily traffic.Planning applicationIn this Q/LOS Handbook the use of default values and simplifying assumptions to an operational model to address a roadway's present or future level of service.Planning horizonA time period, typically 20 years, applicable to the analysis of a project, roadway or service.PlatoonA group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other factors.PLOSSame as pedestrian level of service score.PointA boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.PrecisionThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and phase plan, and phase times are preset and phase times are preset 		
PHFSame as peak hour factor.Planning analysis hour factor (K)The ratio of the traffic volume in the study hou to the annual average daily traffic.Planning applicationIn this Q/LOS Handbook the use of default values and simplifying assumptions to an operational model to address a roadway's present or future level of service.Planning horizonA time period, typically 20 years, applicable to the analysis of a project, roadway or service.PlatoonA group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other factors.PLOSSame as pedestrian level of service score.PointA boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.PrecisionThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated control.	Phase	The part of a traffic signal's cycle allocated to any combination of traffic movements receiving the right-of-way simultaneously during one or more intervals.
Planning analysis hour factor (K)The ratio of the traffic volume in the study hou to the annual average daily traffic.Planning applicationIn this Q/LOS Handbook the use of default values and simplifying assumptions to an operational model to address a roadway's present or future level of service.Planning horizonA time period, typically 20 years, applicable to the analysis of a project, roadway or service.PlatoonA group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other 	PHF	Same as <i>peak hour factor</i> .
Planning applicationIn this Q/LOS Handbook the use of default values and simplifying assumptions to an operational model to address a roadway's present or future level of service.Planning horizonA time period, typically 20 years, applicable to the analysis of a project, roadway or service.PlatoonA group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other factors.PLOSSame as pedestrian level of service score.PointA boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.PrecisionThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PretimedSame as pretimed control.PretimedSame as pretimed control.	Planning analysis hour factor (K)	The ratio of the traffic volume in the study hour to the annual average daily traffic.
Planning horizonA time period, typically 20 years, applicable to the analysis of a project, roadway or service.PlatoonA group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other 	Planning application	In this Q/LOS Handbook the use of default values and simplifying assumptions to an operational model to address a roadway's present or future level of service.
PlatoonA group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other factors.PLOSSame as pedestrian level of service score.PointA boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.Portable traffic (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.Posted speedThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and 	Planning horizon	A time period, typically 20 years, applicable to the analysis of a project, roadway or service.
PLOSSame as pedestrian level of service score.PointA boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.Portable traffic (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.Posted speedThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset	Platoon	A group of vehicles traveling together as a group, either voluntarily or involuntarily because of signal control, geometrics or other factors.
PointA boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.Posted speedThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length 	PLOS	Same as pedestrian level of service score.
Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS)Coverage counters at temporary sites.Posted speedThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset	Point	A boundary between links; in this Q/LOS Handbook usually a signalized intersection, but may be other places where modal users enter, leave, or cross a facility, or roadway characteristics change.
Posted speedThe maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset	Portable traffic monitoring site (PTMS)	Coverage counters at temporary sites.
PrecisionThe range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.PretimedSame as pretimed control.Pretimed controlTraffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset	Posted speed	The maximum speed at which vehicles are legally allowed to travel over a roadway segment.
Pretimed Same as <i>pretimed control.</i> Pretimed control Traffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset	Precision	The range of accurate and acceptable numerical answers.
Pretimed control Traffic signal control in which the cycle length phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset	Pretimed	Same as pretimed control.
plan.	Pretimed control	Traffic signal control in which the cycle length, phase plan, and phase times are preset and repeated continuously according to a preset plan.

Existing circumstances that primarily include roadway, traffic, and control conditions, but may also include weather, construction, incidents, lighting and area type.
Same as quality of service.
A traveler based perception of how well a service or facility is operating.
The dimension of mobility that addresses traveler satisfaction with a facility or service.
A combination of the broad quality of service and more detailed level of service concepts.
The dimension of mobility that addresses the magnitude of use of a facility or service.
When a link's queue of vehicles extends on to upstream links.
The length for which the upstream on-ramp influence area and the downstream off-ramp influence area overlap.
A raised or grassed area that restricts crossing movements.
A general categorization of an open way for persons and vehicles to traverse; in this Q/LOS Handbook it encompasses streets, arterials, freeways, highways and other facilities.
Same as <i>roadway variables</i> .
Categories of arterials and two-lane highways; arterials are primarily grouped by signal density; two-lane highways are primarily grouped by area type.
Factors used to determine the adjusted bus frequency by applying a factor that captures crossing difficulty.
Parameters associated with roadways.
A combination of horizontal and vertical alignments causing heavy vehicles to reduce their running speed substantially below that of passenger cars, but not to operate at crawl speeds for a significant amount of time.

Q

R

Route	As used in the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual, a designated, specified path to which a bus is assigned.
Route segment	As used in the Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual, a portion of a bus route ranging from 2 stops to the entire length of the route.
Running speed	The distance a vehicle travels divided by the travel time the vehicle is in motion.
Running time	The portion of travel time during which a vehicle is in motion.
Rural	Same as <i>rural area</i> .
Rural area	In the Generalized Service Volume Tables and software, areas that are not urbanized areas, transitioning areas, or urban areas.
Rural developed areas	Portions of rural areas that are along coastal roadways or in generally populated areas with a population less than 5,000.
Rural undeveloped areas	Portions of rural areas with no or minimal population or development.
Scheduled fixed route	In this Q/LOS Handbook bus service provided on a repetitive, fixed-schedule basis along a specific route with buses stopping to pick up and deliver passengers to specific locations.
Seasonal adjustment factor	A factor used to adjust for the variation in traffic over the course of a year.
Section	A group of consecutive segments that have similar roadway characteristics, traffic characteristics and, as appropriate, control characteristics for a mode of travel.
	A characteristic describing laneage (i.e., three- lane section, five-lane section, seven-lane section).
Segment	A portion of a facility defined by 2 boundary points; usually the length of roadway from one signalized intersection to the next signalized intersection.
Segmentation	The partitioning of roadways for analysis purposes.

PAGE 174 FD
Service measure	A specific performance measure used to assign a level of service to a set of operating conditions for a transportation facility or service.
Service volume	Same as maximum service volume.
Service Volume Table	Maximum service volumes based on roadway, traffic and control variables and presented in tabular form.
Seven-lane section	A roadway with 6 through lanes, 3 in each direction separated by a two-way left-turn lane; in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, a seven-lane section is treated as a roadway with 6 lanes and a median.
Shared lane	A roadway lane shared by 2 or 3 traffic movements; in Florida a shared lane usually serves through and right turning traffic movements.
Sidewalk	A paved walkway for pedestrians at the side of a roadway.
Sidewalk/roadway protective barrier	Physical barriers separating pedestrians on sidewalks and motorized vehicles.
Sidewalk protective barrier factor	A factor that includes the added benefits of trees, on-street parking, or other barriers.
Sidewalk/roadway separation	The lateral distance in feet from the outside edge of pavement to the inside edge of the sidewalk.
Signal	In this Q/LOS Handbook:
	A traffic control device regulating the flow of traffic with green, yellow and red indications.
	A traffic control device that routinely stops vehicles during the study period; excluded from this definition are flashing yellow lights, railroad crossings, draw bridges, yield signs, and other control devices.
Signal density	The number of signalized intersections per mile.

Signal type	The kind of traffic signal (actuated, pretimed or coordinated-actuated) with respect to the way its cycle length, phase plan, and phase times are operated.
Signalization characteristics	Same as <i>control.</i>
Signalized intersection	A place where 2 roadways cross and have a signal controlling traffic movements.
Signalized intersection spacing	The distance between signalized intersections.
Simple average	An average that gives equal weight to each component.
Software	FDOT's ARTPLAN, FREEPLAN, and HIGHPLAN conceptual planning computer programs.
Span of service	Same as bus span of service.
Speed	In this Q/LOS Handbook the same as <i>average travel speed</i> , unless specifically noted.
Speed limit	Same as <i>posted speed</i> .
Standard	A Florida Department of Transportation formally established criterion for a specific or special activity to achieve a desired level of quality.
Standards	Same as Level of Service Standards for the State Highway System.
Standard K	FDOT's standard peak hour to annual average daily traffic ratio (K), based on a roadway's characteristics (facility type) and location (area type). Values less than 9% essentially represent a multi-hour peak period rather than a peak hour.
State Highway System (SHS)	All roadways that the Florida Department of Transportation operates and maintains; the State Highway System consists of the Florida Intrastate Highway System and other state roads.

FDOT QUALITY/LEVEL OF SERVICE HANDBOOK 2013

Stochastic	Description of a type of model that that incorporates variability and uncertainty into analysis.
Storage length	The total amount of storage available for left turning vehicles, in feet.
Strategic Intermodal System (SIS)	Florida's system of transportation facilities and serves of statewide and interregional significance.
Study hour	An hour period on which to base quality/level of service analyses of a facility or service.
Study period	An hour or multi-hour period on which to base quality/level of service analyses of a facility or service.
	A length in time including a future year of analysis.
Subsegment	A further breakdown of segments; in this Q/LOS Handbook primarily used for pedestrian level of service analysis where pedestrian roadway elements change between signalized intersections.
System	A combination of facilities or services forming a network.
	A combination of facilities selected for analysis.
System analysis	An evaluation of a combination of facilities and modes within a region.
Т	Truck factor
Telemetry traffic monitoring sites (TTMS)	Permanent counters that continuously monitor traffic.
Termini	In this Q/LOS Handbook the beginning and end points of a facility.
Terrain	A general classification used for analyses in lieu of specific grades.

Т

Three-lane section	A roadway with 2 through lanes separated by a two-way left-turn lane; in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, a three-lane section is treated as a roadway with 2 lanes and a median; an exclusive passing lane on a two- lane highway is not considered a three-lane section.
Threshold	The breakpoints between level of service differentiations.
Threshold delay	The additional travel time represented by the difference between the time associated with a roadway's generally accepted speed (LOS D threshold in urbanized areas and LOS C threshold in non-urbanized areas) and average travel speed.
Through effective green ratio (g/C)	The ratio of the effective green time (g) for the through movement at a signal intersection to its cycle length (C).
Through lanes	Same as number of through lanes.
Through movement	In this Q/LOS Handbook the traffic stream with the greatest number of vehicles passing directly through a point. Typically this is the straight-ahead movement, but occasionally it may be a turning movement.
Traffic	A characteristic associated with the flow of vehicles.
Traffic characteristics	Same as <i>traffic variables</i> .
Traffic demand	The number of vehicles that desire to traverse a particular highway during a specified time period.
Traffic pressure	Effect of decreased vehicle headways under high-volume conditions as drivers are anxious to minimize their travel time.
Traffic variables	Parameters associated with traffic.
Traffic volume	The number of vehicles passing a point on a highway during a specified time period.
Transit	In this Q/LOS Handbook, the same as <i>bus</i> .

Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual (TCQSM)	The document and operational methodology from which this Q/LOS Handbook's bus quality/level of service analyses are based.
Transit system structure	The Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual's analytical methodology of transit stops, route segments, and system.
Transitioning	In the text of this Q/LOS Handbook, the same as <i>transitioning area.</i>
	In the software of this Q/LOS Handbook, the same as <i>transitioning/urban.</i>
Transitioning area	An area that exhibits characteristics between rural and urbanized/urban.
Transitioning/urban	The grouping of transitioning areas and urban areas into one analysis category in the Generalized Service Volume Tables and software.
Transportation planning boundaries	Precisely defined lines that delineate geographic areas. These boundaries are used throughout transportation planning in Florida; their mapping is described in FDOT's Procedure Topic Number 525-010-024b.
Transportation system structure	In this Q/LOS Handbook the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual's analytical methodology of points, segments, facilities, corridors, and areawide analysis.
Travel time	The average time spent by vehicles traversing a roadway.
Truck	In this Q/LOS Handbook the same as <i>heavy</i> vehicle.
Truck factor (T)	In this Q/LOS Handbook the same as <i>heavy</i> vehicle factor (HV).
Two-lane highway	A roadway with one lane in each direction on which passing maneuvers must be made in the opposing lane and, although occasional interruptions to flow at signalized intersections may exist, is generally uninterrupted flow.
Two-way	Movement allowed in either direction.

Two-way left-turn lane	A lane that simultaneously serves left turning vehicles traveling in opposite directions.
Two-way STOP control	The type of traffic control at an intersection where drivers on the minor street or a driver turning left from the major street wait for a gap in major-street traffic to complete a maneuver.
Typical	In this Q/LOS Handbook a categorization of:
	 Outside lane width greater than or equal to 11.0 feet and less than 13.5 feet
	 Pavement condition of most of Florida's roadways
	 Sidewalk/roadway separation greater than 3.0 feet and less than or equal to 8.0 feet
Undesignated bicycle lane	A lane, usually 4 feet in width, that does not contain a bicycle logo.
Undesirable	In this Q/LOS Handbook a categorization of pavement condition with noticeable cracks and/or ruts in it.
Undivided	As used in the Generalized Service Volume Tables, a roadway with no median.
Uninterrupted flow	A category of roadway not characterized by signals, STOP signs, or other fixed causes of periodic delay or interruption to the traffic stream.
Uninterrupted flow highway	A non-freeway roadway that generally has uninterrupted flow, with average signalized intersection spacing greater than 2.0 miles; a two-lane highway or a multilane highway.

Urban area	A place with a population between 5,000 and 50,000 and not in an urbanized area. The applicable boundary includes the Census's urban area and the surrounding geographical area agreed upon by the FDOT, the local government, and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). The boundaries are commonly called FHWA Urban Area Boundaries and include those areas expected to develop medium density before the next decennial census.
	A general characterization of places where people live and work.
Urban infill	A land development strategy aimed at directing higher density residential and mixed-use development to available sites in developed areas to maximize the use of adequate existing infrastructure; often considered an alternative to low density land development.
Urbanized area	An area within an MPO's designated urbanized area boundary. The minimum population for an urbanized area is 50,000 people.
	Based on the Census, any area the U.S. Bureau of Census designates as urbanized, together with any surrounding geographical area agreed upon by the FDOT, the relevant Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), commonly called the FHWA Urbanized Area Boundary. The minimum population for an urbanized area is 50,000.
Utilization	The dimension of mobility that addresses the quantity of operations with respect to capacity.
v/c	The ratio of demand flow rate to capacity of a signalized intersection, segment or facility.
Vehicle	In this Q/LOS Handbook, a motorized mode of transportation, unless specifically noted.

V

Volume	In this Q/LOS Handbook usually the number of vehicles, and occasionally persons, passing a point on a roadway during a specified time period, often 1 hour; a volume may be measured or estimated, either of which could be a constrained value or a hypothetical demand volume.				
Weaving distance	A length of freeway over which traffic streams cross paths through lane changing maneuvers.				
Weaving segment	Same as weaving distance.				
Weighted average	An average that results from multiplying each component by a factor reflecting its length or importance.				
Weighted effective green ratio	In this Q/LOS Handbook the average of the critical intersection's through g/C and the average of all the other signalized intersections' through g/Cs along the arterial facility.				
Weighted g/C	Same as weighted effective green ratio.				
Wide	In this Q/LOS Handbook a categorization of:				
	 Outside lane width greater than or equal to 13.5 feet 				
	 Sidewalk/roadway separation greater than 8.0 feet 				
Worst case	In this Q/LOS Handbook for:				
	 Arterials, the critical intersection 				
	 Freeways, usually the influence area of an interchange 				

ARTERIAL DATA COLLECTION WORKSHEET

ARTERIAL DATA COLLECTION WORKSHEET

PAGE 183

Road Nan	le:					Time:	Date:			w√≻E Tim	e of analy	sis: 5-6 PM If not,	weekday indicate	time
	Area	Type:				Clas	S			*Thru N	lovemer	ıt Signaliz	ation	
Large Urbanized	Other Urbanized	Transitioning/ Urban	Rural Developed			2	£	4		Signal Type Arrival Type	ctuated 3	Semiactuated	Pretim 4 5	ed
1,000,000+	50,000+	5,000+	<5,000	0-1.	.99 sig/mi	2 – 4.5 sig/mi	4.5+ sig/mi	Downtow Large Urban	n ized	g/C ((G+4)/C	(G+4)/C	g/g	
st Cross Street:														
Intersection #1														
	Length:		AADT:		# Direction	il Thru Lanes (mid	block):	Posted Speed:		Median: none	restrictive nor	1-restrictive		
Segment #1	Auto Outside Lane Wid	lth:n typ w	Pavement	t: d typ u	Bike Lane/P	aved Shoulder		Sidewalk:		Sidewalk Separation: a typ	w Bus Frec	::	Bus Span:	
ind Cross Street:														
Intersection #2	Cycle Length:	Thru	G: Thrug/	'C*:	# Directions	il Thru Lanes (sign	al):	Excl. Left		# Left Lanes:	Left G	5: Left G/C:	Excl. Right	
	Length:		AADT:		# Direction	<mark>ոl Thru Lanes</mark> (mid	block):	Posted Speed:		Median: none	restrictive nor	1-restrictive		
Segment #2	Auto Outside Lane Wid	ith : n typ w	Pavement	t: d typ u	Bike Lane/P	aved Shoulder		Sidewalk:		Sidewalk Separation: a typ	w Bus Free		Bus Span:	
rd Cross Street:														
Intersection #3	Cycle Length:	Thru	G: Thrug/	'c*:	# Direction	il Thru Lanes (sign	al):	Excl. Left		# Left Lanes:	Left G	5: Left G/C:	Excl. Right	
	Length:		AADT:		# Direction	il Thru Lanes (mid	block):	Posted Speed:		Median: none	restrictive nor	1-restrictive		
Segment #3	Auto Outside Lane Wid	lth: n typ w	Pavement	t: d typ u	Bike Lane/P	aved Shoulder		Sidewalk:		Sidewalk Separation: a typ	w Bus Frec	::	Bus Span:	
th Cross Street:														
Intersection #4	Cycle Length:	Thru	G: Thrug/	'C*:	# Directions	il Thru Lanes (sign	al):	Excl. Left		# Left Lanes:	Left G	5: Left G/C:	Excl. Right	
	Length:		AADT:		# Direction	il Thru Lanes (mid	block):	Posted Speed:		Median: none	restrictive nor	n-restrictive		
Segment #4	Auto Outside Lane Wid	l th : n typ w	Pavement	t: d typ u	Bike Lane/P	aved Shoulder		Sidewalk:		Sidewalk Separation: a typ	w Bus Frec	;	Bus Span:	
th Cross Street:														
Intersection #5	Cycle Length:	Thru	G: Thrug/	:	# Direction	il Thru Lanes (sign	al):	Excl. Left		# Left Lanes:	Left G	5: Left G/C:	Excl. Right	
	Length:		AADT:		# Direction	։ I Thru Lanes (mid	block):	Posted Speed:		Median: none	restrictive nor	1-restrictive		
Segment #5	Auto Outside Lane Wid	th: n typ w	Pavement	t: d typ u	Bike Lane/P	aved Shoulder		Sidewalk:		Sidewalk Separation: a typ	w Bus Frec	÷	Bus Span:	
th Cross Street:														
Intersection #6	Cycle Length:	Thru	G: Thrug/	'c*:	# Direction	il Thru Lanes (sign	al):	Excl. Left		# Left Lanes:	Left G	5: Left G/C:	Excl. Right	
			-									-	-	

* Thru g/C - see Thru Movement Signalization in upper right corner | Collect G and calculate g/C for left turns at major intersections. Auto Outside Lane Width: narrow typical wide | Bike Pavement Condition: desirable typical undesirable | Sidewalk/Roadway Separation: adjacent typical wide

GENERALIZED SERVICE VOLUME TABLES

13 REFERENCES



Page intentionally left blank.

Generalized Annual Average Daily Volumes for Florida's **Urbanized Areas**

	INTERR	UPTED FL	OW FAC	ILITIES				UNINTER	RUPT
	STATE SI	GNALIZ	ED AR	TERIAL	.S				FRI
	Class I (40 n	nph or high	er posted	speed lin	nit)				Core
Lanes	Median	B	Ċ	D	Ē	Laı	ies	В	
2	Undivided	*	16.800	17.700	**	4	1	47,400	6
4	Divided	*	37,900	39,800	**		5	69,900	9
6	Divided	*	58 400	59,900	**	8	R	92,500	12
8	Divided	*	78 800	80,100	**	1	0	115,100	15
0	Divided		70,000	00,100		1	2	162 400	21
	Class II (35 r	nph or slov	ver posted	l speed lir	nit)	1	2	102,400	21
Lanes	Median	В	С	D	E				U
2	Undivided	*	7,300	14,800	15,600) 📗 Lai	nes	В	
4	Divided	*	14,500	32,400	33,800)	1	45,800	6
6	Divided	*	23,300	50,000	50,900		5	68,100	9
8	Divided	*	32,000	67 300	68 100		2	91 500	12
0	Divideu		52,000	07,500	00,100	1	0	114.800	15
							0	11,000	10
	Non-State Si	gnalized R	koadway A	Adjustme	ents			F	reeway
	(Alter	r correspondi	ng state volu	mes			_	Auxiliary Lan	es
	Non State	by the indicate	ed percent.)	- 10%			Pres	sent in Both Dir	ections
	non-state	Signalized F	ways	- 1070				+ 20,000	
	Median	& Turn La	ane Adju	stments			T	ININTERP	Ірті
		Exclusive	Exclu	isive A	Adjustment	Los	1ec	Median	D
Lanes	Median	Left Lanes	Right l	Lanes	Factors		105	Undivided	2 G
2	Divided	Yes	N	0	+5%	4	<u>.</u> 1	Disided	8,00
2	Undivided	No	N	0	-20%		ŀ	Divided	30,70
Multi	Undivided	Yes	N	0	-5%	e)	Divided	55,00
Multi	Undivided	NO	NO Ve	0	-25% + 5%				
_	—	_	16	-5	+ 3%			Uninterrupt	ted Flo
	One V	Vor Fosili	ter A dissat	mont		La	nes	Median	Exclu
	Une-V	vay racili	iy Adjust	ment		2	2	Divided	
	Multiply t	he correspon	ding two-di	rectional		Mı	ılti	Undivided	
	vo	numes in this	table by 0.	0		M	ılti	Undivided	
]	BICYCLE	MODE ²			¹ Va	lues	shown are presented	l as two-v
(Mu	ultiply motorized	vehicle volu	nes shown b	elow by nu	mber of	doe	vice a	and are for the auton	nobile/true
dire	ctional roadway l	anes to deterr	nine two-wa	iy maximun	n service	app	licati	ions. The computer	models fro
	D 1	volum	(5.)			mo	re spe	ecific planning appli	cations. T
	Paved					Cal	culat	ions are based on pl	anning ap
Shoul	lder/Bicycle			_		the	Tran	sit Capacity and Qu	ality of Se
Lane	e Coverage	В	С	D	E	² I .	evelo	of service for the bic	vele and
(0-49%	*	2,900	7,600	19,700	of 1	notor	rized vehicles, not m	umber of
5	0-84%	2,100	6,700	19,700	>19,700	37			he for al
83	5-100%	9,300	19,700	>19,700	**	flov	ises p v.	ber hour shown are on	iy for the
	PE	DESTRIA	N MODI	E^2		* (Canno	t be achieved using	table inp
(Mı	ultiply motorized	vehicle volu	nes shown b	elow by nu	mber of				
dire	ctional roadway l	anes to deterr	nine two-wa	iy maximun	n service	**	Not a	pplicable for that le	vel of service
		volum	es.)			bee	n rea	ched. For the bicycl	e mode, tl
Sidewa	alk Coverage	В	С	D	Е	ach	ievab	ble because there is a	no maxim
(0-49%	*	*	2.800	9.500) val	le de	laults.	
5	50-84%	*	1,600	8.700	15.800				
8:	5-100%	3,800	10,700	17,400	>19,700				
0.	DIGMO)F (Sahad		d Donta	3				
	DUS MUI (Buses	in peak hour	in peak dire	tion)					
Sidewa	alk Coverage	B	C	D	E	Flo	r <i>ce:</i> rida I	Department of Trans	portation
5100 WC	0-84%	> 5	> 4	> 3	> 2	Sys	tems	Planning Office	Janutan
04	5_100%	> 1	- > 3	$\frac{2}{2}$	<u>~</u> <u>~</u> > 1	ww	w.do	t.state.fl.us/planning	z/systems/
0.	J-100/0	4	$\leq j$	≤ 4	≤ 1				

UNINTERRUPTED FLOW FACILITIES							
FREEWAYS							
		Core Ur	banized				
lanes	В	С		D	Е		
4	47,400	64,00)0	77,900	84,600		
6	69,900	95,20	0 1	16,600	130,600		
8	92,500	126,40	0 1	54,300	176,600		
10	115,100	159.70	0 1	94,500	222,700		
12	162,400	216,70	00 2	56,600	268,900		
		Urba	nized				
anes	В	C	inzeu	D	Е		
4	45 800	61.50	00	74 400	79 900		
т 6	68 100	01,50	10 1	11 800	123 300		
0	01,500	122 50	10 1	11,800	125,500		
0	91,300	125,50		46,700	100,800		
10	114,800	156,00	10 1	87,100	210,300		
	F	reewav Ao	liustme	nts			
	Auxiliary Lan	es	j	Ramp			
Pres	ent in Both Dir	ections		Metering	g		
	+20,000			+ 5%			
J	J NINTERR	UPTED	FLOW	HIGHW	AYS		
lanes	Median	В	С	D	Е		
2	Undivided	8,600	17,000) 24,200	33,300		
4	Divided	36,700	51,800	65,600	72,600		
6	Divided	55,000	77,700	98,300	108,800		
	Uninterrupt	ted Flow H	lighway	Adjustme	nts		
Lanes	Median	Exclusive	left lanes	s Adjustr	ment factors		
2	Divided	Y	es		+5%		
Multi	Undivided	Y	es		-5%		
Multi	Undivided	N	0	-	-25%		
¹ Values s service as does not application more spe not be us Calculation	hown are presented not are for the auton constitute a standar ons. The computer i cific planning appli ed for corridor or in ons are based on pl	l as two-way ar nobile/truck mo d and should be models from w ications. The ta ttersection desi anning applicat	nnual averag odes unless s e used only f hich this tab ble and deriv gn, where m ions of the l	e daily volumes pecifically state for general plan le is derived sho ving computer n tore refined tech Highway Capac	for levels of d. This table ning uuld be used for nodels should niques exist. ity Manual and		
the Trans ² Level o of motori	it Capacity and Qu f service for the bic ized vehicles, not m	ality of Service ycle and pedes umber of bicyc	Manual. trian modes lists or pede	in this table is b strians using the	ased on number facility.		
³ Buses pe flow.	er hour shown are on	ly for the peak h	our in the sin	gle direction of t	he higher traffic		
* Canno	t be achieved using	table input val	ue defaults.				

12/18/12

vice letter grade. For the automobile mode, D become F because intersection capacities have the level of service letter grade (including F) is not num vehicle volume threshold using table input

sm/los/default.shtm

TABLE 1 (continued)

Generalized Annual Average Daily Volumes for Florida's Urbanized Areas

12/18/12

						Int	errupted F	Flow Facil	ities	
INPLIT VALUE	Unin	terrupted	Flow Faci	lities		State A	rterials		Cla	ass I
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways	Core Freeways	High	ways	Cla	iss I	Cla	ss II	Bicycle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS										
Area type (u,lu)	lu	lu	u	u	u	u	u	u	u	u
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-10	4-12	2	4-6	2	4-8	2	4-8	4	4
Posted speed (mph)	70	65	50	50	45	50	30	30	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	70	55	55	50	55	35	35	50	50
Auxiliary Lanes (n.y)	n	n								
Median (n. nr. r)			n	r	n	r	n	r	r	r
Terrain (1,r)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		-	80			-				
Exclusive left turn lane impact (n, y)			[n]	v	v	v	v	v	v	v
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)				5	n	n	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	4	4	5	5	2	2	1.9	1.8	2	2
Number of basic segments	4	4	-	-						
Denning analysis hour factor (K)	0.000	0.085	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.090	0.083	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.547	0.547	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.560	0.505	0.500	0.565	0.565
Peak nour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	2.100	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow fate (pcpnpl)	1.0	4.0	1,700	2,100	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy venicle percent	4.0	4.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.5	2.0
	0.91	0.91	0.97	0.98	10	10	12	10	12	10
% left turns					12	12	12	12	12	12
% right turns					12	12	12	12	12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS			rr						T	
Number of signals					4	4	10	10	4	6
Arrival type (1-6)					3	3	4	4	4	4
Signal type (a, c, p)					с	c	c	c	c	c
Cycle length (C)					120	150	120	120	120	120
Effective green ratio (g/C)					0.44	0.45	0.44	0.44	0.44	0.44
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERIST	ICS									
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n. v)									n. 50%. v	n
Outside lane width (n. t. w)									t	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)									t	-
On-street parking (n, y)										
Sidewalk (n, v)										n. 50%, v
Sidewalk/roadway separation(a, t, w)										t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)										n
	1	IEVEI	OF SEDV	се тир	I ESHOI DA	s	1	1	1	
	Freeways	LEVEL High	UF SEKV	ICE I HK	<u>ESHULD</u> Arte	5 rials		Bicycle	Ped	Bus
	_ 100 mays	Two-Lane	Multilane	Cla	Iss I	Cla	ss II	Dicycle	- cu	2.00
Level of	Density	%ffc	Density		te		te	Score	Score	Buses/hr.
Service	< 17	> 02.2		a			1.5	< 0.75	< 0.75	
В	$\leq 1^{\prime}$	> 83.3	$\leq 1^{\prime}$	> 31	mph	> 22	mph	≤ 2.75	≤ 2.75	≤ 6
С	≤24	> 75.0	≤24	> 23	mph	> 17	mph	\leq 3.50	\leq 3.50	≤ 4
D	≤ 31	> 66.7	≤31	> 18	mph	> 13	mph	≤ 4.25	≤4.25	< 3
Е	< 39	> 58.3	< 35	>15	mph	>10	mph	< 5.00	< 5.00	< 2

% ffs = Percent free flow speed ats = Average travel speed

Generalized Annual Average Daily Volumes for Florida's Transitioning Areas and

IADLE Z		_	-	Iransit		Areas and		1		
		A	reas O	ver 5,00	0 Not Ir	n Urbanize	ed Area	S		12/18/12
INTERR	RUPTED FI	LOW FAC	LITIES			UNINTEF	RUPTED	FLOW FA	CILITIES	
STATE S	IGNALIZ	ZED ART	TERIALS	5			FREEV	WAYS		
Class I (40 Lanes Median 2 Undivided 4 Divided 6 Divided	mph or high B * *	her posted s C 14,400 34,000 52,100	peed limit) D 16,200 35,500 53,500	E ** ** **	Lanes 4 6 8 10	B 44,100 65,100 85,100 106,200	C 57,60 85,60 113,70 141,70	00 68 00 102 00 135 00 168	D 3,900 2,200 5,200 3,800	E 71,700 111,000 150,000 189,000
Class II (35 Lanes Median 2 Undivided 4 Divided 6 Divided Non-State Si (Alte Non-State	5 mph or slo B * * * ignalized I er correspondi by the indicat Signalized I	wer posted = C 6,500 9,900 16,000 Roadway A ng state voluted percent.) Roadways	speed limit) D 13,300 28,800 44,900 Adjustmen mes - 10%	E 14,200 31,600 47,600	Pres	F Auxiliary Land ent in Both Dir + 20,000	reeway Ad	ljustments	Ramp Metering + 5%	
Median 2 Divided 2 Undivided Multi Undivided Multi Undivided One-V Multiply t	& Turn L Exclusive Left Lanes Yes No Yes No - Way Facili	ane Adjus Exclu s Right I No No No Ye ty Adjust	stments sive A canes b b s s ment rectional	djustment Factors +5% -20% -5% -25% + 5%	Lanes 2 4 6 Lanes 2 Multi	JNINTERR Median Undivided Divided Divided Uninterrupt Median Divided Undivided	UPTED 1 B 9,200 35,300 52,800 ted Flow H Exclusive Ye	FLOW H C 17,300 49,600 74,500 Tighway A eleft lanes es	IGHWA D 24,400 62,900 94,300 .djustmen Adjustm +	YS E 33,300 69,600 104,500 ts ent factors 5%
VC	olumes in this	s table by 0.0	5		Multi	Undivided	N N	lo	-2	5%
E (Multiply motorized directional roadway) Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane Coverage 0-49% 50-84% 85-100%	BICYCLE I vehicle volu lanes to deter volun B * 1,900 7,500	C MODE ² mes shown be mine two-way nes.) C 2,600 5,500 19,500	2 elow by num y maximum 3 6,100 18,400 >19,500	E 19,500 >19,500 **	¹ Values s service a does not applicatic more spe not be us Calculati the Trans ² Level o of motori ³ Buses pe flow.	hown are presented nd are for the auton constitute a standar ons. The computer r icific planning appli ed for corridor or ir ons are based on pl. it Capacity and Qu. f service for the bic zed vehicles, not m er hour shown are on	l as two-way ar nobile/truck mo d and should be models from wh ications. The tal ntersection desig anning applicat ality of Service ycle and pedest umber of bicycl ly for the peak h	nnual average d des unless spec e used only for ich this table i ble and derivin; gn, where more ions of the Hig Manual. trian modes in 1 lists or pedestri our in the single	aily volumes fo ifically stated. general plannii s derived shoul g computer mo refined techni hway Capacity this table is bas ans using the f direction of the	or levels of This table ng Id be used for dels should iques exist. Manual and ted on number acility.
PE	DESTRIA	AN MOD	\mathbf{E}^2	h f	* Canno	t be achieved using	table input valu	ue defaults.		
Gidewalk Coverage 0-49% 50-84% 85-100% BUS MOD (Buses	B * 3,800 BE (Sched s in peak hour	C * 1,600 10,500 uled Fixe in peak direct	D 2,800 8,600 17,100 ed Route)	E 9,400 15,600 >19,500	** Not ar volumes been reac achievabi value def	pplicable for that le greater than level o hed. For the bicycl le because there is r aults.	vel of service le f service D bec e mode, the lev no maximum ve	etter grade. For ome F because el of service let chicle volume t	the automobile intersection ca tter grade (inch hreshold using	e mode, pacities have uding F) is not table input
Sidewalk Coverage 0-84% 85-100%	B > 5 > 4	$C \\ \ge 4 \\ > 3$	$D \ge 3 > 2$	E ≥ 2 > 1	Source: Florida D Systems 1 <u>www.dot</u>	Department of Trans Planning Office .state.fl.us/planning	portation <u>z/systems/sm/lo</u>	s/default.shtm		

TABLE 2 (continued)

Generalized Annual Average Daily Volumes for Florida's Transitioning and

Areas Over 5,000 Not In Urbanized Areas

12/18/12

			-			Interrupted	l Flow Facil	ities	
INPUT VALUE	Uninterru	pted Flow	Facilities		Sta	te Arterials		Cla	ass I
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways	High	iwavs	Cla	iss I	(Class II	Bicvcle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS	,		,						
Area type (t,uo)	t	t	t	t	t	t	t	t	t
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-10	2	4-6	2	4-6	2	4-6	4	4
Posted speed (mph)	70	50	50	45	50	30	30	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	55	55	50	55	35	35	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n,y)	n	n	n						
Median (n, nr, r)		n	r	n	v	n	v	r	r
Terrain (1,r)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		60							
Exclusive left turn lane impact (n, y)		[n]	у	у	у	у	у	у	у
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)				n	n	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	8	5	5	1.8	2	2	2	2	2
Number of basic segments	4								
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS									
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.09	0 0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.555	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.57	0 0.570	0.565	0.570	0.570
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.00	0 1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1,700	2,100	1,950	1,95	0 1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy vehicle percent	9.0	4.0	4.0	2.0	3.0	2.0	3.0	3.0	3.0
Local adjustment factor	0.85	0.97	0.95						
% left turns				12	12	12	12	12	12
% right turns				12	12	12	12	12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS									
Number of signals				5	4	10	10	4	6
Arrival type (1-6)				4	3	4	4	4	4
Signal type (a, c, p)				с	c	с	с	с	с
Cycle length (C)				120	150	120	150	120	120
Effective green ratio (g/C)				0.44	0.45	5 0.44	0.45	0.44	0.44
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERISTICS									
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)								n, 50%, y	n
Outside lane width (n, t, w)								t	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)								t	
On-street parking (n, y)								n	n
Sidewalk (n. v)									n. 50%, v
Sidewalk/roadway separation (a t w)									t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)									n
	LEX	TI OF SE	DVICE TI	IDECIIOI	DC				п
	LE V Froowove	EL OF SE High	KVICE II	IKESHUI	JDS Artori	ale	Biovolo	Dod	Buc
Level of	Ficeways		Multilana	Class	I	Class II	Dicycie	I cu	Dus
Service	Density	1 wo-Lane	Density	ciass	1	ciass II	Score	Score	Buses/hr.
B	< 17	> 83 3	<17	> 31 m	ph	> 22 mnh	< 2.75	< 2.75	< 6
C	< 24	> 75.0	< 24	> 23 m	ph	> 17 mph	< 3 50	< 3.50	< 4
	< 31	> 66.7	< 31	> 18 m	ph	> 13 mph	< 4.25	< 4.25	< 3
E	≤ 39	> 58.3	 ≤ 35	> 15 m	ph	> 10 mph	≤ 5.00	≤ 5.00	< 2

% ffs = Percent free flow speed ats = Average travel speed

Generalized Annual Average Daily Volumes for Florida's Rural Undeveloped Areas and

Developed Areas Less Than 5.000 Population¹

			De	velope	d Areas I	ess Th	an 5,000 l	Populat	ion¹		12/18/12
	INTERR		LOW FAC	ILITIES			UNINTE	RUPTED	FLOW FA	CILITIES	
	STATE SI	GNALI	ZED AR'	FERIAL	S			FREE	WAYS		
Lanes	Median	В	С	D	Е	Lanes	В	С	l ,	D	Е
2	Undivided	*	12,900	14,200	**	4	28,800	43,00	00 52	,300	60,000
4	Divided	*	29,300	30,400	**	6	43,000	64,00	00 78	,300	92,500
6	Divided	*	45,200	45,800	**	8	57,500	85,40	00 104	,400	123,500
	Non-State Si (Alter t Non-State	gnalized r correspond by the indica Signalized	Roadway ing state volu ted percent.) Roadways	Adjustme imes - 10%	nts		F Pi	reeway A Auxiliar esent in Bo + 20	djustments y Lanes th Directions ,000	3	
	Median	& Turn l	ane Adiu	stments							
		Exclusiv	e Exclu	isive A	djustment	ι	JNINTERR	UPTED	FLOW H	IGHWAY	YS
Lanes	Median	Left Lane	es Right	Lanes	Factors			Rural Und	leveloped		
2	Divided	Yes	N	0	+5%	Lanes	Median	В	C	D	Е
2	Undivided	No	N	0	-20%	2	Undivided	4,700	8,400	14,300	28,600
Multi	Undivided	Yes	N	0	-5%	4	Divided	25,700	40.300	51.000	57,900
Multi		N0 _	N Y	0	-25% + 5%	6	Divided	38,800	60,400	76,700	86,800
			1					Develop	d Areas		
	One-V	Vay Faci	lity Adjus	tment		Lanes	Median	R	C	D	E
	Multiply t	he correspo	nding two-d	irectional		2	Undivided	8 700	16 400	23 100	31 500
	vo	lumes in th	is table by 0	.6		4	Divided	25,900	40 700	52 400	59,600
						т 6	Divided	38 800	61 000	78 400	89,500
						0	Divided	38,800	01,000	78,400	89,500
(M	B Iultiply motorized	SICYCL vehicle vol	E MODE	2 below by nur	nber of	Alter L	Pas OS B-D volum the	sing Lane les in propo highway so	Adjustment rtion to the p egment lengt	n ts bassing lane h	length to
dire	ectional roadway l	anes to dete volu	rmine two-wa	ay maximum	service	Lanes	Uninterrup	ted Flow H	lighway A	djustment Adjustme	s nt factors
	1	Rural IIn	developed			2	Divided	Y	es	+5	%
	Paved		uevelopeu			Multi	Undivided	Y	es	-5	%
Shou	lder/Bicycle					Multi	Undivided	N	lo	-25	5%
Land	e Coverage	В	С	D	Е						
Luii	0-49%	*	1 300	2 000	$3\overline{200}$	¹ Values	shown are presented	l as two-way ai	nnual average da	ily volumes for	r levels of
4	50-84%	1.000	2,100	3.200	10.600	service a	nd are for the auton	nobile/truck mo	odes unless spec	ifically stated.	This table
8	5-100%	2,600	3,900	18,500	>18,500	applicati	ons. The computer	models from w	hich this table is	derived should	be used for
		Dovolon	od Aroos			not be us	cific planning appli ed for corridor or in	cations. The ta ntersection desi	ble and deriving gn, where more	computer mod refined techniq	els should ues exist.
	Paved	Develop	cu Alcas			Calculat	ons are based on pl	anning applicat	tions of the High	way Capacity	Manual and
Shou	lder/Bicycle					the Irans	sit Capacity and Qu	anty of Service	Manual.		
Lane	e Coverage	В	С	D	E	² Level o	f service for the bic	ycle and pedes	trian modes in t	his table is base	d on number
Lun	0-49%	*	2 300	4 900	15 600	of motor	ized vehicles, not n	umber of bicyc	lists or pedestria	ins using the fa	cility.
4	50-84%	1 700	2,500 4 500	13 300	18,500	* Canno	t be achieved using	table input val	ue defaults.		
8	5-100%	5,900	18 500	>18 500	**	** Not a	nnlicable for that le	vel of service k	etter grade. For	the automobile	mode
0	5 10070	5,700	10,200	. 10,500		volumes	greater than level o	f service D bec	ome F because	intersection cap	acities have
	PE	DESTRI	AN MOI	DE ²		been read	ched. For the bicycl	e mode, the lev	el of service let	ter grade (inclue	ding F) is not
(M dire	lultiply motorized ectional roadway l	vehicle vol anes to dete volu	umes shown l rmine two-w mes.)	below by nur ay maximum	nber of service	value de	faults.	io maximum v	enicie volume tr	nesnota using t	ao le input
Sidewa	alk Coverage	В	С	D	Е						
214011	0-49%	*	*	2,700	9,200	Source:					
4	50-84%	*	1.500	8,400	14,900	Florida I	Department of Trans	portation			
8	5-100%	3,600	10,200	16,700	>19,200	www.do	t.state.fl.us/planning	g/systems/sm/lo	os/default.shtm		

TABLE 3 (continued)

Generalized Annual Average Daily Volumes for Florida's Rural Undeveloped Areas and

Developed Areas Less Than 5,000 Population

12/18/12

INPUT VALUE		Uninterru	pted Flow	Facilities			Interru	oted Flow I	Facilities	
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways		High	ways		Arte	rials	Bicy	/cle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTIC	s									
Area type (ru, rd)	rural	ru	ru	rd	rd	rd	rd	ru	rd	rd
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-8	2	4-6	2	4-6	2	4-6	4	4	2
Posted speed (mph)	70	55	65	50	55	45	45	55	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	60	70	55	60	50	50	60	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n,y)	n									
Median (n, nr, r)		n	r	n	r	n	r	r	r	n
Terrain (l,r)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		20		60						
Exclusive left turn lanes (n, y)		[n]	у	[n]	у	у	у	у	у	у
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)						n	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	14	10	10	5	5	1.9	2.2	4	2	2
Number of basic segments	4									
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS										
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.105	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.555	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.570	0.570	0.550
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1,700	2,300	1,700	2,200	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy vehicle percent	12.0	5.0	12.0	4.0	4.0	3.0	3.0	6.0	3.5	3.0
Local adjustment factor	0.84	0.88	0.73	0.97	0.82					
% left turns						12	12		12	12
% right turns						12	12		12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS	5									
Number of signals						5	6	2	4	4
Arrival type (1-6)						3	3	3	3	3
Signal type (a, c, p)						с	c	а	а	а
Cycle length (C)						90	90	60	90	90
Effective green ratio (g/C)						0.44	0.44	0.37	0.44	0.44
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERIS	TICS									
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)								n,50%,y	n,50%,y	n
Outside lane width (n, t, w)								t	t	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)								t	t	
Sidewalk (n, y)										n,50%,y
Sidewalk/roadway separation(a, t,w)										t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)										n
		LEVE	OF SER	VICE TH	RESHOLD	S				
	_			1102 112		High	ways			
Level of	Free	ways	Two-L	ane ru	Two-L	ane rd	Multi	lane ru	Multi	lane rd
Service	Den	sity	%tsf	ats	%1	ffs	Der	nsity	Der	nsity
В	≤1	4	≤ 50	< 55	> 82	3.3	≤	14	<u> </u>	14
С	≤ 2	2	≤65	< 50	> 7	5.0	≤	22	<	22
D	≤ 2	.9	≤ 80	< 45	> 60	5.7	\leq	29	<	29
E	$\frac{\leq 29}{\leq 39}$		> 80	<u><</u> 40	> 58	8.3		34	≤	34
	1			I						
Level of		Arteria	ls		Bic	ycle		Pe	edestrian	
Service	Ma	uor City/C	co.(ats)		Sco	ore			Score	
В		> 31 mp	h		≤2	.75			<u>≤ 2.75</u>	
C		> 23 mp	h 1		<u>≤3</u>	.50			≤ 3.50	
D		> 18 mp	n 1		<u>≤4</u>	.25	<u>≤ 4.25</u>			

E> 15 mph ≤ 5.00 ≤ 5.00 %tsf = Percent time spent following%ffs = Percent of free flow speedats = Average travel speedru = Rural undevelopedrd = Rural developed

Generalized **Peak Hour Two-Way** Volumes for Florida's **Urbanized Areas**¹

											12/18/12
	INTERF	UPTED FLO	OW FACI	LITIES			UNINTER	RRUPTED F	LOW FA	CILITIES	
	STATE S	IGNALIZI	ED ART	ERIAL	S			FREEW	AYS		
Lanes 2 4 6 8	Class I (40 Median Undivided Divided Divided Divided	mph or hight B * * *	er posted sp C 1,510 3,420 5,250 7 090	Deed limit) D 1,600 3,580 5,390 7 210	E ** ** **	Lanes 4 6 8 10 12	B 4,120 6,130 8,230 10,330 14,450	C 5,540 8,370 11,100 14,040 18,880) 6) 10) 13) 16) 22	D ,700 ,060 ,390 ,840 ,030	E 7,190 11,100 15,010 18,930 22,860
Lanes 2 4 6 8	Class II (35 Median Undivided Divided Divided Divided Non-State Si (Alte Non-State	mph or slow B * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	rer posted s C 660 1,310 2,090 2,880 oadway A g state volun d percent.) oadways	peed limit D 1,330 2,920 4,500 6,060 djustme - 10%) E 1,410 3,040 4,590 6,130 nts	Pres	F Auxiliary Land ent in Both Dird + 1,800	reeway Adj es ections	justments	Ramp Metering + 5%	
Lanes 2 2	Median Median Divided Undivided	& Turn La Exclusive Left Lanes Yes No	n e Adjus Exclus Right L No No	tments ive A anes	djustment Factors +5% -20%	Lanes 2 4	U NINTERR Median Undivided Divided	UPTED F B 770 3,300	LOW H C 1,530 4,660	IGHWAY D 2,170 5,900	YS E 2,990 6,530
Multi Multi –	Undivided Undivided – One-V Multiply t	Yes No – Way Facility he correspond plumes in this	No No Yes y Adjustn ling two-dir table by 0.6	nent ectional	-5% -25% + 5%	6 Lanes 2 Multi Multi	Divided Uninterrupt Median Divided Undivided Undivided	4,950 ced Flow Hi Exclusive l Yes Yes No	6,990 ghway A left lanes s	8,840 djustment Adjustme +5 -5 -25	9,790 s ent factors 5%
(Mi dire Paved S La	E ultiply motorized ctional roadway Shoulder/Bicy ne Coverage 0-49% 50-84% 85-100%	BICYCLE vehicle volum lanes to determ volume ycle B * 190 830	MODE ² tes shown be time two-way (s.) C 260 600 1,770	low by nun maximum D 680 1,770 >1,770 F ²	ber of service E 1,770 >1,770 **	¹ Values : are for th constitut computer planning corridor based on Capacity ² Level o of motor ³ Buses p flow.	shown are presented a automobile/truck e a standard and sho r models from which applications. The te or intersection desig planning applicatio and Quality of Serv- f service for the bic ized vehicles, not nu er hour shown are on	as peak hour tw modes unless spe uld be used only h this table is der able and deriving n, where more rr ns of the Highwa vice Manual. ycle and pedestri umber of bicyclis ly for the peak hou	o-way volume ecifically state for general p rived should bu computer mo efined techniq ay Capacity M han modes in the sts or pedestria ur in the single o	es for levels of s d. This table do lanning applica e used for more dels should not ues exist. Calcu lanual and the T his table is base nns using the fa direction of the l	service and bes not tions. The specific be used for alations are fransit ed on number cility.
(Mi dire Side Side	ultiply motorized ctional roadway 0-49% 50-84% 85-100% BUS MOD (Buses	vehicle volum lanes to determ volume e B * 340 E (Schedu in peak hour i	c shown be time two-way (s.) C * 150 960 c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	low by nun maximum D 250 780 1,560 d Route tion)	E 850 1,420 >1,770) ³	* Canno ** Not a volumes been read achievab value det	t be achieved using pplicable for that lee greater than level o ched. For the bicycle le because there is r faults.	table input value vel of service lett f service D becor e mode, the level to maximum veh	e defaults. ter grade. For 1 me F because 1 of service lett ic le volume th	the automobile intersection cap ter grade (includ reshold using t	mode, bacities have ding F) is not table input
5100	0-84% 85-100%	> 5 > 4	≥ 4 ≥ 3	≥ 3 ≥ 2	≥ 2 ≥ 1	Florida I Systems <u>www.dot</u>	Department of Trans Planning Office t.state.fl.us/planning	portation <u>z/systems/sm/los/</u>	/default.shtm		

TABLE 4 (continued)

Generalized **Peak Hour Two-Way** Volumes for Florida's **Urbanized Areas**

										12/18/12
	TT T		F			Inte	rrupted H	Flow Facili	ties	
INPUT VALUE	Uninterru	upted Flow	Facilities		St	ate Ar	terials		Cla	iss I
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways	High	iways	Cla	ass I		Cla	ss II	Bicycle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS										
Area type (lu, u)	lu	u	u	u	u		u	u	u	u
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-12	2	4-6	2	4-8		2	4-8	4	4
Posted speed (mph)	70	50	50	45	50		30	30	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	55	55	50	55		35	35	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n.v)	n									
Median (n. nr. r)		n	r	n	r		n	r	r	r
Terrain (1.r)	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		80								
Exclusive left turn lane impact (n, y)		[n]	y	y	v		y	v	v	y
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)			5	n	n		n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	4	5	5	2	2		1.9	1.8	2	2
Number of basic segments	4									
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS		I						I		I
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.09	0	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.547	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.56	0	0.565	0.560	0.565	0.565
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.00	0	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1,700	2,100	1,950	1,95	0	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy vehicle percent	4.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0		1.0	1.0	2.5	2.0
Local adjustment factor	0.91	0.97	0.98							
% left turns				12	12		12	12	12	12
% right turns				12	12		12	12	12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS										
Number of signals				4	4		10	10	4	6
Arrival type (1-6)				3	3		4	4	4	4
Signal type (a, c, p)				с	c		с	с	с	с
Cycle length (C)				120	150)	120	120	120	120
Effective green ratio (g/C)				0.44	0.4	5	0.44	0.44	0.44	0.44
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERISTIC	8									
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)	5								n 50% v	n
Outside lane width (n, t, w)									t.	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)									t	
On-street parking (n, y)									n	n
Sidewalk (n, v)										n. 50%. v
Sidewalk/roadway separation (a. t. w)										t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, v)										n
r ····································	IE		брудсе т	UDESUA	י חפ					
	Freeways	High	IWAYS	ΠΚΕδΠΟΙ	Arter	ials		Bicycle	Ped	Bus
T. TO		Two-Lane	Multilane	Class	I	С	lass IJ	-		
Level of Service	Density	%ffs	Density	ats			ats	Score	Score	Buses/hr.
B	≤17	> 83.3	≤ 17	> 31 m	ph	> 2	2 mph	≤ 2.75	≤ 2.75	≤ 6
C	< 24	> 75.0	< 24	> 23 m	ph	> 1	7 mph	< 3.50	< 3.50	< 4
D	< 31	> 66 7	< 31	> 18 m	ph	> 1	3 mph	< 4 2.5	< 4 2.5	
E	< 39	> 58.3	< 35	> 15 m	ph	> 1	0 mph	< 5.00	< 5.00	< 2

% ffs = Percent free flow speed ats = Average travel speed

Generalized **Peak Hour Two-Way** Volumes for Florida's **Transitioning** and

1	ADLL J		Δ		Vor 5 000		ng anu h Hrhaniza	d Aroad	_1		
					ver 5,000						12/18/12
	INTERK		JW FACI	LITIES			UNINTER	RUPTED	FLOW FA	CILITIES	
	STATE SI	GNALIZI	ED ART	ERIALS	S			FREEV	VAYS		
Lanes 2 4 6	Class I (40 Median Undivided Divided Divided	mph or highe B * *	er posted sp C 1,300 3,060 4,690	D D 1,460 3,200 4,820	E ** ** **	Lanes 4 6 8 10	B 3,970 5,860 7,660 9,550	C 5,190 7,710 10,230 12,750	0 6 0 9 0 12 0 15	D 5,200 9,190 9,170 5,190	E 6,460 9,990 13,500 17,010
	Class II (35	mph or slow	er posted s	need limit))		F	reewav Ad	iustments	3	
Lanes 2 4 6	Median Undivided Divided Divided Non-State Si (Alter Non-State S	gnalized Ro corresponding by the indicated Signalized Ro	C 580 890 1,440 Dadway A state volun percent.) Dadways	D 1,200 2,590 4,040 djustmen nes - 10%	E 1,280 2,850 4,280	Pres	Auxiliary Lane ent in Both Dire + 1,800	ections	Justinena	Ramp Metering + 5%	
	Median	& Turn La	ne Adjus	tments							70
Lanes 2 2 Multi Multi	Median Divided Undivided Undivided Undivided	Exclusive Left Lanes Yes No Yes No	Exclus Right L No No No Yes	ive A anes	djustment Factors +5% -20% -5% -25% + 5%	Lanes 2 4 6	JNINTERR Median Undivided Divided Divided	UPTED F B 820 3,170 4,750	C 1,550 4,460 6,700	IGHWAY D 2,190 5,660 8,480	E 2,990 6,260 9,400
			105		1 370	Lanes	Median	Exclusive	ignway A left lanes	Adjustment Adjustme	s nt factors
	One-V	Vay Facility	Adjustn	nent		2	Divided	Ye	s	+5	%
	Multiply tl vo	ne correspond lumes in this t	ing two-dire able by 0.6	ectional		Multi Multi	Undivided Undivided	Ye No	S D	-5' -25	9% 5%
(Mu direc	B altiply motorized ctional roadway l	ICYCLE vehicle volum anes to determ volume	MODE ² es shown be ine two-way s.)	low by num maximum	iber of service	¹ Values are for th constitut compute planning corridor	shown are presented the automobile/truck is e a standard and sho r models from which applications. The ta or intersection desig	as peak hour tw modes unless sp uld be used only n this table is de ble and deriving n, where more r	vo-way volum becifically state y for general p rived should b g computer more refined technic	es for levels of s ed. This table do lanning applica e used for more odels should not ues exist. Calcu	service and bes not tions. The specific be used for alations are
Paved S	Snouldef/Blcy	B	С	D	Е	based on Capacity	planning application	ns of the Highw	ay Capacity N	fanual and the T	ransit
	0-49% 50-84%	* 170	140 500	550 1,650	1,760 >1,760	² Level o	f service for the bicy	ycle and pedestr	ian modes in t	his table is base	d on number
	85-100%	670	1,760	>1,760	**	³ Buses p	er hour shown are onl	y for the peak ho	our in the single	direction of the l	nigher traffic
	PEI	DESTRIA	N MOD	E^2		flow.			9.0		
(Mu direc	ultiply motorized ctional roadway l	vehicle volum anes to determ volume	es shown be ine two-way	low by num maximum	iber of service	* Canno ** Not a	t be achieved using pplicable for that lev	table input valu	e defaults. tter grade. For	the automobile	mode,
Sidev	walk Coverage 0-49% 50-84% 85-100%	e B * * 340	C * 150 950	D 250 780 1,540	E 850 1,410 >1,760	volumes been read achievab value de	greater than level of ched. For the bicycle le because there is n faults.	f service D beco e mode, the leve to maximum vel	ome F because el of service let hicle volume t	intersection cap ter grade (inclu- hreshold using t	acities have ding F) is not able input
	BUS MOD	E (Schedu	led Fixe	d Route)) ³						
Sidev	walk Coverage 0-84% 85-100%	$\begin{array}{c} \text{m peak noul n} \\ \text{e} & \text{B} \\ & > 5 \\ & > 4 \end{array}$	C ≥ 4 > 3	$D \\ \ge 3 \\ > 2$	$E \ge 2$ > 1	Source: Florida I Systems <u>www.do</u>	Department of Trans Planning Office t.state.fl.us/planning	portation /systems/sm/los	:/default.shtm		

TABLE 5 (continued)

Generalized Peak Hour Two-Way Volumes for Florida's Transitioning Areas and Areas Over 5,000 Not In Urbanized Areas

12/18/12

						Intorrunto	I Flow Fooil	itios	
INPUT VALUE	Uninterr	upted Flow	Facilities		Sta	te Arterials		Cla	ass I
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways	High	nways	Cla	ass I	(Class II	Bicycle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS								1	1
Area type (t.uo)	t	t	t	t	t	t	t	t	t
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-10	2	4-6	2	4-6	2	4-6	4	4
Posted speed (mph)	70	50	50	45	50	30	30	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	55	55	50	55	35	35	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n,y)	n	n	n						
Median (n, nr, r)		n	r	n	у	n	у	r	r
Terrain (l,r)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		60							
Exclusive left turn lane impact (n, y)		[n]	у	у	у	у	у	у	у
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)				n	n	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	8	5	5	1.8	2	2	2	2	2
Number of basic segments	4								
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS									
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.09	0 0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.555	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.57	0 0.570	0.565	0.570	0.570
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.00	0 1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1,700	2,100	1,950	1,95	0 1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy vehicle percent	9.0	4.0	4.0	2.0	3.0	2.0	3.0	3.0	3.0
Local adjustment factor	0.85	0.97	0.95						
% left turns				12	12	12	12	12	12
% right turns				12	12	12	12	12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS									
Number of signals				5	4	10	10	4	6
Arrival type (1-6)				4	3	4	4	4	4
Signal type (a, c, p)				с	c	с	с	с	c
Cycle length (C)				120	150	120	150	120	120
Effective green ratio (g/C)				0.44	0.43	0.44	0.45	0.44	0.44
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERISTICS	5								
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)	-							n, 50%, y	n
Outside lane width (n, t, w)								t	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)								t	
On-street parking (n, y)								n	n
Sidewalk (n, y)									n, 50%, y
Sidewalk/roadway separation (a, t, w)									t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)									n
	IFI		DVICE TI	IDESUOI	חפ				
	Freeways	Hioł	INVICE II		Arteri	als	Bicycle	Ped	Bus
Level of	1100 mays	Two-Lane	Multilane	Class	I	Class II	Diejek	- Cu	
Service	Density	%ffe	Density	ate	-	ate	Score	Score	Buses/hr.
B	< 17	> 83 3	<17	> 31 m	nh	> 22 mph	< 2.75	< 2.75	< 6
	< 24	> 75.0	- 1 / < 24	> 22	r" nh	> 17 mnh	< 2.50	< 2.50	
	≥ 24	> / 3.0	≥ 24	> 23 m	րո	> 17 mpn	≥ 3.30	≥ 3.30	<u>></u> 4
D	≤ 51	> 00./	≤ 31	> 18 m	pn	> 13 mph	≤ 4.25	≤ 4.25	< 5

% ffs = Percent free flow speed ats = Average travel speed

 \leq 39

> 58.3

 \leq 35

>15 mph

Е

 ≤ 5.00

 ≤ 5.00

< 2

> 10 mph

Generalized **Peak Hour Two-Way** Volumes for Florida's Rural Undeveloped Areas and Developed Areas Less Than 5.000 Population¹

.

				ciopet		1000 111	an 3,000 i	opulat			12/18/12
	INTERR	UPTED FLC	DW FACI	LITIES			UNINTER	RUPTED	FLOW FA	CILITIES	
	STATE SI	GNALIZI	ED ART	ERIALS	5			FREEV	WAYS		
Lanes	Median	В	С	D	Е	Lanes	В	С		D	Е
2	Undivided	*	1.220	1.350	**	4	3.020	4.51	.0 5	5.490	6.300
4	Divided	*	2,790	2.890	**	6	4.510	6.72	20 8	3.220	9.720
6	Divided	*	4 300	4 3 5 0	**	8	6 040	8 97	0 10	960	12 970
Ű	Diffued		.,	.,		Ű	0,010	0,57	• • • •	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
	Non-State Si (Alte Non-State	gnalized Ro r corresponding by the indicated Signalized Ro	state volur percent.) padways	djustmen nes - 10%	ıts		F Pr	reeway Ad Auxiliary esent in Bot + 1,8	ljustments y Lanes h Direction 300	S S	
	Median	& Turn La	ne Adius	tments							
	Mculan	Exclusive	Exclus	sive A	diustment	τ	J NINTERR	UPTED I	FLOW H	IGHWAY	YS
Lanes	Median	Left Lanes	Right L	anes	Factors			Dunal Und	loveloped		
2	Divided	Yes	No		+5%	Lanes	Median		C	р	Б
2	Undivided	No	No		-20%		Undivided	D 440	700	1 250	2 710
Multi	Undivided	Yes	No		-5%		Divided	2 4 4 0	2 9 2 0	1,550	2,710
Multi	Undivided	No	No		-25%	4	Divided	2,440	5,820	4,840	3,300
-	_	-	Yes	5	+ 5%	6	Divided	3,680	5,730	7,280	8,240
	One I	Voy Fooility	. A dinatr	nont				Develope	d Areas		
	Multiply t	he correspond	ing two-dir	ectional		Lanes	Median	В	С	D	E
	viuntipiy t	lumes in this t	able by 0.6	cenonar		2	Undivided	820	1,550	2,190	2,990
						4	Divided	2,460	3,860	4,970	5,660
						6	Divided	3,680	5,790	7,440	8,500
(M dire	B ultiply motorized octional roadway l	SICYCLE I vehicle volume anes to determine volume	MODE ² es shown be ine two-way	low by num maximum	ber of service	Alter L	Pas OS B-D volum the Uninterrupt	sing Lane es in propor highway se ted Flow H	Adjustment ation to the performance of the performa	nts passing lane th djustment	length to s
		volume.	5.)			Lanes	Median	Exclusive	left lanes	Adjustme	nt factors
	I	Rural Unde	veloned			2	Divided	Y	es	+5	%
Paved	Shoulder/Bicy	icle	velopeu			Multi	Undivided	Ye	es	-5	%
Ia	ne Coverage	B	С	D	Е	Multi	Undivided	Ν	0	-25	5%
	0-49%	*	120	190	300						
	50-84%	100	200	310	>1 010	¹ Values s	shown are presented	l as peak hour t	wo-way volum	es for levels of s	service and
	85-100%	250	370	1 760	>1 760	are for th	e automobile/truck	modes unless s	pecifically state	ed. This table do	bes not
	00 100/0	200	570	1,700	1,700	constitute	r models from whic	h this table is d	erived should b	e used for more	specific
		Developed	Areas			planning	applications. The t	able and derivin	ng computer mo	dels should not	be used for
Paved	Shoulder/Bicy	vcle				based on	or intersection designation planning application	gn, where more ons of the Highy	refined techniq way Canacity N	ues exist. Calcu Ianual and the T	fransit
La	ne Coverage	В	С	D	Е	Capacity	and Quality of Ser	vice Manual.			
	0-49%	*	220	460	1,480	² Level o	f carvica for the hic	vela and nadact	rian modes in t	his table is base	d on number
	50-84%	170	430	1,270	>1,760	of motor	ized vehicles, not m	umber of bicycl	lists or pedestria	ans using the fa	cility.
	85-100%	560	1,760	>1,760	**	* Canno	t be achieved using	table input val	10 defaulte		
	PE	DESTRIA		\mathbf{E}^2		Canno	t be achieved using	table input van	ac uclauits.		
(M dire	ultiply motorized	vehicle volume anes to determ volume	es shown be ine two-way s.)	low by num maximum	ber of service	** Not ap volumes been read achievab	pplicable for that le greater than level o ched. For the bicycl le because there is a faults	vel of service le f service D beco e mode, the leve no maximum ve	etter grade. For ome F because el of service let chicle volume tl	the automobile intersection cap ter grade (inclu- hreshold using t	mode, bacities have ding F) is not table input
Side	walk Coverag	e B	С	D	Е	value del	uuito.				
	0-49%	*	*	220	840	Source					
	50-84%	*	120	780	1.390	Florida I	Department of Trans	portation			
	85-100%	320	940	1,560	>1,820	Systems	Planning Office	/systems/em/lo	s/default shtm		
					-						

TABLE 6 (continued)

Generalized **Peak Hour Two-Way** Volumes for Florida's **Rural Undeveloped Areas** and **Developed Areas Less Than 5,000 Population**

12/18/12

INPUT VALUE		Uninterru	pted Flow	Facilities			Interrup	oted Flow I	acilities	
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways		High	ways		Arte	rials	Bicy	/cle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTIC	S									
Area type (ru, rd)	rural	ru	ru	rd	rd	rd	rd	ru	rd	rd
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-8	2	4-6	2	4-6	2	4-6	4	4	2
Posted speed (mph)	70	55	65	50	55	45	45	55	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	60	70	55	60	50	50	60	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n,y)	n									
Median (n, nr, r)		n	r	n	r	n	r	r	r	n
Terrain (l,r)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		20		60						
Exclusive left turn lanes (n, y)		[n]	у	[n]	у	у	у	у	у	у
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)						n	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	14	10	10	5	5	1.9	2.2	4	2	2
Number of basic segments	4									
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS										
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.105	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.555	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.570	0.570	0.550
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1,700	2,300	1,700	2,200	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy vehicle percent	12.0	5.0	12.0	4.0	4.0	3.0	3.0	6.0	3.5	3.0
Local adjustment factor	0.84	0.88	0.73	0.97	0.82					
% left turns						12	12		12	12
% right turns						12	12		12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS	· · ·		I.							
Number of signals						5	6	2	1	4
Arrival type (1-6)						3	3	2	3	3
Signal type (a. c. p)						5	5	3	3	3
$\frac{\text{Signal type } (a, e, p)}{\text{Cycle length } (C)}$						90	90	60	00	00
Effective green ratio (g/C)						0.44	0.44	0.37	0.44	0.44
	TICS					0.77	0.11	0.57	0.11	0.11
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERIS								n 500/ w	n 500/ w	n
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)								n,50%,y	n,50%,y	n
Decrement condition (d. t. cr)								l t	<u>ا</u>	ι
Sidemalla (a, a)								l	l	m 500/ m
Sidewalk (fi, y)										n,50%,y
Sidewalk/roadway separation(a, t,w)										l
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)										n
	[LEVEI	L OF SER	VICE TH	RESHOLI	DS				
Level of	Free	ways				High	ways		M	1 1
Service	D		Two-L	ane ru	Two-L	ane rd	Multi	lane ru	Multi	lane ra
	Dens	sity	%tst	ats	%	tts	Dei	1sity	Der	14
В	≤ 1	4	≤ 50	<u>< 55</u>	> 8.	3.3 5.0	<u> </u>	14	<u> </u>	14
<u> </u>	≤2	2	≤ 65	<u>< 50</u>	> 7	5.0	<u> </u>	22	<u> </u>	22
D E	≤ 29		≤ 80	<u><45</u> < 40	> 6	6./ 0.2	<u></u>	29	<u> </u>	29
E	≤ 3	9	> 80	<u><</u> 40	> 3	8.3	2.	54	2	54
Level of		Arteria	s		Bic	vcle		Pe	destrian	
Service	Ma	jor City/C	o.(ats)		Sc	ore			Score	
В		> 31 mp	h		≤2	.75			≤ 2.75	
С		> 23 mp	h			.50			≤ 3.50	
D		> 18 mp	h		≤4	.25	$\frac{25}{25} \leq 4.25$			
Е		> 15 mp	h		≤ 5	.00	<u>≤ 5.00</u>			

%tsf = Percent time spent following %ffs = Percent of free flow speed ats = Average travel speed ru = Rural undeveloped rd = Rural developed

Generalized **Peak Hour Directional** Volumes for Florida's **Urbanized Areas**¹

											12/18/12
	INTERRUP	TED FLC	OW FACII	ITIES			UNINTE	RRUPTED F	LOW FA	CILITIES	
ST	ATE SIGN	NALIZI	ED ART	ERIALS				FREEV	VAYS		
Lanes Me 1 Un 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div Cla Lanes Me	ATE SIGT lass I (40 mpl edian divided vided vided vided ass II (35 mp edian	ALLEA h or highe B * * * * whor slow B	er posted sp C 830 1,910 2,940 3,970 er posted sp C 270	D 880 2,000 3,020 4,040 peed limit) D 750	E ** ** ** E	Lanes 2 3 4 5 6	B 2,260 3,360 4,500 5,660 7,900 F Auxiliary Lane	C 3,020 4,580 6,080 7,680 10,320	(A15)) 3) 5) 7) 9) 12 justments	D 3,660 5,500 7,320 9,220 2,060 S Ramp Metering	E 3,940 6,080 8,220 10,360 12,500
1 Una 2 Div 3 Div 4 Div Non	divided vided vided -State Signa (Alter cor by th Non-State Sign	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	370 730 1,170 1,610 Dadway A g state volum l percent.) Dadways	750 1,630 2,520 3,390 djustmen les - 10%	800 1,700 2,560 3,420 ts		+ 1,000			+ 5%	
	Exercise \mathbf{x}	LUFN La xclusive	ne Aajus Exclus	i ments ive Ad	iustment	τ	J NINTERR	UPTED F	LOW H	IGHWAY	YS
Lanes Me 1 Div 1 Und Multi Und Multi Und –	dian Le vided divided divided divided - One-Way Multiply the	ves Yes No Yes No - y Facility	Right La No No No Yes y Adjustn	nent	Factors +5% -20% -5% -25% +5%	Lanes 1 2 3 Lanes 1	Median Undivided Divided Divided Uninterrupt Median Divided	B 420 1,810 2,720 ted Flow Hi Exclusive	C 840 2,560 3,840 ighway A left lanes s	D 1,190 3,240 4,860 djustment Adjustme	E 1,640 3,590 5,380 s mt factors
	volum	les in this t	able by 1.2			Multi Multi	Undivided	Ye	s)	-25	% 5%
(Multiply directional	BIC motorized veh l roadway lanes	icle volume to determine volume	MODE ² es shown be ine two-way s.)	low by numb maximum s	per of ervice	Values s are for th constitute computer planning	shown are presented the automobile/truck e a standard and shu r models from whic applications. The t	as peak hour di modes unless sp buld be used only h this table is der able and deriving	rectional volu ecifically state for general p rived should b computer mo	mes for levels o ed. This table do lanning application of used for more odels should not	f service and bes not tions. The specific be used for
Paved Shou Lane Co 0-4	lder/Bicycle overage .9%	B *	C 150	D 390	E 1.000	based on Capacity	planning application and Quality of Ser	ons of the Highw vice Manual.	ay Capacity N	fanual and the T	Transit
50-8 85-1	84% 00%	110 470	340 1,000	1,000 >1,000	>1,000 **	² Level o of motori	f service for the bic ized vehicles, not n	ycle and pedestr umber of bicyclis	an modes in t sts or pedestria	this table is base ans using the fac	ed on number cility.
(Multiply directional	PEDE motorized veh l roadway lanes	STRIA icle volume to determi volume	N MODI es shown be ine two-way s.)	E ² low by numb maximum se	per of ervice	flow. * Canno ** Not ap volumes	t be achieved using pplicable for that le greater than level o	table input value vel of service let f service D beco	e defaults. ter grade. For me F because	the automobile intersection cap	mode, pacities have
50-8 50-8 85-1	Coverage 9% 84% 00%	B * 200	* 80 540	D 140 440 880	E 480 800 >1,000	been reac achievab value def	ched. For the bicycl le because there is faults.	e mode, the leve no maximum veł	l of service let icle volume tl	ter grade (includ hreshold using t	ding F) is no able input
BU	(Buses in p	Schedu	led Fixed	d Route) ³	5						
Sidewalk 0-8 85-1	Coverage 4% 00%	B > 5 > 4	$C \\ \ge 4 \\ \ge 3$	$ \begin{array}{c} D \\ \geq 3 \\ \geq 2 \end{array} $	$E \\ \ge 2 \\ \ge 1$	Source: Florida E Systems www.dot	Department of Trans Planning Office t.state.fl.us/planning	sportation <u>e/systems/sm/los</u>	/default.shtm		

TABLE 7
(continued)

Generalized **Peak Hour Directional** Volumes for Florida's **Urbanized Areas**

(continued)					Jrbanized Areas 12							
		-			Int	errupted F	low Facili	ties				
Uninterru	ipted Flow	Facilities	State Arterials					ss I				
Freeways	High	ways	Cla	ıss I		Cla	ss II	Bicycle	Pedestrian			
lu	u	u	u	u	1	u	u	u	u			
4-12	2	4-6	2	4-	8	2	4-8	4	4			
70	50	50	45	50	0	30	30	45	45			
75	55	55	50	55	5	35	35	50	50			
n												
	n	r	n	r		n	r	r	r			
1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	1			
	80											
	[n]	у	у	У	7	у	у	у	у			
			n	n	l	n	n	n	n			
4	5	5	2	2	2	1.9	1.8	2	2			
4												
0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.0	90	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090			
0.547	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.5	60	0.565	0.560	0.565	0.565			
1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.0	00	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000			
	1,700	2,100	1,950	1,9	50	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950			
4.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	0	1.0	1.0	2.5	2.0			
0.91	0.97	0.98										
			12	12	2	12	12	12	12			
			12	12	2	12	12	12	12			
			4	4	ł	10	10	4	6			
			3	3	5	4	4	4	4			
			с	с	;	с	с	с	с			
			120	15	50	120	120	120	120			
			0.44	0.4	45	0.44	0.44	0.44	0.44			
								n, 50%, y	n			
								t	t			
								t				
								n	n			
									n, 50%, y			
									t			
									n			
LEY	VEL OF SI	ERVICE T	HRESHO	LDS								
Freeways	High	ways		Arte	rials		Bicycle	Ped	Bus			
Der	Two-Lane	Multilane	Class	I	0	Class II		С	Deres /I			
Density	%ffs	Density	ats			ats	Score	Score	Buses/hr.			
≤17	> 83.3	≤ 17	> 31 m	ph	> 2	22 mph	≤ 2.75	≤ 2.75	≤ 6			
≤ 24	> 75.0	≤ 24	> 23 m	ph	>	17 mph	≤ 3.50	≤ 3.50	≤4			
≤ 31	> 66.7	≤ 3 1	> 18 m	ph	> 13 mph		> 13 mph < 4		≤ 4.25	≤ 4.25	< 3	
	Uninterru Freeways u 4-12 70 75 n 1 1 4 4 4 4 0.090 0.547 1.000 4.0 0.91 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Uninterruted Flow Freeways High Iu u 4-12 2 70 50 75 55 n 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 1.000 1.000 0.090 0.090 0.547 0.550 1.000 1.000 1.700 4.0 2.0 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 0.91 0.97 <td< td=""><td>Uninterrupted Flow Facilities Freeways Highways lu u u 4-12 2 4-6 70 50 50 75 55 55 n n r 1 1 1 80 </td><td>Urbanize Uninterrupted Flow Facilities Cla Freeways Highways Cla lu u u u 4-12 2 4-6 2 70 50 50 45 75 55 55 50 n n r n 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 80 </td><td>Uninterrupted Flow Facilities S Freeways Highways Class I lu u u u 4.12 2 4-6 2 4-6 70 50 50 45 50 75 55 55 50 55 n n r n r 1 1 1 1 1 1 80 - - - - - 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.000 0.00 0.547 0.550 0.550 0.550</td><td>Urbanized Area Intermed Flow Facilities Intermed Flow Facilities Freeways Highways Class I lu u u u u 4.12 2 4-6 2 4-8 70 50 50 45 50 75 55 55 50 55 n n r n r 1 1 1 1 1 80 - - - - [n] y y y y - n n - - 1 1 1 1 - - 4 5 5 2 2 - 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.547 0.550 0.550 0.560 1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000 0.91 0.97</td><td>Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facilities Interrupted F State Arterials Free ways Highways Class I Class I Class I lu u u u u u u li n r n r n n n r n r n n n li 1 1 1 1 1 n r n n n n li y y y y y li y y y y y li y y y y y li y<!--</td--><td>Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facility Interrupted Flow Facility Freeways Highways Class I Class I lu u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u line n n n n n n n n n n n n n line n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n line 0 0.090 0.090</td><td>Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facilities Interrupted Flow Facilities Viniterrupted Flow Facilities State Arterials Class I I u <thu< td=""></thu<></td></td></td<>	Uninterrupted Flow Facilities Freeways Highways lu u u 4-12 2 4-6 70 50 50 75 55 55 n n r 1 1 1 80	Urbanize Uninterrupted Flow Facilities Cla Freeways Highways Cla lu u u u 4-12 2 4-6 2 70 50 50 45 75 55 55 50 n n r n 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 80	Uninterrupted Flow Facilities S Freeways Highways Class I lu u u u 4.12 2 4-6 2 4-6 70 50 50 45 50 75 55 55 50 55 n n r n r 1 1 1 1 1 1 80 - - - - - 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.000 0.00 0.547 0.550 0.550 0.550	Urbanized Area Intermed Flow Facilities Intermed Flow Facilities Freeways Highways Class I lu u u u u 4.12 2 4-6 2 4-8 70 50 50 45 50 75 55 55 50 55 n n r n r 1 1 1 1 1 80 - - - - [n] y y y y - n n - - 1 1 1 1 - - 4 5 5 2 2 - 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.090 0.547 0.550 0.550 0.560 1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000 0.91 0.97	Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facilities Interrupted F State Arterials Free ways Highways Class I Class I Class I lu u u u u u u li n r n r n n n r n r n n n li 1 1 1 1 1 n r n n n n li y y y y y li y y y y y li y y y y y li y </td <td>Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facility Interrupted Flow Facility Freeways Highways Class I Class I lu u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u line n n n n n n n n n n n n n line n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n line 0 0.090 0.090</td> <td>Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facilities Interrupted Flow Facilities Viniterrupted Flow Facilities State Arterials Class I I u <thu< td=""></thu<></td>	Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facility Interrupted Flow Facility Freeways Highways Class I Class I lu u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u lu u u u u u u u u line n n n n n n n n n n n n n line n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n line 0 0.090 0.090	Urbanized Areas Interrupted Flow Facilities Interrupted Flow Facilities Viniterrupted Flow Facilities State Arterials Class I I u <thu< td=""></thu<>			

% ffs = Percent free flow speed ats = Average travel speed

 \leq 39

> 58.3

 \leq 35

>15 mph

Е

 ≤ 5.00

 ≤ 5.00

< 2

> 10 mph

Generalized **Peak Hour Directional** Volumes for Florida's

Transitioning and

Areas Over 5,000 Not In Urbanized Areas ¹ 12/18/												
INTERRU	PTED FLOW FA	CILITIES			UNINTER	RUPTED F	LOW FA	CILITIES				
STATE SIG	NALIZED AR	TERIALS	5		_	FREEW	AYS					
Class I (40 mp Lanes Median 1 Undivided 2 Divided 3 Divided	h or higher posted B C * 710 * 1,740 * 2,670	speed limit) D 800 1,820 2,740	E ** **	Lanes 2 3 4 5	B 2,200 3,260 4,260 5,300	C 2,880 4,280 5,680 7,080	3 5 6 8	D ,440 ,100 ,760 ,440	E 3,580 5,540 7,500 9,440			
Class II (35 mj Lanes Median 1 Undivided 2 Divided 3 Divided Non-State Sign (Alter co by t	bh or slower posted B C * 330 * 500 * 810 alized Roadway rresponding state vol he indicated percent.	d speed limit) D 680 1,460 2,280 Adjustmer umes	E 720 1,600 2,420 nts		F Auxiliary Lane + 1,000	reeway Adj	ustments	Ramp Metering + 5%				
Non-State Sig	nalized Roadways	- 10%										
Median & E Lanes Median La 1 Divided Divided 2 Undivided Undivided Multi Undivided Multi	Turn Lane Adjust xclusive Exc. eft Lanes Right Yes N No N Yes N No N No N	ustments lusive A Lanes No No No No	djustment Factors +5% -20% -5% -25%	Lanes 1 2 3	UNINTERR Median Undivided Divided Divided	UPTED F B 450 1,740 2,610	LOW H C 850 2,450 3,680	D 1,200 3,110 4,660	E 1,640 3,440 5,170			
– – – One-Wa Multiply th volun	– Y y Facility Adjust e corresponding dir nes in this table by 1	testiment ectional	+ 5%	Lanes 1 Multi Multi	Uninterrupt Median Divided Undivided Undivided	ted Flow Hi Exclusive l Yes Yes No	ghway A eft lanes	djustments Adjustmer +59 -59 -25	s nt factors % %			
BIC (Multiply motorized vel directional roadway lane Paved Shoulder/Bicycle Lane Coverage 0-49% 50-84%	B C * 140 100 280	E^2 below by num yay maximum s D 320 940	ber of service E 1,000 >1,000	¹ Values are for th constitut compute planning corridor based or Capacity ² Level c of motor ³ Buses p	shown are presented ne automobile/truck e e a standard and sho r models from which applications. The ta or intersection desig a planning application and Quality of Serv of service for the bic rized vehicles, not more re hour shown are on	as peak hour dir modes unless spe uld be used only h this table is der able and deriving gn, where more re- ns of the Highwa vice Manual. yc le and pedestri. umber of bic yc lis ly for the peak hou	ectional volur coffically state for general pl ived should be computer mo ffined techniq y Capacity M an modes in th ts or pedestria rr in the single of	mes for levels or d. This table do lanning applicat e used for more dels should not ues exist. Calcu lanual and the T his table is base uns using the fac direction of the h	f service and es not ions. The specific be used for lations are 'ransit d on number cility.			
(Multiply motorized vel directional roadway lane	STRIAN MO nicle volumes shown to determine two-w	DE ² below by num	ber of service	flow. * Canno ** Not a	ot be achieved using pplicable for that lev	table input value vel of service lett	defaults. er grade. For t	the automobile	mode,			
Sidewalk Coverage 0-49% 50-84% 85-100% BUS MODE (Buses in	volumes.) B C * * 80 200 540 (Scheduled Fiz peak hour in peak dir	D 140 440 880 ced Route)	E 480 800 >1,000	been rea achievab value de	ched. For the bic yck le because there is r faults.	e mode, the level to maximum veh	of service left	ter grade (incluc rreshold using ta	ling F) is not able input			
Sidewalk Coverage 0-84% 85-100%	$\begin{array}{ccc} B & C \\ >5 & \geq 4 \\ >4 & \geq 3 \end{array}$	D ≥ 3 ≥ 2	$E \\ \ge 2 \\ \ge 1$	Source: Florida I Systems <u>www.do</u>	Department of Trans Planning Office t.state.fl.us/planning	portation z/systems/sm/los/	default.shtm					

TABLE 8 (continued)

Generalized **Peak Hour Directional** Volumes for Florida's **Transitioning** and

Areas Over 5,000 Not In Urbanized Areas

12/18/12

			•							,,
INPUT VALUE	Uninterr	State Arterials Class I								
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways	High	nways	Cla	ass I		Cla	iss II	Bicycle	Pedestrian
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS										
Area type (t,uo)	t	t	t	t	t	ţ	t	t	t	t
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-10	2	4-6	2	4-	-6	2	4-6	4	4
Posted speed (mph)	70	50	50	45	5	0	30	30	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	55	55	50	5	5	35	35	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n,y)	n	n	n							
Median (n, nr, r)		n	r	n	J	/	n	у	r	r
Terrain (l,r)	1	1	1	1	1	l	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		60								
Exclusive left turn lane impact (n, y)		[n]	у	у	y	/	у	у	у	у
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)				n	r	1	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	8	5	5	1.8	2	2	2	2	2	2
Number of basic segments	4									
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS										
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.0	90	0.090	0.090	0.090	0.090
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.555	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.5	70	0.570	0.565	0.570	0.570
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.0	000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1,700	2,100	1,950	1,9	50	1,950	1,950	1,950	1,950
Heavy vehicle percent	9.0	4.0	4.0	2.0	3.	.0	2.0	3.0	3.0	3.0
Local adjustment factor	0.85	0.97	0.95							
% left turns					1	2	12	12	12	12
% right turns				12	1	2	12	12	12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS										
Number of signals				5	2	1	10	10	4	6
Arrival type (1-6)				4	3	3	4	4	4	4
Signal type (a, c, p)				с	C	2	с	с	с	с
Cycle length (C)				120	15	50	120	150	120	120
Effective green ratio (g/C)				0.44	0.4	45	15 0.44 0.45		0.44	0.44
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS										
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)									n, 50%, y	n
Outside lane width (n, t, w)									t	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)									t	
On-street parking (n, y)									n	n
Sidewalk (n, y)										n, 50%, y
Sidewalk/roadway separation (a. t. w)										t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)										n
	LEX			IDEGUOI	DC					
	LE V Freeways	EL OF SE	RVICE TI	HRESHOI	LDS Arte	riale		Bievele	Pod	Buc
Level of	riceways	Two Larg	Multilano	Class	I	1 1415		Dicycle	1 cu	Dus
Service	Density	1 wo-Lane %ffs	Density	ats	ats		ats Score		Score	Buses/hr.
В	≤ 17	> 83.3	≤17 [°]	> 31 m	ph	> 22 mph		≤ 2.75	≤ 2.75	≤6
С	≤ 24	> 75.0	≤ 24	> 23 m	ph	>	17 mph	≤ 3.50	≤ 3.50	≤ 4
D	≤ 3 1	> 66.7	≤ 31	> 18 m	ph	>	13 mph	≤4.25	≤4.25	< 3
Е	< 39	> 58 3	< 35	> 15 mph		> 10 mph		< 5.00	< 5.00	< 2

% ffs = Percent free flow speed ats = Average travel speed

Generalized **Peak Hour Directional** Volumes for Florida's Rural Undeveloped Areas and

Developed Areas Less Than 5,000 Population¹

			Dev	/eloped	Areas	Less Tha	an 5,000 F	opulat	ion⁺		12/18/12
	INTERR	UPTED FLC	OW FACI	LITIES			UNINTER	RUPTED	FLOW FA	CILITIES	
	STATE SI	GNALIZE	ED ART	ERIALS	5			FREEV	WAYS		
Lanes	Median	В	С	D	Е	Lanes	В	С		D	Е
1	Undivided	*	670	740	**	2	1.680	2.50	0 3	3.040	3.500
2	Divided	*	1 530	1 580	**	3	2,500	3,72	20 4	560	5 400
3	Divided	*	2,360	2,400	**	4	3,360	4,98	30 (5,080	7,200
	Non-State Si (Alter t Non-State	gnalized Ro corresponding by the indicated Signalized Ro	adway A state volum percent.) adways	djustmen nes - 10%	ıts		F Pr	reeway Ac Auxiliar esent in Bot + 1,0	ljustments y Lanes th Direction 000	s s	
	Median	& Turn La	ne Adjus	tments	1	τ	JNINTERR	UPTED	FLOW H	IGHWAY	YS
Lanes	Median	Exclusive	Exclus Dight I	anes Ac	Ijustment						
1	Divided	Ves	Night L No	alles	+5%]	Rural Unc	leveloped		
1	Undivided	No	No		-20%	Lanes	Median	В	С	D	Е
Multi	Undivided	Yes	No		-20/0	1	Undivided	240	430	740	1,490
Multi	Undivided	No	No		-25%	2	Divided	1,340	2,100	2,660	3,020
_	_	_	Yes	5	+ 5%	3	Divided	2,020	3,150	4,000	4,530
								Develope	ed Areas		
	One-V	Vay Facility	Adjustr	nent		Lanes	Median	В	С	D	Е
	Multiply	the correspor	iding direc	tional		1	Undivided	450	850	1,200	1,640
	vo	lumes in this t	able by 1.2			2	Divided	1,350	2,120	2,730	3,110
						3	Divided	2,020	3,180	4,090	4,670
(M dire	B fultiply motorized ectional roadway l	ICYCLE I vehicle volume anes to determi volumes	MODE ² es shown be ne two-way s.)	low by numl maximum s	ber of ervice	Alter L Lanes	Pase OS B-D volum the Uninterrupt Median	sing Lane es in propor highway se ed Flow H Exclusive	Adjustme rtion to the p egment leng lighway A left lanes	nts passing lane th djustment Adjustme	length to s nt factors
	1	Rural Unde	veloned			1	Divided	Y	es	+5	%
Paved	Shoulder/Bicy		velopeu			Multi	Undivided	Y	es	-5	%
Iavea	ine Coverage	B	С	D	E	Multi	Undivided	N	0	-25	5%
Lu	0-49%	*	70	110	170						
	50-84%	60	120	180	580	¹ Values s	hown are presented	as peak hour d	lirectional volu	mes for levels o	f service and
	85-100%	140	210	1,000	>1,000	are for th	e automobile/truck	modes unless s uld be used on	pecifically state	ed. This table do lanning applica	tions. The
		Developed	Aroos			computer	models from which	h this table is d	erived should b	e used for more	specific
Paved	Shoulder/Bicx		Arcas			corridor	or intersection desig	in, where more	refined techniq	ues exist. Calcu	lations are
Iavea	ne Coverage	B	C	D	F	based on	planning applicatio	ns of the High	way Capacity N	fanual and the T	ransit
La	0_49%	*	120	260	840	Capacity	and Quality of Serv	nce Manual.			
	50-84%	100	240	720	1 000	² Level o	f service for the bic	ycle and pedes	trian modes in t	his table is base	d on number
	85-100%	320	1 000	>1 000	**	of motori	ized vehicles, not m	umber of bicyc	lists or pedestri	ans using the fa	cility.
			1,000	-2,000		* Canno	t be achieved using	table input val	ue defaults.		
(M dire	PEJ fultiply motorized ectional roadway l	vehicle volume anes to determi volumes	N MOD es shown be ne two-way s.)	E ² low by numl maximum s	ber of ervice	** Not ap volumes been reac achievab value def	pplicable for that leg greater than level o hed. For the bicycle le because there is r aults.	vel of service le f service D bec e mode, the lev to maximum ve	etter grade. For ome F because el of service let chicle volume th	the automobile intersection cap ter grade (inclu hreshold using t	mode, acities have ding F) is not able input
Side	walk Coverage	e B	С	D	Е	Source					
	0-49%	*	*	120	460	Source:					
	50-84%	*	80	430	770	Florida F	enartment of Trans	nortation			
	85-100%	180	520	860	>1,000	Systems www.dot	Planning Office	/systems/sm/lo	s/default.shtm		

TABLE 9 (continued)

Generalized **Peak Hour Directional** Volumes for Florida's **Rural Undeveloped Areas** and **Developed Areas Less Than 5,000 Population**

12/18/12

INPUT VALUE	-	pted Flow	Interrupted Flow Facilities							
ASSUMPTIONS	Freeways		High	ways		Arter	rials	Bicy	Pedestrian	
ROADWAY CHARACTERISTIC	s									
Area type (ru, rd)	rural	ru	ru	rd	rd	rd	rd	ru	rd	rd
Number of through lanes (both dir.)	4-8	2	4-6	2	4-6	2	4-6	4	4	2
Posted speed (mph)	70	55	65	50	55	45	45	55	45	45
Free flow speed (mph)	75	60	70	55	60	50	50	60	50	50
Auxiliary lanes (n,y)	n									
Median (n, nr, r)		n	r	n	r	n	r	r	r	n
Terrain (l,r)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
% no passing zone		20		60						
Exclusive left turn lanes (n, y)		[n]	у	[n]	у	у	У	у	у	у
Exclusive right turn lanes (n, y)						n	n	n	n	n
Facility length (mi)	14	10	10	5	5	1.9	2.2	4	2	2
Number of basic segments	4									
TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS	<u> </u>							11		
Planning analysis hour factor (K)	0.105	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095	0.095
Directional distribution factor (D)	0.555	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.550	0.570	0.570	0.550
Peak hour factor (PHF)	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Base saturation flow rate (pcphpl)		1 700	2 300	1 700	2 200	1 950	1 950	1 950	1 950	1 950
Heavy vehicle percent	12.0	5.0	12.0	4.0	40	3.0	3.0	60	3.5	3.0
Local adjustment factor	0.84	0.88	0.73	0.97	0.82	5.0	5.0	0.0	5.0	5.0
% left turns	0.01	0.00	0.75	0.57	0.02	12	12		12	12
% right turns						12	12		12	12
CONTROL CHARACTERISTICS	 ,					12	12		12	12
Number of signals)					5	6	2	4	4
Arrival tupe (1.6)						2	2	2	2	4
Signal type (1-0)						3	3	5	3	3
Signal type (a, c, p)						00	00	a 60	a 00	a 00
Effective groop ratio (g/C)						90	90	0.27	90	90
						0.44	0.44	0.37	0.44	0.44
MULTIMODAL CHARACTERIS	TICS							5 00 (= ~ ~ ~ /	1
Paved shoulder/bicycle lane (n, y)								n,50%,y	n,50%,y	n
Outside lane width (n, t, w)								t	t	t
Pavement condition (d, t, u)								t	t	5 00 (
Sidewalk (n, y)										n,50%,y
Sidewalk/roadway separation(a, t,w)										t
Sidewalk protective barrier (n, y)										n
		LEVEI	OF SER	VICE THR	RESHOLD	DS				
Level of	Free	vavs				High	ways			
Service			Two-L	ane ru	Two-L	ane rd	Multi	ane ru	Multi	lane rd
	Dens	sity	%tsf	ats	%	ffs	Der	nsity	Der	nsity
В	≤1	4	≤ 50	<u><</u> 55	> 8.	3.3	\leq	14	≤ 14	
С	≤ 2	2	≤ 65	<u><</u> 50	> 7:	5.0	≤ 1	22	≤	22
D	≤ 2	9	≤ 80	<u><</u> 45	> 66.7		≤29		≤	29
E	≤ 3	9	> 80	<u><</u> 40	> 53	8.3	≤	34	≤	34
Lovel of		Artoria	6		Rio	vele		P	edestrian	
Service	м	aior City/C	n (ats)		South	ore		1	Score	
R	IVI	> 31 mm	h		< 2	75			< 2.75	
C		> 23 mm	h		<u> </u>	50			< 3.50	
		> 18 mm	h		 	.25			<u>- 3.30</u> < 4.25	
E E		> 15 mp	h		<u> </u>	00		$\frac{24.23}{< 5.00}$		

%tsf = Percent time spent following %ffs = Percent of free flow speed ats = Average travel speed ru = Rural undeveloped rd = Rural developed

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION **Systems Planning Office** 605 Suwannee Street, Mail Station 19 Tallahassee, FL 32399-0450 <u>http://www.dot.state.fl.us/planning/systems/sm/los</u>